

UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS

Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica

PEDRO SOUZA FAGUNDES

Sums of graded algebras, images of graded polynomials and *f*-zpd algebras

Somas de álgebras graduadas, imagens de polinômios graduados e álgebras *f*-zpd

Campinas 2024 Pedro Souza Fagundes

Sums of graded algebras, images of graded polynomials and *f*-zpd algebras

Somas de álgebras graduadas, imagens de polinômios graduados e álgebras *f*-zpd

Tese apresentada ao Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica da Universidade Estadual de Campinas como parte dos requisitos exigidos para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Matemática.

Thesis presented to the Institute of Mathematics, Statistics and Scientific Computing of the University of Campinas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Mathematics.

Supervisor: Plamen Emilov Kochloukov

Co-supervisor: Matej Brešar

Este exemplar corresponde à versão final da Tese defendida pelo aluno Pedro Souza Fagundes e orientada pelo Prof. Dr. Plamen Emilov Kochloukov.

> Campinas 2024

Ficha catalográfica Universidade Estadual de Campinas Biblioteca do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica Ana Regina Machado - CRB 8/5467

Fagundes, Pedro Souza, 1996-Sums of graded algebras, images of graded polynomials and f-zpd algebras / Pedro Souza Fagundes. – Campinas, SP : [s.n.], 2024.
Orientador: Plamen Emilov Kochloukov. Coorientador: Matej Bresar. Tese (doutorado) – Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.
1. Álgebras graduadas. 2. Identidades polinomiais graduadas. 3. Plálgebras. 4. Conjectura de L'vov-Kaplansky. 5. Matrizes triangulares superiores. I. Kochloukov, Plamen Emilov, 1958-. II. Bresar, Matej. III. Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica. IV. Título.

Informações Complementares

Título em outro idioma: Somas de álgebras graduadas, images de polinômios graduados e álgebras f-zpd

Palavras-chave em inglês: Graded algebras Graded polynomial identities PI-algebras L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture Upper triangular matrices Área de concentração: Matemática Titulação: Doutor em Matemática Banca examinadora: Plamen Emilov Kochloukov [Orientador] Carla Rizzo Antonio loppolo Diogo Diniz Pereira da Silva e Silva Viviane Ribeiro Tomaz da Silva Data de defesa: 24-01-2024 Programa de Pós-Graduação: Matemática

Identificação e informações acadêmicas do(a) aluno(a)

⁻ ORCID do autor: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9819-4883 - Currículo Lattes do autor: http://lattes.cnpq.br/3700587815257392

Tese de Doutorado defendida em 24 de janeiro de 2024 e aprovada

pela banca examinadora composta pelos Profs. Drs.

Prof(a). Dr(a). PLAMEN EMILOV KOCHLOUKOV

Prof(a). Dr(a). CARLA RIZZO

Prof(a). Dr(a). ANTONIO IOPPOLO

Prof(a). Dr(a). DIOGO DINIZ PEREIRA DA SILVA E SILVA

Prof(a). Dr(a). VIVIANE RIBEIRO TOMAZ DA SILVA

A Ata da Defesa, assinada pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora, consta no SIGA/Sistema de Fluxo de Dissertação/Tese e na Secretaria de Pós-Graduação do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.

Ao Zezinho.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Plamen Koshlukov and Matej Brešar for all support, guidance and patience during the work on the problems of this thesis.

I am thankful to professors Antonio Ioppolo, Carla Rizzo, Diogo Diniz and Viviane da Silva for reading and correcting my work.

I am thankful to all my family and friends for giving me hope and peace when I really needed.

I am also thankful to the IMECC staff for being so kind and helpful concerning bureaucracy.

And for last, but not less important, I thank Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) Grants 2019/16994-1 and 2022/05256-2. This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Finance Code 001.

Resumo

Esta tese tem como objetivo apresentar resultados na direção de três problemas distintos.

Mostramos que álgebras graduadas que são soma de duas subálgebras homogêneas satisfazendo identidades graduadas nem sempre são gr-PI álgebras. Além disso, apresentamos condições suficientes para uma tal soma satisfazer alguma identidade polinomial graduada.

Consideramos imagens de polinômios multilineares graduados sobre a álgebra graduada de matrizes triangulares superiores e classificamos tais imagens para certas graduações. Obtemos uma descrição completa no caso de dimensão baixa nos ambientes ordinário e de Jordan. Também estudamos o caso de matrizes triangulares superiores com involução graduada e de dimensão baixa, onde classificamos imagens de polinômios multilineares nestas álgebras bem como mostramos que tais imagens nem sempre são subespaços.

Uma generalização de álgebras zp
d é apresentada (as chamadas álgebras f-zpd) e mostramos que nem sempre a álgebra das matrizes
é f-zpd. Fornecemos vários exemplos de polinômios f em que a álgebra das matrizes
é f-zpd, e consideramos um problema do tipo Nullstellensatz que está relacionado com a classe de álgebras introduzida.

Palavras-chave: imagens de polinômios, conjectura de L'vov-Kaplansky, identidades polinomiais, polinômios centrais, somas de álgebras, matrizes triangulares superiores, álgebras de Jordan, álgebras de Lie, involuções, álgebras graduadas, involuções graduadas, álgebras zpd, álgebras f-zpd, Nullstellensatz.

Abstract

The main goal of this thesis is to present results in the direction of three distinct problems.

We show that graded algebras which are sum of two homogeneous subalgebras satisfying graded identities are not always gr-PI algebras. Moreover, we give sufficient conditions for the sum to satisfy some graded polynomial identity.

We consider images of multilinear graded polynomials on the graded algebra of upper triangular matrices and we classify such images for certain gradings. We obtain a full description in the case of small dimension for the ordinary and Jordan settings. We also study the case of upper triangular matrices with graded involution and of small dimension, where we classify the images of multilinear polynomials on these algebras, moreover we show that such images are not always vector subspaces.

A generalization of zpd algebras is presented (the so called f-zpd algebras) and we prove that the full matrix algebra is not always f-zpd. We give several examples of polynomials f where the full matrix algebra is f-zpd, and we also consider a problem of Nullstellensatz type which is related to the class of algebras introduced.

Keywords: images of polynomials, L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture, polynomial identities, central polynomials, sums of algebras, upper triangular matrices, Jordan algebras, Lie algebras, involutions, graded algebras, graded involutions, zpd algebras, f-zpd algebras, Nullstellensatz.

Contents

Int	trodu	iction	.1
1	Pre	liminaries \ldots \ldots \ldots 1	.8
	1.1	Graded algebras	18
	1.2	Images of graded polynomials on graded algebras	21
2	Sun	ns of gr-PI algebras	25
	2.1	Sums of gr-PI subalgebras do not always satisfy graded identities 2	26
	2.2	The sum of a gr-PI ideal and a gr-PI subalgebra	28
	2.3	Graded semi-identities	32
		2.3.1 Codimensions modulo graded semi-identities	33
		2.3.2 A generating set for $V_{n,0,\ldots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$	36
		2.3.3 Existence of a graded identity for \mathcal{A}	38
3	Ima	ges of graded polynomials on upper triangular matrices 4	2
	3.1	A review of gradings on UT_n	12
	3.2	Graded central polynomials for upper triangular matrices	13
	3.3	The neutral component of UT_n	14
	3.4	Certain \mathbb{Z}_q -gradings	15
	3.5	Traceless matrices	51
	3.6	Small dimension cases	54
		3.6.1 The associative setting $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	54
		3.6.2 The Jordan setting 5	58
		3.6.3 The natural elementary \mathbb{Z}_3 -grading in the Jordan algebra UJ_3 6	52
		3.6.4 The (graded) involution setting $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	35
		3.6.4.1 2×2 matrices	37
		3.6.4.1.1 Grading $\Gamma_{2,1}$: the reflexive case $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	37
		3.6.4.1.2 Grading $\Gamma_{2,1}$: the symplectic case $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $	39
		3.6.4.1.3 Grading $\Gamma_{2,2}$	71
		3.6.4.2 The image is not always a vector space $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $	72
		3.6.4.3 The 3×3 case and one more example $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $	73
		3.6.4.3.1 The grading $\Gamma_{2,3}$	74
		3.6.4.3.2 The grading $\Gamma_{3,3}$	76
4	f-zr	od algebras	'8
	4.1	(f-)zpd algebras	78
	4.2	Examples and non-examples of f -zpd algebras	32
		4.2.1 The full matrix algebra is not always f -zpd $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	32
		4.2.2 The generalized commutator	34
		4.2.3 Polynomials given by cyclic permutations	39

	4.2.4	Constr	ructing	new e	xamj	ples	fron	n ol	d or	\mathbf{es}	 	 	•	 •		95
4.3	A mult	tilinear	Nullste	ellensa	tz.							 			 . 1	00
BIBLIC	JGRAP	ΗΥ									 		-	 	. 1	10

Introduction

Images of polynomials on algebras appear in several results from Linear Algebra and Ring Theory. For instance the well-known Cayley-Hamilton Theorem states that the image of the characteristic polynomial of a matrix $A \in M_n(F)$ on A itself is the null matrix. Another example comes when the image of a polynomial on some algebra is always zero, or even is always contained in the center of the algebra. These polynomials are known as polynomial identity and central polynomial for the algebra, respectively.

Since polynomial identities for algebras are a particular example of images of polynomials on algebras, we may say that the first results concerning the latter appeared with the works of Dehn [18] and Wagner [65] in the twenties and thirties of the 20th century. However, a different first result concerning images of polynomials on algebras is addressed in the literature. In 1937, Shoda [56] showed that the image of the commutator [x, y] := xy - yx on the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ with entries in a field F of characteristic zero is exactly the subspace $sl_n(F)$ of traceless matrices. Shoda's result was generalized in the fifties by Albert and Muckenhoupt [2] for matrices over arbitrary fields.

The result obtained by Shoda, Albert and Muckenhoupt can be equivalently read as follows: the image of the polynomial xy - yx on the full matrix algebra is a vector space. Now a question that appears is whether the image of an arbitrary polynomial on the full matrix algebra is always a vector space. As one might already expect, this is not the case in general. For instance, for an integer $n \ge 2$, the image of the polynomial $f(x) = x^n$ on $M_n(F)$ is not a vector space (see [52, Example 4]). It is not clear why the image of the commutator on $M_n(F)$ is a vector space while the image of $f(x) = x^n$ on the same algebra is not. However, it is worth noticing that the commutator satisfies an additional property that the latter does not. The commutator is what we call a multilinear polynomial. We recall here that a polynomial in the free associative algebra is said multilinear if each one of its variables appears exactly once in every monomial of this polynomial. So, what to expect if we consider images of multilinear polynomials on the full matrix algebra instead? This question goes in the direction of the following one posed by L'vov in [30, Problem 1.98].

Question. (L'vov) Is the image of a multilinear polynomial on the full matrix algebra a vector space?

The difficulty of studying the question above lies in the lack of structure of the image of a multilinear polynomial on some algebra. On the other hand the linear span of such images have a nice behaviour. In fact, they are Lie ideals of the algebra. In the

particular case of the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$, its Lie ideals are well known (up to some mild conditions on the ground field F). They are precisely $\{0\}$, F (scalar matrices), $sl_n(F)$ and $M_n(F)$ itself, according to an old result due to Herstein [36]. Thus, in case L'vov's Question has a positive answer, then a full description of the images of multilinear polynomials on $M_n(F)$ will be also obtained. The problem of obtaining a full description of multilinear polynomials on matrices is attributed to Kaplansky (see [38]). As a resumé of all these discussion we have the following conjecture.

Conjecture. (L'vov-Kaplansky) The image of a multilinear polynomial on $M_n(F)$ is $\{0\}, F, sl_n(F)$ or $M_n(F)$. Equivalently, the image of a multilinear polynomial on $M_n(F)$ is a vector space.

Little is known concerning the above conjecture. The image of a multilinear polynomial of degree 2 on $M_n(F)$ is an easy consequence from the results of Shoda, Albert and Muckenhoupt. In fact, the image must be $\{0\}$, $sl_n(F)$ or $M_n(F)$. In 2012, Kanel-Belov, Malev and Rowen [38] showed that the L'vov-Kaplasnky conjecture is true for 2×2 matrices with entries in a quadratically closed field. The conjecture remains open besides these two results. However partial results were obtained in the case of polynomials of degree 3 [22] and also in the case of 3×3 matrices [39].

The L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture has shown to be a truly challenging problem, and in attempting to approach it several variations of it have appeared. We firstly comment about a weaker version of the L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture, the so called Mesyan conjecture [52]. The latter states that the image of a multilinear polynomial of a fixed degree m on $M_n(F)$ always contains $sl_n(F)$, provided n is large enough. Mesyan's conjecture is true for poylnomials of degree 3 [52] and also for polynomials of degree 4 [16, 26], and it remains open for polynomials of degree 5 or more. Subalgebras of $M_n(F)$ were also considered. In [23], Fagundes considered the subalgebra of strictly upper triangular matrices J, and proved that the image of a multilinear polynomial of degree m on J^k is J^{km} . A similar problem was also posed for upper triangular matrices $UT_n(F)$, where partial results were obtained in [25] by Fagundes and de Mello, and simultaneously fully solved in [31] by Gargate and de Mello in case the ground field is infinite, and in [48] by Luo and Wang for fields with at least n(n-1)/2 elements. The infinite-dimensional case was settled by Vitas in [63], where the author proved that non-zero multilinear polynomials are surjective on algebras with surjective inner derivations. In particular, every non-zero multilinear polynomial is surjective on the algebra End(V) of endomorphisms of an infinite-dimensional vector space V.

The nonassociative cases were also explored. Here we point out the work [51] where Maley, Yavich and Shayer obtained a full description of the images of multilinear

Jordan polynomials on the Jordan algebra given by a particular nondegenerate symmetric bilinear form. Their result covers the cases of images of multilinear Jordan polynomials on the 2 × 2 self-adjoint matrices over \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{C} , \mathbb{H} (quaternions) and \mathbb{O} (octonions). In the Lie case, we have the paper [40] where Kanel-Belov, Malev and Rowen investigated the images of arbitrary Lie polynomials (not necessarily multilinear) on the Lie algebra $sl_2(F)$, while in [64] Špenko showed that non-zero multilinear Lie polynomials of degree up to four have images equal to $sl_n(F)$ on the Lie algebra $gl_n(F)$ (excluded the trivial case of polynomial of degree 1, of course).

In the same way that gradings on algebras showed to be an important tool for the theory of algebras with polynomial identities (PI-algebras), one might also hope for the same in the case of images of polynomials on algebras. This motivates the study of such images on algebras with additional structure, such as group gradings or involutions, for instance. Besides a first result concerning images of graded polynomials on algebras that was given in 2000 by Kulyamin [47], just recently this topic has been more explored. We draw the readers' attention to the recent paper [17] from 2023 where Centrone and de Mello considered images of multilinear graded polynomials on the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ endowed with the natural \mathbb{Z}_n -grading (Vasilovsky's grading). The authors classified the linear span of the image of a multilinear graded polynomial on $M_n(F)$ with the aforementioned grading, and conjectured that the same subspaces obtained are actually the possible images that a multilinear graded polynomial can take on this algebra. They also proved that their conjecture is true in the small (but not trivial) cases of polynomials of degree 2 and also for 2×2 matrices. Also in 2023, Gargate and de Mello [32] gave an equivalent form of the L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture in terms of images of multilinear (nongraded) polynomials on the algebra $M_n(F)$ endowed with the Vasilovsky's grading. In particular, their result shows us the importance of studying images of graded polynomials on graded algebras. The involutive case was explored by Franca and Urure in the papers [60] and [61]. They considered the upper triangular matrix algebra $UT_n(F)$ with the reflexive involution, and classified the images of multi-homogeneous Lie polynomials on the skew-symmetric part of $UT_n(F)$ for $n \leq 4$, and of multilinear Jordan polynomials of degree up to 3 on the symmetric part of $UT_n(F)$.

We now turn out attention to the particular case where the image of a polynomial on some algebra \mathcal{A} is {0}. As we already mentioned such polynomials are called polynomial identities for the algebra \mathcal{A} . The study of PI theory is commonly divided in three parts that we stress in the following. The first part concerns the description of all polynomial identities of a given algebra, the second one is about studying the variety of algebras defined by a given set of identities, while the last one is concerned in deciding if a given algebra satisfies some polynomial identity or not. Recently most of the work done in PI theory is in the direction of the two first parts. Concerning the third part, it is well known that finite-dimensional algebras are PI. Moreover, we are also able to construct new PI algebras from old ones. Indeed, homomorphic images of PI algebras are also PI, direct product of PI algebras satisfying a common identity is again PI, and subalgebras of PI algebras are PI algebras. This is actually part of the contents of Birkhoff's theorem which states that any variety can be described as a class of algebras closed under taking subalgebras, homomorphic images and direct products (for instance, see [21]). Besides those results, it is not an easy task to construct PI algebras, or find sufficient conditions on algebras so that these become PI algebras. A celebrated result in this direction is the one given by Regev [53] where he uses combinatorial tools to establish that the tensor product of PI algebras is also PI.

As we have commented, direct product of PI algebras satisfying a common identity is again a PI algebra. This direct product coincides with the external direct sum of PI algebras in case we have finitly many algebras. However, as one might expect, a quite different situation is settled when we consider internal (direct) sums, that is, algebras $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ such that both \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are PI subalgebras of \mathcal{A} . Then the natural question that arises is whether \mathcal{A} satisfies some polynomial identity or not. This question was posed by Beidar and Mikhalev [9] in 1995. In this same paper the authors proved that sums of rings satisfying product of commutators as identities is also a PI ring. Their proof is far from being trivial, using structure results from the theory of associative rings and also the so called Amitsur's method (see the book [55]), which is another result in the direction of existence of PI algebras. Besides the partial result given by Beidar and Mikhalev on their own question, we can not consider this as a first result in the direction of the aforementioned problem. In fact, in 1963 Kegel [44] showed that the sum of two nilpotent rings is still nilpotent. Actually, Beidar and Mikhalev's question is a particular case of a problem posed by Szép [58, 59] in the late fifties concerning which properties one may obtain on a ring $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ provided one has some information about the subrings \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} .

In 1996, Kępczyk and Puczylowski initiated a sequence of papers concerning the study of radicals of rings which are sums of two subrings using ideas that go back to [3]. However some of their results were also related to Beidar and Mikhalev's question. We mention here the paper [43] where Kępczyk and Puczylowski obtained important results concerning the problem of sums of PI rings. For instance, an important theorem obtained by the authors in [43] was that a class of rings which is closed under homomorphic images, direct powers and such that every prime ring in the class is GPI (satisfies some generalized polynomial identity) is actually a class of PI rings. This result is of fundamental importance in the positive solution of Beidar and Mikhalev's question given by Kępczyk [41] in 2016. Besides Kępczyk's theorem being interesting by itself, it is worth noticing that it also has connections with major problems in Ring Theory. For instance, we mention here the paper [42] where Kępczyk used his positive answer to Beidar and Mikhalev's problem to obtain a new equivalent condition to Koethe's conjecture (which states, in one among several of its equivalent forms, that the sum of left nil ideals is still nil in any ring).

The third and last topic of this thesis, but not less important, is concerning a class of algebras called zero product determined algebras (which we briefly call zpd algebras). These algebras first appeared in the works of Brešar and Šemrl [15] and of Alaminos, Brešar, Extremera and Villena [1]. In the first paper the authors described commutativity preserving linear maps on finite-dimensional central simple algebras, while in the second one it was studied derivations and some related maps on C^* -algebras. By the way how these algebras appeared one might expect their usefulness for applications. In fact, several results on linear preserving maps and characterization of derivations on some algebras have being obtained by using zpd algebras (see Chapter 3 of [13] for instance).

We recall that an algebra \mathcal{A} is said zero product determined if for every bilinear functional φ on \mathcal{A} such that $\varphi(x, y) = 0$ whenever xy = 0, then $\varphi(x, y) = \tau(xy)$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$, where τ is a linear functional on \mathcal{A} which depends on φ . Algebras generated by idempotents are one of the examples of such algebras. In particular, the full matrix algebra is zpd. On the other hand unital domains are not zpd algebras, except the case where the domain is one-dimensional. A surprising result in the theory of zpd algebras is the main theorem from [14] where Brešar showed that in the finite-dimensional unital associative setting, zpd algebras are precisely those generated by idempotents. However, it is still open the problem of existence of an infinite-dimensional unital zpd algebra which is not generated by idempotents. We recommend the book [13] for further details concerning this class of algebras.

In this thesis, we present results on the three topics previously discussed: description of images of polynomials on algebras, algebras with polynomial identities and zpd algebras. Let us briefly discuss these results and how they are organized in the present text.

In the first chapter of this thesis we set the main definitions and results that will be used in the whole text. The reader familiar with the basic notions of images of polynomials on graded algebras might skip the first chapter, perhaps using it just for consulting notations.

The second chapter is devoted to studying graded algebras which are sums of two homogeneous subalgebras. In Section 2.1 we show that an analogue of Kępczyk's theorem can not be expected in the group-graded setting. In the rest of the chapter we give sufficient conditions on a graded algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ such that \mathcal{A} satisfies some graded polynomial identity. Hence in Section 2.2 we show that if \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are gr-PI (satisfy some graded identities) and \mathcal{B} is also a two-sided ideal, then \mathcal{A} is also gr-PI. In the last section of this chapter (Section 2.3), we introduce the notion of graded semi-identities for $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ and we give sufficient conditions on such graded semi-identities in order to obtain graded identities for \mathcal{A} . The results from Chapter 2 are original and were published in [28].

In the third chapter we discuss images of multilinear polynomials on upper triangular matrices with several additional structures. The Section 3.1 is only devoted to present a quick review on gradings on $UT_n(F)$ (the upper triangular matrix algebra with entries in a field F). Section 3.2 shows the non existence of graded central polynomials for $UT_n(F)$ with an arbitrary grading. In Section 3.3, we prove that the image of a multilinear graded polynomial in neutral variables on the neutral component of $UT_n(F)$ is always a homogeneous vector space, regardless the grading. In Section 3.4 we study the images of multilinear graded polynomials on $UT_n(F)$ with certain gradings given by the group \mathbb{Z}_{q} . Under some mild conditions on the ground field F we obtain a precise description of such images, in particular they are always homogeneous vector spaces. In Section 3.5 we apply some ideas from the previous section to obtain a sufficient condition for the image of an ordinary multilinear polynomial on the full matrix algebra to contain the subspace of traceless matrices. Such condition relies on graded polynomials obtained from the ordinary one. Section 3.6 is concerned with the study of images of multilinear graded polynomials on upper triangular matrix algebras of small dimension. In Subsection 3.6.1 we show that such images on $UT_2(F)$ and $UT_3(F)$ are always homogeneous subspaces. An analogous result is proved in Subsection 3.6.2 where we considered the graded Jordan algebra $UJ_2(F)$ of 2×2 upper triangular matrices. In Subsection 3.6.3 we have obtained a classification of multilinear graded Jordan polynomials on the Jordan algebra $UJ_3(F)$ endowed with the elementary natural \mathbb{Z}_3 -grading. The last subsection (Section 3.6.4) deals with the graded involutive case on $UT_2(F)$ and $UT_3(F)$. During this subsection we prove that the images of multilinear graded polynomials with involution on $UT_2(F)$ are always a homogeneous subspace, and the same result was obtained for $UT_3(F)$ provided the grading on this algebra is not trivial. Besides those results, we show that an analogue of L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture can not be expected in the graded involutive case. We prove that there exists a multilinear (graded) polynomial with involution so that its image on $UT_n(F), n \ge 3, (UT_n(F), n \ge 4)$ is not a vector space. The results from this chapter are new. The ones from Subsection 3.2 to Subsection 3.6.3 are published in [27], while the results from Subsection 3.6.4 are submitted for publication [24].

In the last chapter we present a generalization of zpd algebras, that we call f-zpd algebras (f an associative multilinear polynomial). We introduce this concept in Section 4.1. In Section 4.2 we are mostly interested in investigating whether the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd. While in Subsection 4.2.1 we prove that this is not always the case, in Subsections 4.2.2, 4.2.3 we present some multilinear polynomials f so that $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd. In Subsection 4.2.4 we show how one can construct an f-zpd algebra from given ones using composition of polynomials. The last section (Section 4.3) is devoted to present a related problem to f-zpd algebras. The problem goes in the direction of a multilinear version of an old result due to Amitsur [4]. We show that if a multilinear polynomial g of degree m preserves the zeros of a multilinear polynomial f of degree m on the full matrix

algebra $M_n(F)$, then g and f are linearly dependent, provided m < 2n - 3. The results from this last chapter are new and are submitted for publication [8].

1 Preliminaries

The main goal of this chapter is to establish the main definitions, notations and basic results from the theory of algebras used during all this thesis. The reader already familiar with the notions presented in this chapter may skip it without further problems in following the thesis.

1.1 Graded algebras

A nonassociative algebra will mean a not necessarily associative algebra. The word "algebra" in this thesis will stand for an associative algebra.

Definition 1.1. Let \mathcal{V} be a vector space over a field F and let G be a group. We define a G-grading on \mathcal{V} as a decomposition

$$\Gamma\colon \mathcal{V} = \bigoplus_{g\in G} \mathcal{V}_g$$

into a direct sum of subspaces \mathcal{V}_g . In case \mathcal{A} is a nonassociative algebra over F, a G-grading on \mathcal{A} is defined as a G-grading on the vector space \mathcal{A} over F satisfying the additional condition

$$\mathcal{A}_{g}\mathcal{A}_{h}\subset\mathcal{A}_{gh},$$

for all $g, h \in G$.

Definition 1.2. The subspaces \mathcal{V}_g are called homogeneous components of the grading Γ on \mathcal{V} . A non-zero element $v \in \mathcal{V}_g$ is said to have homogeneous degree g, and we denote it by $\deg(v) = g$.

Definition 1.3. A subspace \mathcal{U} of a G-graded space \mathcal{V} is called homogeneous if

$$\mathcal{U} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} (\mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{V}_g).$$

Definition 1.4. We define the support of a G-grading Γ on the vector space \mathcal{V} as the subset

$$\operatorname{supp}(\Gamma) = \{ g \in G | \mathcal{V}_g \neq 0 \}.$$

Definition 1.5. Given a G-graded algebra \mathcal{A} and a homogeneous ideal \mathcal{I} of \mathcal{A} , we define a G-grading on the quotient \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{I} by setting $(\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{I})_q = \{a + \mathcal{I} | a \in \mathcal{A}_q\}$.

We will use the multiplicative notation for the neutral element 1 of a group. Obviously the homogeneous component \mathcal{A}_1 is a subalgebra of \mathcal{A} , and it is also called the *neutral component* of the graded algebra \mathcal{A} . The following result is folklore. **Proposition 1.6.** Let \mathcal{A} be a *G*-graded unital nonassociative algebra. Then its unit $1 \in \mathcal{A}$ lies in the neutral component.

Definition 1.7. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be two G-graded nonassociative algebras. A homomorphism $\varphi \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is called a graded homomorphism if $\varphi(\mathcal{A}_g) \subset \mathcal{B}_g$ for all $g \in G$. In case φ is an isomorphism one can see that we actually have $\varphi(\mathcal{A}_g) = \varphi(\mathcal{B}_g)$, and in this case we say that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are graded isomorphic algebras.

Besides the associative algebras, other two classes of algebras which will be also explored on this thesis are the Jordan and Lie algebras. For that reason, let us recall their definitions and a few examples.

Definition 1.8. Let \mathcal{J} be a nonassociative commutative algebra. We say that \mathcal{J} is a Jordan algebra if $(a^2b)a = a^2(ba)$ for all $a, b \in \mathcal{J}$.

We can always obtain a Jordan structure from an associative algebra. Indeed, given an algebra \mathcal{A} over a field of characteristic different from 2, one just need to consider the product $a \circ b = (ab + ba)/2$ for all $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$. The Jordan algebra obtained in this way is denoted by $\mathcal{A}^{(+)}$.

Remark 1.9. Given $a, b, c \in \mathcal{J}$ (a Jordan algebra), we denote (a, b, c) = (ab)c - a(bc) (the associator of the elements a, b, c in this order).

Definition 1.10. Let \mathcal{L} be a nonassociative algebra. We say that \mathcal{L} is a Lie algebra if $a^2 = 0$ (which implies anti-commutativity in case \mathcal{L} is an algebra over a field of characteristic different from 2) and (ab)c + (ca)b + (bc)a = 0 (Jacobi identity) for all $a, b, c \in \mathcal{L}$.

As in the Jordan case, one can also obtain Lie structures from associative ones. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra and consider the product [a, b] = ab - ba for all $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$. This defines a Lie algebra which will be denoted by $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$. Every Lie algebra can be realized as a subalgebra of some $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$, where \mathcal{A} is an associative algebra; this is the content of the well known Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt theorem. The analogous statement for Jordan algebras fails, there exist Jordan algebras that are not isomorphic to subalgebras of any $\mathcal{A}^{(+)}$ given from an associative algebra \mathcal{A} . Such Jordan algebras are called exceptional; on the contrary \mathcal{J} is special. We recall here that the notion of a Jordan algebra can be extended to the case of base field of characteristic 2, these are the so-called quadratic Jordan algebras. Since we shall not need this notion we will not discuss it further.

Remark 1.11. In both Jordan and Lie cases, we use the left-normed orientation for product of three or more elements if there are no parentheses (or brackets) in the product.

An example of group graded algebra that will be exhaustively used in this thesis is the free G-graded algebra (in different classes of algebras). For that reason let us introduce this algebra in the following examples.

Example 1.12. Let G be a group and let $X_G = \{x_i^{(g)} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$ be a set of noncommutative and nonassociative variables. Let $F\{X_G\}$ be the free G-graded nonassociative algebra. This means it is the vector space with basis consisting of all monomials (with all possible valid dispositions of parentheses) on X_G . The degree of a monomial is the product (in G) of the degrees of its variables. The free associative G-graded algebra is defined as $F\langle X_G \rangle = F\{X_G\}/K$ where K is the T-ideal generated by $(x_i^{(g_i)}x_j^{(g_j)})x_k^{(g_k)} - x_i^{(g_i)}(x_j^{(g_j)}x_k^{(g_k)})$. Notice that $F\langle X_G \rangle$ is G-graded since K is a homogeneous ideal of $F\{X_G\}$. The elements from $F\langle X_G \rangle$ are called G-graded polynomials.

Example 1.13. Let G be a group and let $X_G = \{x_i^{(g)} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$ be a set of noncommutative and nonassociative variables. Let $F\{X_G\}$ be the free G-graded nonassociative algebra.

- We denote by I the intersection of all homogeneous ideals of $F\{X_G\}$ containing the set $\{f_1^2, (f_1f_2)f_3 + (f_2f_3)f_1 + (f_3f_1)f_2|f_1, f_2, f_3 \in F\{X_G\}\};$
- We denote by J the intersection of all homogeneous ideals of $F\{X_G\}$ containing the set $\{f_1f_2 f_2f_1, (f_1f_1)(f_2f_1) ((f_1f_1)f_2)f_1|f_1, f_2 \in F\{X_G\}\}.$

Hence we have that

- $\mathcal{L}(X_G) = F\{X_G\}/I$ is the free G-graded Lie algebra (and its elements are called G-graded Lie polynomials);
- $\mathcal{J}(X_G) = F\{X_G\}/J$ is the free G-graded Jordan algebra (and its elements are called G-graded Jordan polynomials).

Remark 1.14. Notice that we recover the ordinary setting in all definitions above by considering the trivial G-grading on \mathcal{A} , which is the one given by the trivial group $G = \{e\}$.

Definition 1.15. A polynomial $f = f(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_m^{(g_m)}) \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ (resp. $\mathcal{L}(X_G) / \mathcal{J}(X_G)$) is multilinear if each variable $x_i^{(g_i)}$ appears in every monomial of f exactly once.

Remark 1.16. In particular one can notice that multilinear polynomials have the following form in the associative setting

$$f = \sum_{\sigma \in S_m} \alpha_{\sigma} x_{\sigma(1)}^{(g_{\sigma(1)})} \cdots x_{\sigma(m)}^{(g_{\sigma(m)})}, \quad \alpha_{\sigma} \in F,$$

where S_m denotes the symmetric group of degree m.

Remark 1.17. Given an m-tuple $(g_1, \ldots, g_m) \in G^m$, the vector space of multilinear G-graded polynomials in m variables $x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_m^{(g_m)}$ will be denoted by $P^{(g_1,\ldots,g_m)}$. More generally, given a decomposition $m = m_1 + \cdots + m_k$ where $m_i \in \mathbb{N}$, the space of multilinear polynomials in m_i homogeneous variables of degree g_i is denoted by P_{m_1,\ldots,m_k} .

1.2 Images of graded polynomials on graded algebras

We start this subsection with the definition of image of a graded polynomial on some graded algebra.

Definition 1.18. Let $f(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_m^{(g_m)}) \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ (resp. $\mathcal{L}(X_G)/\mathcal{J}(X_G)$) and let \mathcal{A} be a *G*-graded algebra (resp. Lie/Jordan algebra). We define the image of f on \mathcal{A} (denoted by $f(\mathcal{A})$) as the image of the function

$$\tilde{f}: \ \mathcal{A}_{g_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{A}_{g_m} \to \mathcal{A} (a_1, \dots, a_m) \mapsto f(a_1, \dots, a_m)$$

Equivalently

$$f(\mathcal{A}) = \{ f(a_1, \dots, a_m) | a_i \in \mathcal{A}_{g_i} \}.$$

We observe that \tilde{f} is a multilinear function whenever f is a multilinear polynomial.

In the next proposition we present some basic properties of images of graded polynomials on algebras. The proposition is written in the associative setting, however the same properties hold in the Lie and Jordan cases.

Proposition 1.19 ([27]). Let $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ and let Γ be a *G*-grading on the algebra \mathcal{A} .

- 1. $f(\mathcal{A})$ is invariant under graded endomorphisms of $F\langle X_G \rangle$;
- 2. If $1 \in \mathcal{A}$ and $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ is multilinear in neutral variables and the sum of its coefficients is non-zero, then $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}_1$, the neutral component in the grading on \mathcal{A} ;
- 3. Assume that there exists an one-dimensional subspace \mathcal{V} of \mathcal{A} such that $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{V}$ and assume that $\lambda f(\mathcal{A}) \subset f(\mathcal{A})$ for every $\lambda \in F$. Then either $f(\mathcal{A}) = \{0\}$ or $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{V}$;
- 4. If supp(Γ) is abelian and $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ is multilinear, then $f(\mathcal{A})$ is entirely contained in some homogeneous component.

Proof. The proof of items 1, 3 and 4 are immediate. For the second item, we just need to recall that $1 \in \mathcal{A}_1$ (Proposition 1.6), and that

$$f(a, 1, \ldots, 1) = f(1, \ldots, 1)a$$
 for all $a \in \mathcal{A}_1$,

where $f(1, \ldots, 1)$ is non-zero by hypothesis.

The following lemma is a useful tool when one is dealing with images of polynomials on associative algebras of small dimension.

Lemma 1.20 ([50]). Let F be a field, and let $\mathcal{V}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{V}_m, \mathcal{V}$ be vector spaces over F. Assume that the image of a multilinear map $f : \prod_{i=1}^m \mathcal{V}_i \to \mathcal{V}$ contains two linearly independent vectors. Then the image of f contains a 2-dimensional vector subspace.

As a direct corollary, we have the following

Corollary 1.21. Assume that the image of a multilinear polynomial f on some algebra \mathcal{A} is contained in some 2-dimensional vector space. Then $f(\mathcal{A})$ is a vector subspace.

Proof. Let $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{V}$, where dim $(\mathcal{V}) = 2$. If $f(\mathcal{A})$ contains two linearly independent vectors, by the previous lemma $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{V}$. Now assume that any two vectors in $f(\mathcal{A})$ are linearly dependent. Then $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{U}$, where \mathcal{U} is an 1-dimensional subspace. Hence, $f(\mathcal{A}) = \{0\}$ or $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{U}$ by Proposition 1.19 (3).

Another important property concerning images of graded polynomials on algebras is that the homogeneous subspace structure of the image is invariant under graded homomorphic images.

Proposition 1.22 ([27]). Let G be a group and let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be two G-graded algebras such that \mathcal{B} is a graded homomorphic image of \mathcal{A} . Let $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ be a graded polynomial and assume that $f(\mathcal{A})$ is a homogeneous subspace of \mathcal{A} . Then $f(\mathcal{B})$ is also a homogeneous subspace of \mathcal{B} .

Proof. Let $\phi: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a graded epimorphism. We start by noticing that

$$\phi(f(\mathcal{A})) = f(\phi(\mathcal{A})).$$

Then taking $b_i^{(1)}$, $b_i^{(2)} \in \mathcal{B}_{g_i}$, i = 1, ..., m, we have $b_i^{(j)} = \phi(a_i^{(j)})$ for some $a_i^{(j)} \in \mathcal{A}_{g_i}$, since ϕ is surjective. This leads us to

$$\alpha f(b_1^{(1)}, \dots, b_m^{(1)}) + f(b_1^{(2)}, \dots, b_m^{(2)})$$

= $\alpha f(\phi(a_1^{(1)}), \dots, \phi(a_m^{(1)})) + f(\phi(a_1^{(2)}), \dots, \phi(a_m^{(2)}))$
= $\phi(\alpha f(a_1^{(1)}, \dots, a_m^{(1)}) + f(a_1^{(2)}, \dots, a_m^{(2)}))$

which is an element from $\phi(f(\mathcal{A})) = f(\phi(\mathcal{A}))$ since we are assuming that $f(\mathcal{A})$ is a subspace. Then $f(\mathcal{B})$ is also a subspace.

Now we assume that $f(\mathcal{A})$ is a homogeneous subspace and let $b = \overline{b}_{h_1} + \cdots + \overline{b}_{h_k}$ be an element in $f(\mathcal{B})$ written as the sum of its homogeneous components. Since $b \in f(\mathcal{B})$ let

$$b = f(b_1, \dots, b_m) = f(\phi(a_1), \dots, \phi(a_m)) = \phi(f(a_1, \dots, a_m))$$

for some $b_i = \phi(a_i)$, and let

$$f(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = \overline{a}_{g_1} + \cdots + \overline{a}_{g_l}$$

be the sum of its homogeneous components. It follows that

$$b = \phi(\overline{a}_{g_1}) + \dots + \phi(\overline{a}_{g_l})$$

and since ϕ is a graded homomorphism we must have k = l and every g_t must be equal to some h_s . Without loss of generality, we assume $\overline{b}_{g_t} = \phi(\overline{a}_{g_t})$. Now it is enough to use that $f(\mathcal{A})$ is homogeneous and $\phi(f(\mathcal{A})) = f(\phi(\mathcal{A}))$.

Remark 1.23. In the proof of Proposition 1.22 we have not used the associativity of \mathcal{A} . Therefore it also holds for arbitrary algebras, in particular an analogous proposition holds for graded Jordan algebras.

An important problem concerning images of polynomials on algebras is the well-known L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture.

Conjecture 1.24 ([30]). The image of $f \in P_m$ on the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ is a vector space.

Equivalently, the image of a multilinear polynomial on $M_n(F)$ is one of the four subspaces: {0}, F (viewed as the space of scalar matrices), $sl_n(F)$ (the space of traceless matrices) or $M_n(F)$.

An important example of image of a graded polynomial on some graded algebra \mathcal{A} is the one whose image is identically zero. Such polynomial is called a graded polynomial identity for the algebra \mathcal{A} .

Definition 1.25. Let $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ (resp. $\mathcal{L}(X_G)/\mathcal{J}(X_G)$) and let \mathcal{A} be a G-graded algebra (resp. Lie/Jordan algebra). We say that f = 0 is a graded polynomial identity for \mathcal{A} if $f(\mathcal{A}) = 0$. Equivalently, f = 0 is a graded polynomial identity for \mathcal{A} if

$$f\in \bigcap \ker(\varphi),$$

where the intersection runs over all graded homomorphisms $\varphi : F\langle X_G \rangle \to \mathcal{A}$ (resp. φ with domain in $\mathcal{L}(X_G)/\mathcal{J}(X_G)$).

We say that a nonassociative algebra \mathcal{A} is gr-PI if \mathcal{A} satisfies some non-zero graded polynomial identity.

We denote by $Id_G(\mathcal{A})$ the two-sided ideal of all graded identities for \mathcal{A} . It turns out that $Id_G(\mathcal{A})$ is actually a T_G -ideal, that is, an ideal which is invariant under graded endomorphisms of the free G-graded associative (resp. Lie/Jordan) algebra.

Given a subset $S \subset F\langle X_G \rangle$ (resp. $\mathcal{L}(X_G)/\mathcal{J}(X_G)$), we denote by $\langle S \rangle^{T_G}$ the T_G -ideal generated by S, that is, the intersection of all T_G -ideals that contain S.

Definition 1.26. Let $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ be a polynomial with zero constant term and let \mathcal{A} be a *G*-graded algebra. We say that f is a graded central polynomial for \mathcal{A} if f = 0 is not a graded identity for \mathcal{A} and $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset Z(\mathcal{A})$, where $Z(\mathcal{A})$ denotes the center of \mathcal{A} .

2 Sums of gr-PI algebras

In this chapter we will deal with the problem of when a graded algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$, graded by a group G, which is a sum of two homogeneous subalgebras \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} both satisfying graded polynomial identities, also does satisfy some graded polynomial identity. Whereas the problem has a negative answer in general (as we will see in the first section), in the second and third sections we present sufficient conditions on the algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ in order to turn it into a gr-PI algebra. During this chapter, all algebras are over an arbitrary field F. The results from this chapter are new and were published in the journal Linear Algebra and its Applications [28]. This is a joint work with Plamen Koshlukov.

Before going into the main topic of this chapter, let us recall that when the algebra \mathcal{A} is endowed with the trivial grading then sums of PI algebras is again PI. This result is due to M. Kępczyk.

Theorem 2.1 ([41]). Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be an algebra that is a sum of two PI subalgebras. Then \mathcal{A} is also a PI algebra.

In an attempt to approach a graded version of Theorem 2.1, one may try to reduce the problem from the graded setting to the ordinary one. This can be done by looking for sufficient conditions on the graded identities on \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} which imply the existence of ordinary identities on these subalgebras. As an example of such sufficient condition we recall the following result from [7, 11].

Theorem 2.2. Let G be a finite group and let \mathcal{A} be a G-graded algebra. If the neutral component \mathcal{A}_1 is a PI-algebra, then \mathcal{A} is a PI-algebra.

As a direct consequence we have the following corollary.

Corollary 2.3. Let G be a finite group and let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be an algebra that is the sum of two homogeneous subalgebras. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} satisfy graded polynomial identities in neutral variables, then \mathcal{A} is a PI algebra.

We give below a slight improvement of the corollary above. This improvement is concerning gradings on algebras by monoids, whose definition remains the same as in the group graded case. Let us start with the following lemma.

Lemma 2.4. Let M be a monoid and let \mathcal{V} be an M-graded vector space. Let $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}_1 + \mathcal{V}_2$ be a sum of two homogeneous subspaces. Then $\mathcal{V}_m = \mathcal{V}_{1,m} + \mathcal{V}_{2,m}$ for each $m \in M$, where $\mathcal{V}_{i,m}$ is the homogeneous component of degree m of \mathcal{V}_i , i = 1, 2. *Proof.* Let $m \in M$. Since $\mathcal{V}_{1,m} = \mathcal{V}_m \cap \mathcal{V}_1$ and $\mathcal{V}_{2,m} = \mathcal{V}_m \cap \mathcal{V}_2$ it follows that $\mathcal{V}_{1,m} + \mathcal{V}_{2,m} \subset \mathcal{V}_m$. Reciprocally let $v \in \mathcal{V}_m$. Hence $v = v_1 + v_2$ for some $v_1 \in \mathcal{V}_1$ and $v_2 \in \mathcal{V}_2$. Writing

$$v_1 = v_{1,m_1} + \dots + v_{1,m} + \dots + v_{1,m_n}$$
 and $v_2 = v_{2,m_1} + \dots + v_{2,m} + \dots + v_{2,m_n}$

such that $v_{1,m_i} \in \mathcal{V}_{1,m_i}, v_{1,m} \in \mathcal{V}_{1,m}, v_{2,m_i} \in \mathcal{V}_{2,m_i}, v_{2,m} \in \mathcal{V}_{2,m}$. We can assume without loss of generality that $m_1, \ldots, m, \ldots, m_n$ are pairwise distinct. Therefore

$$0 = v - v_1 - v_2 = (v - v_{1,m} - v_{2,m}) - (v_{1,m_1} + v_{2,m_1}) - \dots - (v_{1,m_n} + v_{2,m_n}).$$

This implies $v = v_{1,m} + v_{2,m}$ and hence we have $\mathcal{V}_m = \mathcal{V}_{1,m} + \mathcal{V}_{2,m}$.

Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra graded by a monoid M. Assume that $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ is a sum of two homogeneous subalgebras. Then Lemma 4.38 gives us that $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{B}_1 + \mathcal{C}_1$. Since \mathcal{B}_1 and \mathcal{C}_1 are subalgebras of \mathcal{A}_1 , Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 lead us to the following result.

Theorem 2.5. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be an algebra graded by a monoid M such that \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are two homogeneous subalgebras. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} satisfy polynomial identities in neutral variables, then the same holds for the algebra \mathcal{A} .

2.1 Sums of gr-PI subalgebras do not always satisfy graded identities

The main goal of this section is to show that there exist a group G and a G-graded algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ sum of two homogeneous subalgebras such that both \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are gr-PI algebras but \mathcal{A} is not.

For simplicity let us denote by \mathcal{F} the free associative algebra $F\langle X \rangle$.

Consider the *F*-algebra $\mathcal{A} = M_2(\mathcal{F})$ and a \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading on it given by $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}} \oplus \mathcal{A}_{\overline{1}}$ where

$$\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F} & 0\\ 0 & \mathcal{F} \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{1}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{F}\\ \mathcal{F} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

We define now two subalgebras \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} of \mathcal{A} by setting

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F} & \mathcal{F} \\ 0 & \mathcal{F} \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\mathcal{C} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F} & 0 \\ \mathcal{F} & \mathcal{F} \end{pmatrix}$.

Lemma 2.6. The subalgebras \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} of \mathcal{A} are homogeneous in the grading, $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$, and both \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} satisfy the graded identity $x_1^{(\bar{1})}x_2^{(\bar{1})} = 0$.

Proof. All statements are immediate.

Now it is enough to prove that \mathcal{A} satisfies no \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded identities.

Proposition 2.7. The \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra \mathcal{A} satisfies no graded identities.

Proof. Suppose, on the contrary, that \mathcal{A} does satisfy a non-zero graded identity f. Without loss of generality we can assume f multilinear

$$f = f(x_1^{(\overline{0})}, \dots, x_m^{(\overline{0})}, x_1^{(\overline{1})}, \dots, x_k^{(\overline{1})}).$$

We shall use an argument with generic matrices. We take the elements

$$a_i = \begin{pmatrix} u_i & 0\\ 0 & v_i \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $b_i = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & w_i\\ t_i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $i \ge 1$

in \mathcal{A} where u_i, v_i, w_i, t_i are distinct variables in the set X. These generic elements multiply as follows:

$$a_i a_j = \begin{pmatrix} u_i u_j & 0 \\ 0 & v_i v_j \end{pmatrix}, \qquad a_i b_j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u_i w_j \\ v_i t_j & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$b_i b_j = \begin{pmatrix} w_i t_j & 0 \\ 0 & t_i w_j \end{pmatrix}, \qquad b_j a_i = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & w_j v_i \\ t_j u_i & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Take a monomial $\boldsymbol{m} = \boldsymbol{m}_1 x_{j_1}^{(\bar{1})} \boldsymbol{m}_2 x_{j_2}^{(\bar{1})} \cdots x_{j_k}^{(\bar{1})} \boldsymbol{m}_{k+1}$ where (j_1, \ldots, j_k) is a permutation of $(1, \ldots, k)$, and the \boldsymbol{m}_i are monomials that do not contain variables of homogeneous degree $\bar{1}$ (some of the \boldsymbol{m}_i may be empty). Suppose that \boldsymbol{m} participates in f with non-zero coefficient. As f is a graded identity for \mathcal{A} then $f(a_1, \ldots, a_m, b_1, \ldots, b_k) = 0$ in \mathcal{A} .

Let us evaluate \boldsymbol{m} on a_1, \ldots, a_m , and b_1, \ldots, b_k . Depending on the parity of k we get a matrix in either \mathcal{A}_0 or \mathcal{A}_1 . Assume k even. Then at position (1, 1) of the resulting matrix we will have an entry of the type

$$\alpha_1 w_{j_1} \beta_2 t_{j_2} \alpha_3 w_{j_3} \beta_4 t_{j_4} \cdots$$

where α_1 is the product of the entries u_i at position (1, 1) of the matrices a_i that appear in the substitution for \mathbf{m}_1 , in their respective order. Similarly β_2 is the product of the entries v_i that come from the matrices in the second block, \mathbf{m}_2 , and so on, alternating the (1, 1) and (2, 2) entries of these blocks consecutively.

Since we obtain a monomial in the free associative algebra $F\langle X \rangle$, it must cancel out with the monomial coming from some other term of f. But our monomial comes from only one term of f, namely from \boldsymbol{m} . Thus the resulting monomial in $F\langle X \rangle$ cannot cancel out, and this proves that the coefficient of \boldsymbol{m} must be 0. Hence if k is even we are done. When k is odd the argument is analogous, and we omit it.

Remark 2.8. One could expect a positive answer by requiring $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} \oplus \mathcal{C}$ instead of $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$. However, even in the direct sum case we have the following example: we consider the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_0 \oplus \mathcal{A}_1$ as in the previous example, and we take

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F} & \mathcal{F} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad \mathcal{C} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \mathcal{F} & \mathcal{F} \end{pmatrix}$$

Clearly $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} \oplus \mathcal{C}$, and both \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are homogeneous subalgebras satisfying $x_1^{(\bar{1})} x_2^{(\bar{1})} = 0$.

Remark 2.9. The same two examples given above transfer to the graded Lie case. Indeed, let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_0 \oplus \mathcal{A}_1$ as before, and consider the Lie algebra $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$. Concerning the first example, we write $\mathcal{A}^{(-)} = \mathcal{B}^{(-)} + \mathcal{C}^{(-)}$, and one can easily see that $\mathcal{B}^{(-)}$ and $\mathcal{C}^{(-)}$ are homogeneous Lie subalgebras of $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$, both satisfying $[x_1^{(1)}, x_2^{(1)}] = 0$. It remains to prove that $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$ does not satisfy \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded Lie identities. Assume the contrary, and consider the embedding of the free \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded Lie algebra into $F\langle X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}\rangle^{(-)}$. Hence, we would have a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded (associative) identity for \mathcal{A} , which can not occur in light of Proposition 2.7. The example from Remark 2.8 is treated analogously.

2.2 The sum of a gr-PI ideal and a gr-PI subalgebra

In this section we study graded algebras which are a sum of a homogeneous ideal and a homogeneous subalgebra, both of them satisfying graded polynomial identities. Our goal in this section is to show that the sum itself is also gr-PI.

Throughout this section G will denote a finite group.

We recall that the operations on some direct power $\prod \mathcal{A}$ of \mathcal{A} are given by the operations on \mathcal{A} component-wise. We can extend the *G*-grading of \mathcal{A} to the algebra $\prod \mathcal{A}$ as follows:

$$\prod \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathbf{A}_g \text{ such that } \mathbf{A}_g = \prod \mathcal{A}_g$$

where \mathcal{A}_g is the homogeneous component of degree g of \mathcal{A} .

Let us start with the following easy lemma.

Lemma 2.10. If \mathcal{A} is a gr-PI algebra, then $\prod \mathcal{A}$ is also a gr-PI algebra.

Proof. It is enough to notice that if \mathcal{A} satisfies f = 0, then $\prod \mathcal{A}$ also does. \Box

Lemma 2.11. Let \mathcal{A} be a G-graded algebra which is not gr-PI. Then some direct power of \mathcal{A} contains a homogeneous subalgebra that is graded isomorphic to some free G-graded associative algebra.

Proof. Take $\mathcal{H} = F\langle X_G \rangle \setminus \{0\}$. By hypothesis, for each $h \in \mathcal{H}$ we have $h \notin Id_G(\mathcal{A})$. Hence there exists some graded homomorphism $\phi_h \colon F\langle X_G \rangle \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\phi_h(h) \neq 0$. We define $\psi \colon F\langle X_G \rangle \to \prod_{h \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{A}$ by $\psi(f) = (\phi_h(f))_h$. It is easy to check that ψ is a graded homomorphism. Moreover, if $h \in \mathcal{H}$ then $\phi_h(h) \neq 0$ and then $\psi(h) \neq 0$. We conclude that ψ is a graded embedding of $F\langle X_G \rangle$ into $\prod_{k \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{A}$. **Lemma 2.12.** Let $F\langle X_G \rangle$ be the free graded associative algebra and let \mathcal{L} be a homogeneous left ideal of $F\langle X_G \rangle$. Then \mathcal{L} does not satisfy any graded polynomial identity.

Proof. Assume that \mathcal{L} satisfies some graded polynomial identity $f(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_n^{(g_n)})$. Without loss of generality we can assume that f is multilinear of degree n. Let $w \in \mathcal{L} \setminus \{0\}$ be a homogeneous element, and let us say $\deg(w) = g$. For $i = 1, \ldots, n$, we consider the variables $x_i^{(h_i)}$ where $h_i = g_i g^{-1}$. Hence $\deg(x_i^{(h_i)}w) = g_i$ and then $f(x_1^{(h_1)}w, \ldots, x_n^{(h_n)}w) = 0$.

On the other hand, we write f and w as follows:

$$f = m_1 + \dots + m_k$$
 and $w = w_1 + \dots + w_l$

as sums of their distinct non-zero monomials, respectively. Then

$$f(x_1^{(h_1)}w,\ldots,x_n^{(h_n)}w) = \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{j_1,\ldots,j_n=1}^l m_i(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{j_1},\ldots,x_n^{(h_n)}w_{j_n}).$$
 (2.1)

We claim that $f(x_1^{(h_1)}w, \ldots, x_n^{(h_n)}w)$ is a non-zero polynomial and this will lead us to a contradiction. To this end, it is enough to prove that the monomials in (2.1) are pairwise distinct.

For a fixed index i, we must have

$$\boldsymbol{m}_{\boldsymbol{p}} = m_i(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{p_1}, \dots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{p_n}) \neq m_i(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{q_1}, \dots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{q_n}) = \boldsymbol{m}_{\boldsymbol{q}}$$

provided that the *n*-tuples $(p_1, \ldots, p_n) \neq (q_1, \ldots, q_n)$. Indeed, without loss of generality we may assume $p_1 \neq q_1$ and $m_1 = \alpha x_1^{(g_1)} \cdots x_n^{(g_n)}$ for some non-zero scalar $\alpha \in F$. Then we write

$$\boldsymbol{m}_{\boldsymbol{p}} = \alpha x_1^{(g_1)} w_{p_1} w' \text{ and } \boldsymbol{m}_{\boldsymbol{q}} = \alpha x_1^{(g_1)} w_{q_1} w''$$

and since $w_{p_1} \neq w_{q_1}$, then $m_p \neq m_q$.

It remains to analyse the monomials

$$\boldsymbol{m_p} = m_i(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{p_1}, \dots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{p_n}) \text{ and } \boldsymbol{m_q} = m_j(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{q_1}, \dots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{q_n})$$

for $i \neq j$. We start by rewriting the monomials $m_i(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_n^{(g_n)}) = m'x_r^{(g_r)}m''$ and $m_j(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_n^{(g_n)}) = m'''x_s^{(g_s)}m'''$, where $r \neq s$ and m', m'', m''', m'''' are suitable monomials. We notice that we may have m' = m'''. Therefore we suppose that the monomial m_p starts with $m'(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{p_1}, \ldots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{p_n})x_r^{(g_r)}w_{p_r}$ and m_q starts with $m'''(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{q_1}, \ldots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{q_n})x_s^{(g_s)}w_{q_s}$. Since $x_r^{(g_s)} \neq x_s^{(g_s)}$, then we must have $m_p \neq m_q$, even if $m'(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{p_1}, \ldots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{p_n}) = m'''(x_1^{(h_1)}w_{q_1}, \ldots, x_n^{(h_n)}w_{q_n})$.

Before stating the main theorem of this section, we recall that a graded algebra \mathcal{A} is called gr-prime if the product of two non-zero homogeneous ideals of \mathcal{A} is still non-zero.

Theorem 2.13. Let \mathfrak{A} be a class of G-graded algebras closed under graded homomorphic images and direct powers. Assume that every gr-prime algebra in \mathfrak{A} has a non-zero homogeneous ideal satisfying some graded polynomial identity. Then \mathfrak{A} is a class of gr-PI algebras.

Proof. Assume that some algebra $\mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{A}$ is not gr-PI. Then Lemma 2.11 gives us the existence of some homogeneous subalgebra \mathcal{T} of $\prod \mathcal{A}$ which is graded isomorphic to $F\langle X_G \rangle$. By the Zorn Lemma, there exists a homogeneous ideal \mathcal{I} of $\prod \mathcal{A}$ that is maximal with respect to the property $\mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{I} = \{0\}$. Since \mathfrak{A} is closed under homomorphic images and direct powers then $\overline{\mathcal{A}} = (\prod \mathcal{A})/\mathcal{I} \in \mathfrak{A}$. We claim that $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ is a gr-prime algebra. In fact, let $\mathcal{J}_1/\mathcal{I}$ and $\mathcal{J}_2/\mathcal{I}$ be non-zero homogeneous ideals of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$. Hence there exist $x \in \mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{J}_1 \setminus \{0\}$ and $y \in \mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{J}_2 \setminus \{0\}$, and then $0 \neq (x + \mathcal{I})(y + \mathcal{I}) \in (\mathcal{J}_1/\mathcal{I})(\mathcal{J}_2/\mathcal{I})$, which proves our claim. Therefore $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ has a non-zero homogeneous ideal $\overline{\mathcal{L}} = \mathcal{L}/\mathcal{I}$ satisfying a graded polynomial identity. Since $\overline{\mathcal{L}} \neq 0$, the maximality of \mathcal{I} implies the existence of a non-zero homogeneous element $x \in \mathcal{L} \cap \mathcal{T}$, that is, $x \notin \mathcal{I}$. Recalling that

$$\overline{\mathcal{T}} = (\mathcal{T} + \mathcal{I})/\mathcal{I} \cong \mathcal{T}/(\mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{I}) \cong \mathcal{T} \cong F\langle X_G \rangle,$$

we have that $\overline{\mathcal{T}}\overline{x} \subset \overline{\mathcal{L}}$. In other words, we have a non-zero homogeneous left ideal of $\overline{\mathcal{T}}$ which satisfies a graded polynomial identity. But this is an absurd by Lemma 2.12.

Corollary 2.14. Let \mathcal{A} be a G-graded algebra such that $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ where \mathcal{B} is a homogeneous ideal of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} is a homogeneous subalgebra of \mathcal{A} . Moreover assume that \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} both satisfy graded polynomial identities. Then \mathcal{A} is a gr-PI algebra.

Proof. Consider the class \mathfrak{A} of all *G*-graded algebras $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ where \mathcal{B} is a homogeneous gr-PI ideal and \mathcal{C} is a homogeneous gr-PI subalgebra. Notice that every non-zero algebra in \mathfrak{A} contains some non-zero homogeneous gr-PI ideal, since in case $\mathcal{B} = \{0\}$, we have $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{A}$ which is an ideal of \mathcal{A} . Moreover, one can see that \mathfrak{A} contains the class of all *G*-graded algebras satisfying some graded polynomial identity and actually we aim to show that these two classes are the same.

Given $\mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{A}$, notice that $\prod \mathcal{A} = \prod \mathcal{B} + \prod \mathcal{C}$, $\prod \mathcal{B}$ is a homogeneous ideal of $\prod \mathcal{A}$ and $\prod \mathcal{C}$ is a homogeneous subalgebra of $\prod \mathcal{A}$. Moreover, Lemma 2.10 gives us that both $\prod \mathcal{B}$ and $\prod \mathcal{C}$ satisfy graded polynomial identities provided \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} also do. Hence $\prod \mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{A}$. Now let $\varphi \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}_2$ be a graded epimorphism where $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C} \in \mathfrak{A}$. Then $\mathcal{A}_2 = \varphi(\mathcal{B}) + \varphi(\mathcal{C})$ where $\varphi(\mathcal{B})$ is a homogeneous gr-PI ideal of \mathcal{A} and $\varphi(\mathcal{C})$ is a homogeneous gr-PI subalgebra of \mathcal{A} . Therefore we also have $\mathcal{A}_2 \in \mathfrak{A}$.

Since every non-zero algebra in \mathfrak{A} contains some non-zero homogeneous gr-PI ideal, then we can apply Theorem 2.13 to get that \mathfrak{A} is a class of gr-PI algebras. In particular, $\mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{A}$ is a gr-PI algebra.

We note that no additional information is given on the identity satisfied by \mathcal{A} . In the following we will prove that in case the group G is abelian, then we can obtain a concrete identity for the sum $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$.

Corollary 2.15. Let \mathcal{A} be a G-graded algebra such that G is an abelian group and $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$, where \mathcal{B} is a homogeneous ideal of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} is a homogeneous subalgebra of \mathcal{A} . Moreover assume that \mathcal{B} satisfies an identity $f(x_1^{(h_1)}, \ldots, x_m^{(h_m)})$ and \mathcal{C} satisfies and identity $g(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_n^{(g_n)})$. Then \mathcal{A} is a gr-PI algebra and we can explicitly compute an identity for \mathcal{A} .

Proof. We can assume without loss of generality that g is multilinear. Notice that \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B} is a homomorphic image of $\mathcal{C}/(\mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{C})$. Since g is an identity for \mathcal{C} , then the same holds for \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{B} . Thus, $g(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{B}$. Since G is abelian and g is multilinear then we have that g is actually an homogeneous element in $F\langle X_G \rangle$, say of homogeneous degree h. Therefore the polynomial p_i given by the product of g with a variable of homogeneous degree $h^{-1}h_i$ is a polynomial of homogeneous degree h_i , for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$. We can also assume that the variables occuring in all polynomials p_i are pairwise distinct. We conclude that $f(p_1, \ldots, p_m)$ is a non-zero polynomial which is an identity for $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$.

Corollary 2.16. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be a *G*-graded algebra, where \mathcal{B} is a homogeneous ideal satisfying some ordinary polynomial identity $f(x_1, \ldots, x_m)$ and \mathcal{C} is a homogeneous subalgebra satisfying some graded identity $g(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_n^{(g_n)})$. Then the algebra \mathcal{A} satisfies the following graded identity

$$f(g(x_{11}^{(g_1)},\ldots,x_{1n}^{(g_n)}),\ldots,g(x_{m1}^{(g_1)},\ldots,x_{mn}^{(g_n)})).$$

Proof. We evaluate each homogeneous variable of degree h by some element $a_h \in \mathcal{A}_h$. By Lemma 2.4, we can write $a_h = b_h + c_h$ where $b_h \in \mathcal{B}_h$ and $c_h \in \mathcal{C}_h$. Since \mathcal{B} is an ideal of \mathcal{A} we obtain that each evaluation of g on homogeneous elements of \mathcal{A} is a sum of homogeneous elements of \mathcal{B} plus an evaluation of g on \mathcal{C} . This last evaluation of g on \mathcal{C} is zero actually zero since g is a graded polynomial identity for \mathcal{C} . We therefore get an evaluation of f on elements of \mathcal{B} , and now it is enough to use that f is an ordinary polynomial identity for \mathcal{B} to get the desired conclusion.

Corollary 2.17. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be a *G*-graded algebra, where \mathcal{B} is a homogeneous ideal of \mathcal{A} satisfying a graded polynomial identity $f(x_1^{(g_1)}, \ldots, x_m^{(g_m)})$ and \mathcal{C} is a homogeneous subalgebra satisfying some ordinary polynomial identity $g(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. Then \mathcal{A} satisfies the following graded identity

$$f(g(x_{11}^{(g_1)}, x_{12}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{1n}^{(1)}), \dots, g(x_{m1}^{(g_n)}, x_{m2}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{mn}^{(1)})).$$

Proof. The proof follows the argument from the previous corollary.

2.3 Graded semi-identities

Throughout this section G will denote a finite group.

We will define the so-called graded semi-identities for the sum $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ and we will show how some particular graded semi-identities can ensure the existence of graded polynomial identities for \mathcal{A} .

As a motivation for the following definition we recall that Lemma 2.4 gives us that $\mathcal{A}_g = \mathcal{B}_g + \mathcal{C}_g$ for each $g \in G$, hence every $a_g \in \mathcal{A}_g$ is a sum $a_g = b_g + c_g$, $b_g \in \mathcal{B}_g$, $c_g \in \mathcal{C}_g$. Thus it is convenient to consider free variables corresponding to the homogeneous components \mathcal{B}_g and \mathcal{C}_g and look for their interplay with the variables corresponding to \mathcal{A}_g .

We introduce the following sets of variables

$$Y_G = \{y_i^{(g)} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$$
 and $Z_G = \{z_i^{(g)} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\},\$

and we consider the free G-graded algebra $F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$. We set $x_i^{(g)} = y_i^{(g)} + z_i^{(g)}$ for each $g \in G$, and then we may consider $F\langle X_G \rangle \subset F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$. We are now ready to introduce the definition of graded semi-identities for a sum $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$.

Definition 2.18. Let

$$f = f(y_1^{(h_1)}, \dots, y_m^{(h_m)}, z_1^{(\tilde{h}_1)}, \dots, z_n^{(\tilde{h}_n)}) \in F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle,$$

such that $h_1, \ldots, h_m, \tilde{h}_1, \ldots, \tilde{h}_n \in G$. We say that f = 0 is a graded semi-identity for $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ if

$$f(b_1^{(h_1)},\ldots,b_m^{(h_m)},c_1^{(\tilde{h}_1)},\ldots,c_n^{(\tilde{h}_n)}) = 0$$

for all $b_i^{(h_i)} \in \mathcal{B}_{h_i}, c_j^{(\tilde{h}_j)} \in \mathcal{C}_{\tilde{h}_j}$. We say that a graded semi-identity f = 0 is trivial if $f \in Id_G(\mathcal{A})$.

We notice here that the notion of a graded semi-identity depends on the decomposition $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$.

Example 2.19. Let \mathcal{F} be an F-algebra without 1 such that $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{L}_1 + \mathcal{L}_2$, where \mathcal{L}_1 is a subalgebra of \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{L}_2 is an ideal of \mathcal{F} (for instance, take $\mathcal{F} = F\langle X \rangle$, the free associative algebra without 1, \mathcal{L}_1 the subalgebra generated by all monomials which do not contain the variable x_1 , and \mathcal{L}_2 the subalgebra generated by the monomials that contain x_1).

We now set

$$\mathcal{A} = egin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F} & \mathcal{L}_2 \ \mathcal{L}_2 & \mathcal{F} \end{pmatrix}$$

Consider the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading on \mathcal{A} given by $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_0 \oplus \mathcal{A}_1$ where

$$\mathcal{A}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{F} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{F} \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\mathcal{A}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{L}_2 \\ \mathcal{L}_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$

Notice then that $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$, where

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{L}_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{L}_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\mathcal{C} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{L}_2 & \mathcal{L}_2 \\ \mathcal{L}_2 & \mathcal{L}_2 \end{pmatrix}$,

and both \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are homogeneous subalgebras of \mathcal{A} . Now, it is clear that $y_1^{(1)} = 0$ is a nontrivial graded semi-identity for \mathcal{A} .

In this section we will present some nontrivial graded semi-identities satisfied by \mathcal{A} that imply the existence of graded polynomial identities for \mathcal{A} . We now define a type of multilinear polynomial in $F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$ which we will consider as a graded semi-identity for \mathcal{A} .

Definition 2.20. Let $y_1, \ldots, y_d \in Y_G$ and $x_{d+1}, \ldots, x_{2d-1} \in X_G$ be homogeneous variables. We define the following polynomial

$$Sp_d(y_1, \dots, y_d; x_{d+1}, \dots, x_{2d-1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_d} \alpha_\sigma y_{\sigma(1)} x_{d+1} y_{\sigma(2)} x_{d+2} \cdots x_{2d-1} y_{\sigma(d)}$$

where $\alpha_{\sigma} \in F$, and S_d stands for the symmetric group permuting $\{1, \ldots, d\}$.

The polynomial defined above was influenced by a generalization of the *Capelli identity*, the so-called *sparse identity* (see for instance [10]). We will be interested in the case where the variables y's are of the same homogeneous degree g and the x's are all of homogeneous degree g^{-1} . We denote the latter polynomial as $Sp_d[Y^{(g)}, X^{(g^{-1})}]$.

2.3.1 Codimensions modulo graded semi-identities

From now on we assume that $G = \{g_1, \ldots, g_k\}$.

Given $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we write $n = n_1 + \cdots + n_k$, where n_1, \ldots, n_k are non-negative integers. We recall the vector space of multilinear graded polynomials P_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} in n_i homogeneous variables of degrees g_i , respectively. Precisely

$$P_{n_1,\dots,n_k} = \operatorname{span}\{u_{\sigma(1)}\cdots u_{\sigma(n)} \mid \sigma \in S_n, u_{i_1} = x_{i_1}^{(g_1)} \text{ for } i_1 \in \{1,\dots,n_1\}$$
$$u_{n_1+i_2} = x_{n_1+i_2}^{(g_2)} \text{ for } i_2 \in \{1,\dots,n_2\},\dots,$$
$$u_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k} = x_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k}^{(g_k)} \text{ for } i_k \in \{1,\dots,n_k\}\}.$$

Note that $\dim(P_{n_1,\dots,n_k}) = n!$ and therefore we have the following straightforward lemma.

Lemma 2.21. If there exists a positive integer $n = n_1 + \cdots + n_k$ such that

$$\dim\left(\frac{P_{n_1,\dots,n_k}}{P_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G(A)}\right) < n!,$$

then \mathcal{A} satisfies a multilinear graded polynomial identity of degree n in n_i variables of homogeneous degree g_i , respectively.

Denoting by $Id^s_G(\mathcal{A})$ the set of all graded semi-identities of \mathcal{A} (including the identically zero polynomial), it follows immediately that $Id_G(\mathcal{A}), Id_G(\mathcal{B}), Id_G(\mathcal{C}) \subset$ $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$. Moreover $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$ is an ideal of $F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$ which is invariant under all graded endomorphisms that preserve both $F\langle Y_G \rangle$ and $F\langle Z_G \rangle$.

The vector space of multilinear polynomials in $F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$ is defined as

$$V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} = \operatorname{span}\{v_{\sigma(1)}\cdots v_{\sigma(n)} \mid \sigma \in S_n, v_{i_1} \in \{y_{i_1}^{(g_1)}, z_{i_1}^{(g_1)}\} \text{ for } i_1 \in \{1,\dots,n_1\},\dots, v_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k} \in \{y_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k}^{(g_k)}, z_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k}^{(g_k)}\} \text{ for } i_k \in \{1,\dots,n_k\}\}.$$

One can easily see that $P_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} \subset V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k}$. Moreover, if

$$f \in P_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap (V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})),$$

then f is a graded semi-identity in the homogeneous variables y and z, and f can be written as a polynomial in the variables $x_i^{(g)} = y_i^{(g)} + z_i^{(g)}$. Now given any $a_g \in \mathcal{A}_g$, Lemma 2.4 yields the existence of $b_g \in \mathcal{B}_g$ and $c_g \in \mathcal{C}_g$ such that $a_g = b_g + c_g$. Hence an evaluation of the variable $x_i^{(g)}$ on some element a_g implies an evaluation of the variables $y_i^{(g)}$ on some b_g and $z_i^{(g)}$ on some c_g , respectively. Since f is a graded semi-identity, then such evaluation must be zero on \mathcal{A} . This shows that f is a graded identity. Therefore we conclude that

$$P_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} \cap Id_G(\mathcal{A}) = P_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} \cap (V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})).$$

As a consequence of the discussion above we have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.22. If there exists a positive integer $n = n_1 + \cdots + n_k$ such that

$$\dim\left(\frac{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k}}{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})}\right) < n!$$

then \mathcal{A} satisfies some multilinear graded polynomial identity of degree n in n_i variables of homogeneous degree q_i , for $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

Proof. Notice that

$$\frac{P_{n_1,\dots,n_k}}{P_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G(\mathcal{A})} = \frac{P_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap V_{n_1,\dots,n_k}}{P_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap (V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A}))} \hookrightarrow \frac{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k}}{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})}.$$
nally apply Lemma 2.21.

and finally apply Lemma 2.21.

We consider one further decomposition on the space V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} . In this decomposition we will determine precisely when v_i is given by either $y_i^{(g_j)}$ or $z_i^{(g_j)}$. For each $j = 1, \ldots, k$ we consider integers $0 \leq r_j \leq n_j$, and $1 \leq t_{j_1} < \cdots < t_{j_{r_j}} \leq n_j$. Denoting $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_k)$ and $\mathbf{t} = (t_{1_1}, \ldots, t_{1_{r_1}}, \ldots, t_{k_1}, \ldots, t_{k_{r_k}})$, we define

$$V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}} = \operatorname{span}\{v_{\sigma(1)}\cdots v_{\sigma(n)} \mid \sigma \in S_n, v_{i_1} = y_{i_1}^{(g_1)} \text{ for } i_1 \in \{t_{1_1},\dots,t_{1_{r_1}}\}, \text{ and} \\ v_{i_1} = z_{i_1}^{(g_1)} \text{ for } i_1 \in \{1,\dots,n_1\} \setminus \{t_{1_1},\dots,t_{1_{r_1}}\},\dots, \\ v_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k} = y_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k}^{(g_k)} \text{ for } i_k \in \{t_{k_1},\dots,t_{k_{r_k}}\} \text{ and} \\ v_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k} = z_{n_1+\dots+n_{k-1}+i_k}^{(g_k)} \text{ for } i_k \in \{1,\dots,n_k\} \setminus \{t_{k_1},\dots,t_{k_{r_k}}\}\}.$$

In other words, in $V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ we have k groups of distinct variables, with n_1, \ldots, n_k variables in each one of them, respectively. In the *i*-th group of variables we take r_i among them: the ones with indices $\{t_{i_1},\ldots,t_{i_{r_i}}\}, 0 \leq r_i \leq n_i$. These variables are the $y^{(g_i)}$, and the remaining variables from this group are $z^{(g_i)}$.

One can notice that

$$V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} = \bigoplus_{\substack{r_1=0\\1\leqslant t_{1_1}<\dots< t_{1_{r_1}}\leqslant n_1}}^{n_1}\dots\bigoplus_{\substack{r_k=0\\1\leqslant t_k_1<\dots< t_{k_{r_k}}\leqslant n_k}}^{n_k}V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}.$$

In particular, a graded semi-identity in $V_{n_1,...,n_k}$ can be written as a sum of polynomials in $V_{n_1,...,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$. The next lemma shows that each one of these polynomials in $V_{n_1,...,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ are also graded semi-identities.

Lemma 2.23. The following decomposition of $V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$ holds

$$V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A}) = \bigoplus_{\substack{r_1=0\\1\leqslant t_{1_1}<\dots< t_{1_{r_1}}\leqslant n_1}}^{n_1}\dots \bigoplus_{\substack{r_k=0\\1\leqslant t_{k_1}<\dots< t_{k_{r_k}}\leqslant n_k}}^{n_k} (V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})).$$

Proof. Let $f \in V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$ and write

$$f = \sum_{r_1=0}^{n_1} \sum_{1 \le t_{1_1} < \dots < t_{1_{r_1}} \le n_1} \dots \sum_{r_k=0}^{n_k} \sum_{1 \le t_{k_1} < \dots < t_{k_{r_k}} \le n_k} f_{\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}}.$$
 (2.2)

We have to show that each $f_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}} \in V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ is also a graded semi-identity of \mathcal{A} . We proceed by induction on the number of terms of the sum (2.2). The base case is when $f = f_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$, and here we already have $f_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}} \in Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$. From now on we suppose that there exist at least two non-zero terms in (2.2), and we take two distinct of them, say $f_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ and $\tilde{f}_{\mathbf{\tilde{r}},\mathbf{\tilde{t}}}$. Hence there exists some variable, which without loss of generality we will suppose $y_i^{(g_1)}$, such that it occurs in $f_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ but not in $\tilde{f}_{\mathbf{\tilde{r}},\mathbf{\tilde{t}}}$. Now we write $f = f_1 + f_2$, where f_1 is the sum of the terms from (2.2) that contain the variable $y_i^{(g_1)}$ and f_2 is the sum of terms from (2.2) which do not. Evaluating $y_i^{(g_1)}$ by 0 we obtain that f_2 is a consequence of f and therefore f_2 is a graded semi-identity. Hence the same happens to $f_1 = f - f_2$. Now it is enough to apply the induction hypothesis to both f_1 and f_2 .

We finish this section by showing how the decomposition above can be used to prove the existence of a graded polynomial identity for \mathcal{A} .

In order to simplify our notation we will write just $V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r}}$ instead of $V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$, where $\mathbf{t} = (1,\ldots,r_1,\ldots,1,\ldots,r_k)$. Note that given any \mathbf{t} there exists a graded isomorphism of vector spaces $V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r}} \cong V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ such that

$$V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r}} \cap Id^s_G(\mathcal{A}) \cong V_{n_1,\ldots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}} \cap Id^s_G(\mathcal{A}).$$

We also note that there exist exactly $\binom{n_1}{r_1} \cdots \binom{n_k}{r_k}$ vector spaces $V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$ isomorphic to $V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r}}$.

Lemma 2.24. If there exists a positive integer $n = n_1 + \cdots + n_k$ such that

$$\dim\left(\frac{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r}}}{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r}}\cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})}\right) < \frac{n!}{2^n},$$

for all \mathbf{r} , then \mathcal{A} satisfies some multilinear graded polynomial identity of degree n in n_i variables of homogeneous degree g_i , for i = 1, ..., k.

Proof. By Lemma 2.23 we have

$$\dim \frac{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k}}{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})} = \sum_{r_1=0}^{n_1} \cdots \sum_{r_k=0}^{n_k} \binom{n_1}{r_1} \cdots \binom{n_k}{r_k} \dim \frac{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r}}}{V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r}} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})}$$
$$< \sum_{r_1=0}^{n_1} \cdots \sum_{r_k=0}^{n_k} \binom{n_1}{r_1} \cdots \binom{n_k}{r_k} \frac{n!}{2^n}$$
$$= 2^{n_1} \cdots 2^{n_k} \frac{n!}{2^n} = n!$$

Now it suffices to apply Lemma 2.22.

2.3.2 A generating set for $V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$

In this section we give a generating set for $V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ by using the language of good permutations of the symmetric group. This notion appeared in the proof of the well known theorem of Regev about the exponential upper bound of the codimension sequence of a PI algebra, see [53]. Good sequences and similar combinatorial notions have been extensively used in studying numerical invariants of PI algebras such as codimensions, cocharacters, and so on.

Definition 2.25. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $1 \leq d \leq n$. We say that $\sigma \in S_n$ is a d-bad permutation if there exist $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_d \leq n$ such that $\sigma(i_1) > \cdots > \sigma(i_d)$. Otherwise we call $\sigma \in S_n$ a d-good permutation.

We recall a well known result about the number of d-good permutations (see [54]). It can be obtained by using the theorem of Dilworth in Combinatorics.

Lemma 2.26. The number of d-good permutations in S_n is at most $(d-1)^{2n}$.

We will adopt the following convention: given d > n, then every permutation in S_n is d-good. Such convention does not change the maximum number of d-good permutations. Indeed, in this case the number is exactly n! which is less than $(d-1)^{2n}$.

Definition 2.27. Let m be the monomial

$$v_1 y_{\sigma(1)}^{(h_1)} \cdots y_{\sigma(i_1)}^{(h_{i_1})} v_2 y_{\sigma(i_1+1)}^{(h_{i_1+1})} \cdots y_{\sigma(i_2)}^{(h_{i_2})} v_3 \cdots v_l y_{\sigma(i_{l-1}+1)}^{(h_{i_{l-1}+1})} \cdots y_{\sigma(i_l)}^{(h_{i_l})} v_{l+1} \in V_{n_1,\dots,n_k,\mathbf{r},\mathbf{t}}$$

where v_1, \ldots, v_{l+1} are (eventually empty) words in the homogeneous variables of type z. We say that **m** is a d-y-good monomial if the permutation $\sigma \in S_l$ is a d-good one.
We recall a combinatorial fact concerning finite groups, [7, Lemma 4.1].

Lemma 2.28. Every product of |H|d words in a finite group H contains a product of d consecutive trivial subwords.

In the next lemma we will assume that \mathcal{A} satisfies a graded semi-identity of the form $Sp_{d_1}[Y^{(g)}; X^{(g^{-1})}]$, for some $g \in G$. Without loss of generality we write $g_1 = g$ and we denote $n_1 = n$ and $r_1 = r$. We also use o(g) to denote the order of the element $g \in G$ (and of the cyclic subgroup generated by g).

Lemma 2.29. The space $V_{n,0,\ldots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ is generated, modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$, by all $(2d_1-1)o(g)$ -y-good monomials for all \mathbf{r} .

Proof. Following our convention we may assume $(2d_1 - 1)o(g) \leq r$. The proof will be done by contradiction. Thus we assume that $V_{n,0,\ldots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ is not generated by the $(2d_1 - 1)o(g)$ -ygood monomials modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$. Hence the set \mathfrak{U} of all $(2d_1 - 1)o(g)$ -y-bad monomials which cannot be written as a linear combination of $(2d_1 - 1)o(g)$ -y-good monomials modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$ is nonempty. We order the variables in Y_G of homogeneous degree g as $y_1^{(g)} < y_2^{(g)} < \cdots$ and we take in \mathfrak{U} the partial order given lexicographically from the left to the right in the variables in Y_G of homogeneous degree g, only. Let $\mathbf{m}_{\tau} \in \mathfrak{U}$ be a minimal element, where $\tau \in S_r$ is the permutation which defines the positions of the variables from Y_G of homogeneous degree g in this minimal element. In particular, \mathbf{m}_{τ} is a $(2d_1 - 1)o(g)$ -y-bad monomial and hence there exist $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_{(2d_1-1)o(g)} \leq r$ such that $\tau(i_1) > \cdots > \tau(i_{(2d_1-1)o(g)})$.

We write $\mathbf{m}_{\tau} = w_0 w_1 w_2 \cdots w_{(2d_1-1)o(g)} w_{(2d_1-1)o(g)+1}$, where w_j is the word that starts with $y_{\tau(i_j)}^{(g)}$ and ends just before $y_{\tau(i_{j+1})}^{(g)}$, $j = 1, \ldots, (2d_1-1)o(g) - 1$, $w_{(2d_1-1)o(g)} = y_{\tau(i_{(2d_1-1)o(g)})}^{(g)}$, w_0 and $w_{(2d_1-1)o(g)+1}$ are suitable words.

Applying Lemma 2.28 to the subgroup generated by g, we obtain the existence of $2d_1 - 1$ consecutive subwords $\overline{w}_1, \ldots, \overline{w}_{2d_1-1}$ from $w_1 \cdots w_{(2d_1-1)o(g)}$ where $\deg(\overline{w}_j) = 1$, $j = 1, \ldots, 2d_1 - 1$.

Hence we rewrite $\mathbf{m}_{\tau} = \overline{w}_0 \overline{w}_1 \cdots \overline{w}_{2d_1-1} \overline{w}_{2d_1}$, where \overline{w}_0 and \overline{w}_{2d_1} are suitable words. Note that for each $j = 1, \ldots, d_1 - 1$, we can write $\overline{w}_{2j-1} \overline{w}_{2j} = y_{\tau(i_l)}^{(g)} m_{d_1+j}$ for some l (which depends on j) and m_{d_1+j} is the subword of $\overline{w}_{2j-1} \overline{w}_{2j}$ obtained by deleting its first variable. Denote $m_j = y_{\tau(i_l)}^{(g)}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, d_1 - 1$, and take m_{d_1} as the first variable of \overline{w}_{2d_1-1} .

In this way we have

 $\boldsymbol{m}_{\tau} = m_0 m_1 m_{d_1+1} m_2 \cdots m_{d_1-1} m_{2d_1-1} m_{d_1} m_{2d_1}$

where $m_0 = \overline{w}_0$, m_{2d_1} is a suitable word, $\deg(m_j) = g$ for $j = 1, \ldots, d_1$ and $\deg(m_{d_1+j}) = g^{-1}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, d_1 - 1$. Indeed, it follows from $\deg(\overline{w}_{2j-1}\overline{w}_{2j}) = 1$

and $\deg(y_{\tau(i_l)}^{(g)}) = g$ that $\deg(m_{d_1+j}) = g^{-1}$. We also note that each m_j is evaluated on Y_G of homogeneous degree g and each m_{d_1+j} is evaluated on X_G of homogeneous degree g^{-1} . Moreover, we have $m_1 > \cdots > m_{d_1}$.

Recalling that $Sp_{d_1}[Y^{(g)}; X^{(g^{-1})}] \in Id^s_G(\mathcal{A})$ and that the scalar related to the identity permutation can be assumed as 1, we can write

$$\boldsymbol{m}_{\tau} = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{d_1} \setminus \{id\}} -\alpha_{\sigma} m_0 m_{\sigma(1)} m_{d_1+1} m_{\sigma(2)} \cdots m_{2d_1-1} m_{\sigma(d_1)} m_{2d_1} \pmod{Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})}.$$

Since for each $\sigma \in S_{d_1} \setminus \{id\}$ we have

$$\boldsymbol{m}_{\sigma} = m_0 m_{\sigma(1)} m_{d_1+1} m_{\sigma(2)} \cdots m_{2d_1-1} m_{\sigma(d_1)} m_{2d_1} < \boldsymbol{m}_{\tau},$$

the minimality of \mathbf{m}_{τ} leads us to $m_{\sigma} \notin \mathfrak{U}$. Therefore each \mathbf{m}_{σ} can be written as a linear combination of $(2d_1 - 1)o(g)$ -y-good monomials modulo the graded semi-identities of \mathcal{A} , and hence the same happens for \mathbf{m}_{τ} . This is a contradiction to $m_{\tau} \in \mathfrak{U}$.

2.3.3 Existence of a graded identity for A

First of all let us estimate the dimension of $V_{n,0,\ldots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$. We start by recalling the following result from [7].

Theorem 2.30. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra graded by a finite group G. If the neutral component of \mathcal{A} satisfies a polynomial identity of degree d then

$$\dim \frac{P^{(h_1,\dots,h_n)}}{P^{(h_1,\dots,h_n)} \cap Id_G(\mathcal{A})} \leq (|G|d-1)^{2n}$$

for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $(h_1, \ldots, h_n) \in G^n$.

For our main goal of this section we consider one last decomposition of the vector space $V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ into the subspaces

$$U_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r},u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} = \operatorname{span}\{y_{\sigma(1)}\dots y_{\sigma(p_1)}z_{\tau(1)}\cdots z_{\tau(q_1)}\cdots y_{\sigma(p_1+\dots+p_{u-1}+1)}\cdots y_{\sigma(r)}\times z_{\tau(q_1+\dots+q_{u-1}+1)}\cdots z_{\tau(n-r)} \mid \sigma \in S_r, \tau \in S_{n-r}\}$$

where $r = p_1 + \cdots + p_u$ and $n - r = q_1 + \cdots + q_u$ are such that $p_1 \ge 0$, $q_u \ge 0$, and $p_2, \ldots, p_u, q_1, \ldots, q_{u-1} > 0$, and the homogeneous variables were written without their homogeneous degrees for simplicity.

Hence we have

$$V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}} = \bigoplus_{u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} U_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r},u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}.$$
(2.3)

Definition 2.31. A composition of a positive integer n sequence of integers (n_1, \ldots, n_k) such that $n = n_1 + \cdots + n_k$.

Remark 2.32. The number of compositions of a positive integer n is exactly 2^{n-1} . In particular, one can see that there exist at most $2^r \cdot 2^{n-r} = 2^n$ vector spaces $U_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r},u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}$ appearing in the decomposition of $V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ in (2.3).

Lemma 2.33. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be a *G*-graded algebra sum of two homogeneous subalgebras. We assume that \mathcal{A} satisfies the graded semi-identity $Sp_{d_1}[Y^{(g)}; X^{(g^{-1})}]$ and \mathcal{C}_1 satisfies a polynomial identity of degree d_2 . Then the following inequality holds

$$\dim \frac{V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}}{V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})} \leq 2^n ((2d_1 - 1)o(g) - 1)^{2r} (|G|d_2 - 1)^{2(n-r)} (r+1)^{n-r}$$

Proof. We start the proof by recalling that Lemma 2.29 gives us a generating set for $V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}$ modulo $Id_G^s(A)$, namely the set of all $(2d_1 - 1)o(g) \cdot y^{(g)}$ -good monomials. By (2.3) it is enough to count the number of $(2d_1 - 1)o(g) \cdot y^{(g)}$ -good monomials modulo the graded semi-identities of \mathcal{A} in $U_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r},u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}$. First of all note that there exist at most $((2d_1 - 1)o(g) - 1)^{2r}$ dispositions of the homogeneous variables y modulo $Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})$. We also have

$$\binom{n-r}{q_1,\ldots,q_u} = \frac{(n-r)!}{q_1!\cdots q_u!}$$

different manners of distributing the homogeneous variables z that occur in blocks of q_1 consecutive ones, ..., q_u consecutive ones. By Theorem 2.30, each consecutive group of homogeneous variables z can be written as a linear combination of at most $(|G|d_2 - 1)^{2q_i}$ monomials modulo $Id_G^s(A)$. Hence $U_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r},u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}$ is generated by at most

$$((2d_1-1)o(g)-1)^{2r}\binom{n-r}{q_1,\ldots,q_u}(|G|d_2-1)^{2q_1}\cdots(|G|d_2-1)^{2q_u}$$

monomials.

Therefore the multinomial theorem enables us to bound the multinomial coefficient corresponding to the homogeneous variables z by u^{n-r} and since $u \leq r+1$ we write

$$\binom{n-r}{q_1,\ldots,q_u} \leqslant (r+1)^{n-r}.$$

We finish the proof of this lemma by observing that there exist at most 2^n vector spaces of the form $U_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r},u,\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}$ (see Remark 2.32).

We are ready to prove the main result of this section. We recall the following inequality known as Stirling's formula

$$n! \sim \sqrt{2\pi n} \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n; \quad \text{and } \left(\frac{n}{e}\right)^n < n!, \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}$$
 (2.4)

where the meanings of e and π are the obvious ones.

Theorem 2.34. Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}$ be a *G*-graded algebra which is a sum of two homogeneous subalgebras. If \mathcal{A} satisfies the graded semi-identity $Sp_{d_1}[Y^{(g)}; X^{(g^{-1})}]$ and \mathcal{C}_1 satisfies some ordinary polynomial identity of degree d_2 , then \mathcal{A} satisfies some graded multilinear polynomial identity of degree n in homogeneous variables of degree g, where n is the least integer greater or equal to α^{α} such that $\alpha = 8e((2d_1 - 1)o(g) - 1)^2(|G|d_2 - 1)^2$.

Proof. Lemma 2.24 reduces the existence of the required graded polynomial identity to the existence of a positive integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\dim \frac{V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}}}{V_{n,0,\dots,0,\mathbf{r}} \cap Id_G^s(\mathcal{A})} < \frac{n!}{2^n},$$

for every **r**.

We begin by assuming that $r \neq 0$ and we will show that there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ (which does not depend on r) such that

$$8^{n}e^{n}((2d_{1}-1)o(g)-1)^{2n}(|G|d_{2}-1)^{2n}r^{n-r} \leq n^{n}.$$

Recall $\alpha = 8e((2d_1 - 1)o(g) - 1)^2(|G|d_2 - 1)^2$. Take $n \in \mathbb{N}$ as the least integer satisfying $n \ge \alpha^{\alpha}$, we claim that $\alpha^n r^{n-r} \le n^n$. We can consider r < n, since for r = n the inequality $\alpha^n \le n^n$ follows from $\alpha < n$. We consider two cases now.

Case 1: $r \leq \frac{n}{\alpha}$. In this case we have $\alpha r \leq n$ and hence $\alpha^n r^{n-r} \leq (\alpha r)^n \leq n^n$.

Case 2: $\frac{n}{\alpha} < r < n$. In this second case we have $n < \alpha r$, that is, there exists a positive real number v such that $\alpha r = n + v$. The minimality of n leads us to $r < \alpha^{\alpha}$. We also note that $\alpha^{v} > 1$. Therefore,

$$n^{n} \ge (\alpha^{\alpha})^{n} = \alpha^{n} (\alpha^{\alpha-1})^{n-r} (\alpha^{\alpha-1})^{r} = \alpha^{n} (\alpha^{\alpha-1})^{n-r} \alpha^{\alpha r-r}$$
$$= \alpha^{n} (\alpha^{\alpha-1})^{n-r} \alpha^{n-r+\nu} = \alpha^{n} (\alpha^{\alpha})^{n-r} \alpha^{\nu} > \alpha^{n} r^{n-r},$$

which finishes the second case and the proof of the claim.

Since $r \neq 0$, we have $r + 1 \leq 2r$ and hence

$$4^{n}e^{n}((2d_{1}-1)o(g)-1)^{2r}(|G|d_{2}-1)^{2(n-r)}(r+1)^{n-r}$$

$$\leq 8^{n}e^{n}((2d_{1}-1)o(g)-1)^{2n}(|G|d_{2}-1)^{2n}r^{n-r} \leq n^{n}$$

which implies in turn that

$$2^{n}((2d_{1}-1)o(g)-1)^{2r}(|G|d_{2}-1)^{2(n-r)}(r+1)^{n-r} \leq \frac{n^{n}}{e^{n}2^{n}} < \frac{n!}{2^{n}}.$$

The only case left is when r = 0; we note that for any positive integer $n \ge 4e(|G|d_2 - 1)^2$ (in particular for the same *n* chosen in the case $r \ne 0$) we have $4^n e^n (|G|d_2 - 1)^{2n} \le n^n$, and then it follows that

$$2^{n}(|G|d_{2}-1)^{2n} \leq \frac{n^{n}}{e^{n}2^{n}} < \frac{n!}{2^{n}}$$

Now it is enough to apply Lemma 2.33 in order to finish the proof.

Remark 2.35. If we take \mathcal{F} , \mathcal{L}_1 , \mathcal{L}_2 as defined in Example 2.19 for \mathcal{F} given by the free associative algebra $F\langle X \rangle$ without 1, then \mathcal{A} does not satisfy an identity in variables of homogeneous degree 1, but satisfies a graded semi-identity of the type Sp_d . However, this does not contradict our last theorem, since clearly \mathcal{C}_1 is not PI.

3 Images of graded polynomials on upper triangular matrices

In this chapter we will deal with the problem of classifying images of polynomials on algebras with additional structure. We will be mostly concerned with the upper triangular matrix algebra $UT_n(F)$ with entries in a field F. When the field F is clear in the context, then we will use the simpler notation UT_n instead of the previous one. The results from Section 3.2 to Section 3.6 are new and two papers were written from them. The first one is published in the Canadian Journal of Mathematics [27] in a joint work with Plamen Koshlukov. The second one is published on arXiv and has been submitted for publication in a specialized journal [24].

3.1 A review of gradings on UT_n

In this first section we will give a short review of group-gradings on the associative upper triangular matrix algebra. Thus let us start with the following definition.

Definition 3.1. Let G be a group. A G-grading Γ on UT_n is said elementary if all matrix units e_{ij} are homogeneous in this grading. Equivalently, we say that Γ is elementary if there exists a sequence $(g_1, \ldots, g_n) \in G^n$ such that $\deg(e_{ij}) = g_i^{-1}g_j$ for all i, j. The grading Γ is also called elementary induced by the sequence $(g_1, \ldots, g_n) \in G^n$.

The importance of elementary gradings on UT_n is given in the next theorem due to Valenti and Zaicev in 2007.

Theorem 3.2. [62] Let Γ be a G-grading on UT_n . Then Γ is graded isomorphic to some elementary G-grading.

Clearly, it is true that knowing the homogeneous degree of the matrices e_{ij} in an elementary grading gives us the homogeneous components of it. The next result shows us that in order to completely determine the elementary grading it is enough to know the homogeneous degree of the matrix units $e_{i,i+1}$, i = 1, ..., n-1, only.

Proposition 3.3. [20] Every elementary G-grading on UT_n is uniquely determined by the homogeneous degree of the elements in the first diagonal of a matrix in the Jacobson radical of UT_n .

We finish this quick review with two results also from [20] about the neutral component of elementary gradings on UT_n .

Lemma 3.4. Let Γ be an elementary grading on UT_n . Then the neutral component of Γ contains the subspace of all diagonal matrices.

Proposition 3.5. Let Γ be an elementary grading on UT_n . Then the neutral component of Γ is isomorphic (as F-algebras) to the direct sum

$$UT_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus UT_{n_k}$$

3.2 Graded central polynomials for upper triangular matrices

The main goal of this section is to prove that there exist no graded central polynomials for upper triangular matrices. It is well known that the algebra of upper block triangular matrices has no central polynomials in case the number of blocks is greater than 1, see [33, Lemma 1]. In particular, the upper triangular matrix algebra $UT_n(F)$ has no central polynomials.

Theorem 3.6. Let $UT_n = \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{A}_g$ be a *G*-grading on the algebra of upper triangular matrices over a field. If n > 1 then there exist no graded central polynomials for \mathcal{A} .

Proof. By Theorem 3.2 we have that \mathcal{A} is graded isomorphic to some elementary grading on UT_n . Hence we may reduce our problem to the elementary gradings. Now we assume that $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ is a polynomial with zero constant term, such that $f(\mathcal{A})$ is contained in $Z(\mathcal{A})$ (which can be identified with the ground field F). We write f as $f = f_1 + f_2$ where f_1 contains neutral variables only and f_2 has at least one non neutral variable in each of its monomials. Consider $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}_1$, and b_1, \ldots, b_l arbitrary elements of homogeneous degree $\neq 1$ that occur in f. Hence, in light of Lemma 3.4 we have that $f(a_1, \ldots, a_m, b_1, \ldots, b_l) = f_1(\overline{a}_1, \ldots, \overline{a}_m) + j$ where $j \in J$, the Jacobson radical of \mathcal{A} , and \overline{a}_i is the diagonal part of a_i . Since $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset F$, then j = 0 and hence $f(\mathcal{A}) = f_1(\mathcal{D})$, where \mathcal{D} denotes the subspace of diagonal matrices. Now, notice that if $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m \in F$ are arbitrary, then

$$f_1(\lambda_1 e_{11}, \dots, \lambda_m e_{11}) = f_1(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_m) e_{11}$$

Since $f_1(\mathcal{D}) \subset F$, we must have $f_1(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m) = 0$. Hence, for diagonal matrices $D_i = \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k^{(i)} e_{kk}$ we have

$$f_1(D_1, \dots, D_m) = \sum_{k=1}^n f_1(\lambda_k^{(1)}, \dots, \lambda_k^{(m)})e_{kk} = 0,$$

and thus $f(\mathcal{A}) = \{0\}$. We conclude the non existence of graded central polynomials for UT_n .

As an immediate consequence we have the following corollary.

Corollary 3.7. The space of scalar matrices can not be realized as the image of some multilinear graded polynomial on UT_n .

3.3 The neutral component of UT_n

We start this section by recalling the following definition from [31].

Definition 3.8. Let $f \in F\langle X \rangle$. We say that f has commutator degree r if

 $f \in \langle [x_1, x_2] \cdots [x_{2r-1}, x_{2r}] \rangle^T \quad and \quad f \notin \langle [x_1, x_2] \cdots [x_{2r+1}, x_{2r+2}] \rangle^T.$

We say that f has commutator degree 0 if f is not a consequence of the commutator.

We now recall a result due to Gargate and de Mello concerning the description of images of multilinear polynomials on upper triangular matrices.

Theorem 3.9. [31] Let F be an infinite field and let $f \in P_m$. Then $f(UT_n) = J^r$ if and only if f has commutator degree r.

A slight improvement of Theorem 3.9 was given shortly afterwards.

Theorem 3.10. [48] Let F be a field with at least n(n-1)/2 elements. Then the image of $f \in P_m$ on UT_n is J^r , where r is the commutator degree of f.

As a consequence of these results we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.11. Let F be a field with at least n(n-1)/2 elements. The image of a multilinear polynomial on $\mathcal{T} = UT_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus UT_{n_k}$ is either \mathcal{T} or some power of its Jacobson radical J.

Proof. Let $f \in F\langle X \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial. By [12, Proposition 5.60] we have

$$J = J_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus J_k,$$

where J_i stands for the Jacobson radical of UT_{n_i} , i = 1, ..., k. Now it is enough to apply Theorem 3.10 to see that

$$f(\mathcal{T}) = f(UT_{n_1}) \oplus \cdots \oplus f(UT_{n_k}) = J_1^r \oplus \cdots \oplus J_k^r = J^r,$$

where r is the commutator degree of f.

In light of Proposition 1.22, Proposition 3.5 and Proposition 3.11, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 3.12. The image of a multilinear polynomial in neutral variables on UT_n is a homogeneous vector subspace, regardless of the grading on UT_n .

3.4 Certain \mathbb{Z}_q -gradings

Apart from the last section of this chapter, we will adopt the following notation: the set of neutral variables in X_G will be denoted by $Y_G = \{y_1, y_2, ...\}$ and the nonneutral ones will be denoted by $Z_G = \{z_1, z_2, ...\}$. Of course we will make clear what the homogeneous degrees of the variables z_i 's are. We shall say that the variables of type yare even while those of type z are odd.

Throughout this section \mathcal{A} will denote the algebra of upper triangular matrices UT_n endowed with the elementary \mathbb{Z}_q -grading given by the following sequence in \mathbb{Z}_q^n

$$(\overline{0},\overline{1},\ldots,\overline{q-2},\underbrace{\overline{q-1},\overline{q-1},\ldots,\overline{q-1}}_{n-q+1 \text{ times}})$$

where $q \leq n$ are integers. Our goal is to give a complete description of the images of multilinear graded polynomials on \mathcal{A} .

One can see that for q = n we recover the natural \mathbb{Z}_n -grading on UT_n given by $\deg e_{ij} = j - i \pmod{n}$ for every $i \leq j$.

For l = 0, 1, ..., q - 1, let us describe the homogeneous component $\mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$. First of all we notice that the homogeneous components of \mathcal{A} are all given in blocks in the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & C \\ & B \end{pmatrix},$$

where $A \in UT_{q-1}(F)$, $B \in UT_{n-q+1}(F)$ and $C \in M_{q-1,n-q+1}(F)$. More precisely, the neutral component $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$ is such that A is a diagonal matrix, B is an arbitrary triangular matrix and C = 0. In other words, $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}} = F \oplus \cdots \oplus F \oplus UT_{n-q+1}(F)$. Concerning the homogeneous component $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{l}}$ where $l \neq 0$, we have A as matrix with non-zero entries in the l+1 diagonal only (the main diagonal is counted as the first one), B = 0 and C as a matrix with non-zero entries in the q-l row only. Thus a general element in $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{l}}$ has the form

In other words,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}} = \text{span}\{e_{i,i+l}, e_{q-l,j} \mid i = 1, \dots, q-l, j = q+1, \dots, n\}.$$

For $1 \leq r \leq n-q$ we also define the following homogeneous subspaces of $\mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$

$$\mathcal{B}_{\bar{l}\,r} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{q-l,j} \mid j = q+r, \dots, n\}.$$

46

Notice then that $\mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$ is just the subspace of $\mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$ whose entire l + 1 diagonal is zero and where the non-zero entries occur only in the q - l row (some entries in this row might be zero from left to the right, depending on the value of r).

An easy computation shows that the following are graded identities for \mathcal{A}

$$[y_1, y_2]z = 0 (3.1)$$

$$z_1 z_2 = 0$$
 (3.2)

$$[y_1, y_2] \cdots [y_{2(n-q+1)-1}, y_{2(n-q+1)}] = 0$$
(3.3)

where the variables y_i are neutral ones, z, z_1 , z_2 are non-neutral variables and $\deg(z_1) + \deg(z_2) = \overline{0}$.

We state several lemmas concerning the description of some graded polynomials on \mathcal{A} . In the upcoming lemmas, unless otherwise stated, we assume that the field F has at least n(n-1)/2 elements and $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ is a multilinear polynomial.

In the next two lemmas we will assume that

$$f = f(z_1, \ldots, z_l, y_{l+1}, \ldots, y_m)$$

where $\deg(z_i) = \overline{1}, 1 \leq i \leq l$. It is obvious that in this case one must have $f(\mathcal{A})$ as a subset of $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{l}}$. Modulo the identity (3.1) we rewrite the polynomial f as

$$f = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_l} y_{i_1} z_1 y_{i_2} z_2 \cdots y_{i_l} z_l g_{i_1,\dots,i_l} + h$$
(3.4)

where $y_{i_j} = y_{i_{j_1}} \cdots y_{i_{j_{k_j}}}$ is such that $i_{j_1} < \cdots < i_{j_{k_j}}$. Moreover g_{i_1,\ldots,i_l} is the polynomial obtained by permuting the neutral variables whose indices are different from either of i_1 , \ldots , i_l , and forming a linear combination of such monomials. Furthermore, h is the sum of polynomials that differ from the first summand of f by nontrivial permutations of the odd variables.

Among all polynomials g_{i_1,\ldots,i_l} (including those defined analogously in h), we choose one, say g, of least commutator degree r. Up to permuting the odd variables, we can assume that the polynomial g occurs in the first summand of f.

Hence, in case $1 \leq r \leq n-q$, we can improve the inclusion $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$ to $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$. Our goal is to prove that $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$ in case r = 0 and $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$ otherwise.

Lemma 3.13. Let $1 \leq l \leq q-1$. If $1 \leq r \leq n-q$, then $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$.

Proof. Let $\overline{g} = y_{i_1} z_1 y_{i_2} z_2 \cdots y_{i_l} z_l g$ be the non-zero summand of f written as above, where the commutator degree of g is r. We consider the following evaluations: the variables in y_{i_1} by $e_{q-l,q-l}$, the ones in y_{i_2} by $e_{q-l+1,q-l+1},\ldots$, and all variables in y_{i_l} by $e_{q-1,q-1}$. We also put $z_1 = e_{q-l,q-l+1}, z_2 = e_{q-l+1,q-l+2}, \ldots, z_{l-1} = e_{q-2,q-1}$, and $z_l = \sum_{k=q}^n w_k e_{q-1,k}$. Since

g has commutator degree r, Theorem 3.10 enables us to evaluate the even variables in g by matrices from

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & UT_{n-q+1} \end{pmatrix}$$

in order to obtain the matrix $e_{q,q+r} + e_{q+1,q+r+1} + \cdots + e_{n-r,n}$.

Note that the evaluations that we have considered allow us to reduce the study of the image of f to the polynomial \overline{g} . Under these evaluations we have

$$\overline{g} = (w_q e_{q-l,q} + w_{q+1} e_{q-l,q+1} + \dots + w_n e_{q-l,n})(e_{q,q+r} + e_{q+1,q+r+1} + \dots + e_{n-r,n})$$
$$= w_q e_{q-l,q+r} + w_{q+1} e_{q-l,q+r+1} + \dots + w_{n-r} e_{q-l,n}.$$

Taking a matrix $B \in \mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$, say $B = b_q e_{q-l,q+r} + \cdots + b_{n-r} e_{q-l,n}$ we can easily realize B as image of \bar{g} by choosing $w_j = b_j$, $j = q, \ldots, n-r$. Hence $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$.

Before analysing the case of zero commutator degree, let us recall the following elementary and well known result.

Lemma 3.14. Let F be a finite field with d elements and let $f = f(w_1, \ldots, w_m)$ be a non-zero commutative polynomial. If $\deg_{w_i}(f) \leq d-1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, m$, then there exist $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in F$ such that $f(a_1, \ldots, a_m) \neq 0$.

Corollary 3.15. Let F be a finite field with d elements and let

$$f_1(w_1\ldots,w_m),\ldots,f_{d-1}(w_1,\ldots,w_m)$$

be non-zero commutative polynomials. If $\deg_{w_i}(f_j) \leq 1$ for all i, j, then there exist $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in F$ such that

$$f_1(a_1,\ldots,a_m) \neq 0,\ldots, f_{d-1}(a_1,\ldots,a_m) \neq 0.$$

We also recall the following well-known lemma.

Lemma 3.16. Let $f \in F\langle X \rangle$ be multilinear. Then f has commutator degree 0 if and only if the sum of its coefficients is different from 0.

Lemma 3.17. If F is a field with at least n elements and r = 0, then $f(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$.

Proof. Denoting by \mathcal{D} the homogeneous subspace of diagonal matrices of \mathcal{A} , we consider the following homogeneous subalgebra of \mathcal{A} :

$$\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{D} \oplus \bigoplus_{1 \leq l \leq q-1} \mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}.$$

We will show that f(S) is exactly $\mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$ which is enough to conclude the lemma. Note that S still satisfies the identity (3.2) and it also satisfies $[y_1, y_2] = 0$. By the identity $[y_1, y_2] = 0$, we may write the polynomial \overline{g} (according to Lemma 3.13) as

$$\beta y_{i_1} z_1 y_{i_2} z_2 \cdots y_{i_l} z_l y_{i_{l+2}}$$

where β is the sum of all coefficients of the polynomial g and $y_{i_{l+1}}$ is the product of the variables of g in increasing order of the indices. Since r = 0, we get from Definition 3.8 and Lemma 3.16 that $\beta \neq 0$.

Now we write
$$f = f(z_1, \ldots, z_l, y_{l+1}, \ldots, y_m)$$
 as

$$f = \sum_{j=1}^{l} f_j$$

where f_j is the sum of all monomials of f such that the variable z_l is in the j-th position in relation to the odd variables.

For each $j = 1, \ldots, l$, we write

$$f_j = \sum_{\sigma \in S_l^{(j)}} f_{j,\sigma}$$

where $S_l^{(j)} = \{ \sigma \in S_l | \sigma(j) = l \}$, $f_{j,\sigma}$ is the sum of all monomials of f_j where the order of the odd variables is given by the permutation σ .

Taking
$$z_i = \sum_{k=1}^{q-1} w_k^{(i)} e_{k,k+1} + w_q^{(i)} e_{q-1,q+1} + \dots + w_{n-1}^{(i)} e_{q-1,n}$$
 and $y_j = \sum_{k=1}^n w_k^{(j)} e_{kk}$

we have

$$f_{l,id}(z_1,\ldots,z_l,y_{l+1},\ldots,y_m) = \sum_{k=1}^{q-l} p_k w_k^{(1)} w_{k+1}^{(2)} \cdots w_{k+l-1}^{(l)} e_{k,k+l} + p_{q-l+1} w_{q-l}^{(1)} \cdots w_{q-2}^{(l-1)} w_q^{(l)} e_{q-l,q+1} + \cdots + p_{n-l} w_{q-l}^{(1)} \cdots w_{q-2}^{(l-1)} w_{n-1}^{(l)} e_{q-l,m}$$

where p_k , $k = 1, \ldots, n-l$, are polynomials in the variables $w^{(l+1)}, \ldots, w^{(m)}$. We note that all polynomials p_k , $k = 1, \ldots, n-l$, are non-zero ones. Indeed, we just have to check that different monomials in $f_{l,id}$ give different monomials in p_k . To this end, note that if m_1 and m_2 are different monomials in $f_{l,id}$, then there exists some even variable y_j such that the quantity of preceding odd variables in relation to y_j is distinct in m_1 and m_2 . This gives us variables $w^{(j)}$ with different lower indices in the two monomials in p_k given by m_1 and m_2 , which proves our claim. Moreover, we note that every variable in each monomial of the polynomial p_k appears exactly once.

Since we have at most n-1 polynomials p_k , by Corollary 3.15 there exist evaluations of the even variables y_j by diagonal matrices D_j such that p_k take non-zero values simultaneously for all k. Hence

$$f_{l} = \sum_{k=1}^{q-l} \left(\sum_{\sigma \in S_{l}^{(l)}} \alpha_{\sigma} w_{k}^{(\sigma(1))} \cdots w_{k+l-2}^{(\sigma(l-1))} \right) w_{k+l-1}^{(l)} e_{k,k+l} + \left(\sum_{\sigma \in S_{l}^{(l)}} \alpha_{\sigma} w_{q-l}^{(\sigma(1))} \cdots w_{q-2}^{(\sigma(l-1))} \right) w_{q}^{(l)} e_{q-l,q+1} + \cdots + \left(\sum_{\sigma \in S_{l}^{(l)}} \alpha_{\sigma} w_{q-l}^{(\sigma(1))} \cdots w_{q-2}^{(\sigma(l-1))} \right) w_{n-1}^{(l)} e_{q-l,n}$$

with $\alpha_{id} \neq 0$ because the coefficients α are determined by the polynomials p_k . So the polynomials inside the brackets above are non-zero ones and each of their monomials have variables of degree one. Applying Corollary 3.15 once again we may evaluate the variables z_1, \ldots, z_{l-1} by matrices in $C_1, \ldots, C_{l-1} \in \mathcal{A}_{\overline{1}}$ such that all these polynomials take non-zero values on F. Denote by $\alpha_{l,k} \in F \setminus \{0\}, k = 1, \ldots, q - l$, the values of the polynomials inside the brackets after such evaluations.

Therefore

$$f(C_1, \dots, C_{l-1}, z_l, D_{l+1}, \dots, D_m)$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{q-l} \left(\alpha_{1,k} w_k^{(l)} + \dots + \alpha_{l-1,k} w_{k+l-2}^{(l)} + \alpha_{l,k} w_{k+l-1}^{(l)} \right) e_{k,k+l}$$

$$+ \left(\alpha_{1,q} w_{q-l}^{(l)} + \dots + \alpha_{l-1,q} w_{q-2}^{(l)} + \alpha_{l,q-l} w_q^{(l)} \right) e_{q-l,q+1}$$

$$+ \dots + \left(\alpha_{1,n-1} w_{q-l}^{(l)} + \dots + \alpha_{l-1,n-1} w_{q-2}^{(l)} + \alpha_{l,q-l} w_{n-1}^{(l)} \right) e_{q-l,n}$$

where $\alpha_{l,k} \neq 0$ for every $k = 1, \ldots, q - l$.

Then given a matrix
$$B = \sum_{k=1}^{q-l} b_k e_{k,k+l} + b_{q-l+1} e_{q-l,q+1} + \dots + b_{n-l} e_{q-l,n} \in \mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$$
 we

take

$$f(C_1, \dots, C_{l-1}, z_l, D_{l+1}, \dots, D_m) = B$$

and we obtain a linear system in the variables $w^{(l)}$ whose solution (not necessarily unique) can be found recursively.

Corollary 3.18. Let $f \in F\langle X | \mathbb{Z}_q \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial of non-neutral homogeneous degree. Then $f(\mathcal{A})$ is $\{0\}, \mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$ or $\mathcal{A}_{\bar{l}}$.

Proof. By Lemmas 3.13 and 3.17, we already know the image of f on \mathcal{A} in case the non-neutral variables on f are those of homogeneous degree $\overline{1}$ only. Let us now consider the general case. Modulo the graded identities (3.1), (3.2), (3.3), let f and g be as in the comments before Lemma 3.13 and let r be the commutator degree of g. Hence $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\overline{l},r}$ if $r \neq 0$ and $f(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{A}_{\overline{l}}$ otherwise. Recalling that the image is invariant under endomorphisms

of the free \mathbb{Z}_q -graded algebra (see Proposition 1.19(1)), the image of the polynomial f obtained from f by evaluating every non-neutral variable z_i of homogeneous degree \overline{k} by a product of k variables of homogeneous degree $\overline{1}$, is contained in $f(\mathcal{A})$. But the polynomial g defined for f (see the comments before Lemma 3.13) is the same as the one defined for \tilde{f} . This allows us to get $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{l},r} \subseteq \tilde{f}(\mathcal{A})$ in case $r \neq 0$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{l}} \subseteq \tilde{f}(\mathcal{A})$ otherwise. \Box

The corollary above allows us to state the following definition.

Definition 3.19. Let $f \in F\langle X | \mathbb{Z}_q \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial. We say that f has rightcommutator-degree r modulo $Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\mathcal{A})$ if r is the minimal commutator degree of all those polynomials of the form $g_{i_1,...,i_l}$ (include those in h) appearing in f modulo $Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\mathcal{A})$ in (3.4).

We notice that the right-commutator-degree modulo $Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\mathcal{A})$ of a multilinear polynomial is well-defined by the image of f on \mathcal{A} via Corollary 3.18.

Theorem 3.20. Let F be a field with at least n(n-1)/2 elements, let $UT_n = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_q} \mathcal{A}_k$ be endowed with the elementary \mathbb{Z}_q -grading given by the sequence $(\overline{0}, \overline{1}, \ldots, \overline{q-2}, \overline{q-1}, \ldots, \overline{q-1})$ and let $f \in F\langle X | \mathbb{Z}_q \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial. Then $f(UT_n)$ is

- $\{0\}$, if f is a graded polynomial identity for UT_n ;
- J^r, if f is a polynomial in neutral variables and has commutator-degree r, where J stands for the Jacobson radical of A₀;
- $\mathcal{B}_{\bar{l},r}$, if f has right-commutator-degree r modulo $Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(UT_n)$, $r = 1, \ldots, n-q$;
- $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{l}}$, if f has right-commutator-degree 0 modulo $Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(UT_n)$.

In particular, the image is always a homogeneous vector subspace.

Proof. The proof is clear from Proposition 3.11 and Corollary 3.18.

Remark 3.21. Considering similar computations one can easily see that the result is also valid for the elementary \mathbb{Z}_q -grading defined by the sequence $(\overline{q-1}, \ldots, \overline{q-1}, \overline{q-2}, \ldots, \overline{1}, \overline{0})$, where we have n-q+1 copies of $\overline{q-1}$ in the beginning of the sequence.

In the next corollary we are assuming that F is a field of characteristic zero and $\mathcal{A} = UT_n$ is endowed with the elementary \mathbb{Z}_q -grading given by the sequence $(\overline{0}, \overline{1}, \ldots, \overline{q-2}, \overline{q-1}, \ldots, \overline{q-1}).$

Corollary 3.22. The $T_{\mathbb{Z}_q}$ -ideal $Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\mathcal{A})$ is generated by the graded identities (3.1), (3.2), and (3.3).

Proof. Let $f \in Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\mathcal{A})$. Since the ground field has characteristic zero, we may assume that f is multilinear. Notice that in the proof of Theorem 3.20 and in the lemmas that precede it, we have shown that if f is not a consequence of the identities (3.1), (3.2), and (3.3), then $f(\mathcal{A}) \neq \{0\}$. In other words, if $f \in Id_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\mathcal{A})$, then f is a consequence of the aforementioned identities.

We recall that in case q = n we have the natural \mathbb{Z}_n -grading on UT_n .

Corollary 3.23. Let F be a field with at least n elements, let UT_n be endowed with the natural \mathbb{Z}_n -grading and let $f \in F\langle X | \mathbb{Z}_n \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial. Then the image of f on UT_n is either zero or some homogeneous component.

Proof. It follows from the proof of Lemma 3.17.

Remark 3.24. Notice that the same result also holds if we consider the natural \mathbb{Z} -grading on UT_n . Analogous results hold for the lower triangular matrix algebra LT_n as well (we will use this remark in the next section).

3.5 Traceless matrices

As an application of the results obtained in the previous section, we now give a sufficient condition for the subspace of the traceless matrices to be contained in the image of a multilinear polynomial on the full matrix algebra.

We start by recalling the following result from [5].

Theorem 3.25. [5] Let D be a division ring, $n \ge 2$ an integer, and $A \in M_n(D)$ a non-central matrix. Then A is similar (conjugate) to a matrix in $M_n(D)$ with at most one non-zero entry on the main diagonal. In particular, if A has trace zero, then it is similar to a matrix in $M_n(D)$ with only zeros on the main diagonal.

Consider the natural \mathbb{Z} -grading on $M_n(F) = \bigoplus_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} M_n(F)_r$ given by

$$M_n(F)_r = \begin{cases} \text{span}\{e_{k,k+r} \mid k = 1, \dots, n-r\}, & \text{if } 0 \le r \le n-1 \\ \text{span}\{e_{k-r,k} \mid k = 1, \dots, n+r\}, & \text{if } -n+1 \le r \le -1 \\ \{0\}, & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

Theorem 3.26. Let $n \ge 2$ be an integer, let F be a field with at least (n-1)n + 1elements where char(F) does not divide n, and let $f \in F\langle X \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial. If $f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z) \notin \langle [y_1, y_2] \rangle^{T_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ for every non-neutral variable z, then $f(M_n(F))$ contains $sl_n(F)$.

Proof. Since char(F) does not divide n, then we have that any non-zero traceless matrix is non-central. Using further that $f(M_n(F))$ is invariant under automorphisms of $M_n(F)$, by Theorem 3.25 it is enough to show that $f(M_n(F))$ contains all matrices with zero diagonal. Let A be a zero diagonal matrix and write A as the sum of its homogeneous components (with respect to the \mathbb{Z} -grading on $M_n(F)$ given by (3.5))

$$A = \sum_{i=-n+1}^{-1} A_i + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} A_i$$

where $A_i = \sum_{k=1}^{n+i} a_{k-i,k} e_{k-i,k}$ for $i = -n+1, \dots, -1$ and $A_i = \sum_{k=1}^{n-i} a_{k,k+i} e_{k,k+i}$ for $i = 1, \dots, n-1$.

By hypothesis and from Corollary 3.23 we have that $f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z^{(i)})$ is not a graded polynomial identity for UT_n with the natural \mathbb{Z} -grading, for every variable $z^{(i)}$ of homogeneous degree i where $1 \leq i \leq n-1$.

We now consider the following evaluations on generic matrices: $y_j = \sum_{k=1}^n w_k^{(j)} e_{kk}$

for all j = 1, ..., m - 1 and $z^{(i)} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-i} w_k^{(m,i)} e_{k,k+i}$.

Hence

$$f(y_1, \dots, y_{m-1}, z^{(i)}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-i} p_{k,i} w_k^{(m,i)} e_{k,k+i}$$

where $p_{k,i}$ is a polynomial in the variables $w_k^{(j)}$. Since $f \notin Id_{\mathbb{Z}}(UT_n)$, Corollary 3.23 gives us that the image of $f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z^{(i)})$ on UT_n is exactly $(UT_n)_i$. Hence all $p_{k,i}$ are non-zero polynomials. Moreover notice that $p_{k,i}$ is such that all its monomials are multilinear ones.

Analogously, we also have that $f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z^{(i)})$ is not a graded polynomial identity for the lower triangular matrix algebra LT_n endowed with the natural \mathbb{Z} -grading, for $i = -n + 1, \ldots, -1$. Therefore

$$f(y_1, \dots, y_{m-1}, z^{(i)}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-i} q_{k,i} w_k^{(m,-i)} e_{k+i,k}$$

where $z^{(i)} = \sum_{k=1}^{n+i} w_k^{(m,-i)} e_{k-i,k}$ and $q_{k,i}$ are non-zero commutative polynomials with multilinear monomials.

The number of polynomials $p_{k,i}$ and $q_{k,i}$ is exactly (n-1)n. We now apply Corollary 3.15 to get an evaluation of all variables $w_k^{(j)}$ such that the polynomials $p_{k,i}$ and $q_{k,i}$ assume simultaneously non-zero values in F. Such evaluations give us diagonal matrices D_1, \ldots, D_{m-1} such that

$$f(D_1, \dots, D_{m-1}, z^{(i)}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-i} \alpha_{i,k} w_k^{(m,i)} e_{k,k+i}$$

where $\alpha_{i,k}$ are non-zero scalars. Thus each matrix A_i can be realized as $f(D_1, \ldots, D_{m-1}, B_i)$ for a suitable matrix $B_i \in (UT_n)_i$, for every $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$. Similarly we also have that each matrix A_i can be realized as $f(D_1, \ldots, D_{m-1}, C_i)$ for a suitable matrix $C_i \in (LT_n)_i$, for all $i = -n + 1, \ldots, -1$. Hence

$$A = \sum_{i=-n+1}^{-1} A_i + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} A_i = \sum_{i=-n+1}^{-1} f(D_1, \dots, D_{m-1}, C_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} f(D_1, \dots, D_{m-1}, B_i)$$

and it is enough to use the linearity of f in one variable to get $A \in f(M_n(F))$.

Corollary 3.27. Let char(F) = 0 and consider the multilinear polynomial

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_m) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{m-1}} \alpha_{\sigma}[x_m, x_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, x_{\sigma(m-1)}] \in F\langle X \rangle$$

where $\sum_{\sigma \in S_{m-1}} \alpha_{\sigma} \neq 0$. Then $f(M_n(F)) = sl_n(F)$.

Proof. Consider the polynomial

$$f(y_1,\ldots,y_{m-1},z_m)\in F\langle X_{\mathbb{Z}}\rangle.$$

In light of the Jacobi identity, one can see that modulo the $T_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -ideal $\langle [y_1, y_2] \rangle^{T_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ we have

$$[z_m, y_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, y_{\sigma(m-1)}] = [z_m, y_1, \dots, y_{m-1}]$$

for all $\sigma \in S_{m-1}$. Hence, modulo $\langle [y_1, y_2] \rangle^{T_{\mathbb{Z}}}$, we can write f as

$$f = (\sum_{\sigma \in S_{m-1}} \alpha_{\sigma})[z_m, y_1, \dots, y_{m-1}].$$

Hence, for j = 1, ..., m - 1 we take $D_j = \sum_{i=1}^n ie_{ii}$ and $D_m \in M_n(F)$ a non-zero non-neutral homogeneous element concerning the grading given in (3.5), and now one can easily check that

$$f(D_1,\ldots,D_{m-1},D_m)=(\sum_{\sigma\in S_{m-1}}\alpha_{\sigma})D_m\neq 0.$$

This implies in $f \notin \langle [y_1, y_2] \rangle^{T_{\mathbb{Z}}}$. Now it is enough to apply Theorem 3.26 to get $sl_n(F) \subset f(M_n(F))$. Since the opposite inclusion is trivial, we get the equality. \Box

We notice that the corollary above recovers the Shoda's result [56] about commutators on the full matrix algebra.

3.6 Small dimension cases

During this section we will deal with the images of multilinear graded polynomials on upper triangular matrices of small dimension and endowed with different additional structures. We will see that a way clearer picture can be obtained when we have small dimension. Precisely in the associative and Jordan settings the image is always a homogeneous vector space, regardless of the grading. However in the involution case we will see that there exist multilinear polynomials such that their images on the upper triangular matrix algebra is not a vector space.

3.6.1 The associative setting

Throughout this section F will denote an arbitrary field.

Let us start with the case of 2×2 matrices. This is actually an easy consequence of Proposition 1.22.

Theorem 3.28. Let $UT_2 = \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{A}_g$ be some grading on \mathcal{A} and let $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ be a multilinear graded polynomial. Then $f(\mathcal{A})$ is a homogeneous subspace of \mathcal{A} .

Proof. By Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 1.22, it is enough to consider images of multilinear graded polynomials on elementary gradings only. We notice that just two elementary G-gradings can be defined on $\mathcal{A} = UT_2$. Indeed, an elementary grading on UT_2 is completely determined by the homogeneous degree of e_{12} . If $\deg(e_{12}) = 1$, then we have the trivial grading, and we apply Theorem 3.10. Hence we assume $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}\}$, where $g \neq 1$. In this grading the images of multilinear polynomials in neutral variables are handled by Lemma 3.16 and Proposition 1.19 (2). Since $\mathcal{A}_g^2 = \{0\}$, it is enough to consider multilinear polynomials in one variable of homogeneous degree g and all remaining variables of neutral degree. In this case the image is contained in \mathcal{A}_g and by Proposition 1.19 (3) we are done.

Now we prove an analogous fact to Theorem 3.28 with $\mathcal{A} = UT_3$ instead of UT_2 . From now on in this subsection we assume that \mathcal{A} is endowed with some elementary G-grading given by a tuple $(g_1, g_2) \in G^2$. Hence $g_1 = \deg(e_{12}), g_2 = \deg(e_{23}),$ and $g_3 := g_1g_2 = \deg(e_{13}).$

Hence the elementary gradings on UT_3 are exactly the ones given by the following relations.

- (I) $\{1\} \cap \{g_1, g_2, g_3\} \neq \emptyset$.
 - (a) $g_1 = g_2 = 1$, which implies $g_3 = 1$;

- (b) $g_1 = 1$ and $g_2 \neq 1$, which implies $g_3 = g_2$;
- (c) $g_2 = 1$ and $g_1 \neq 1$, which implies $g_3 = g_1$;
- (d) $g_3 = 1, g_1 \neq 1$ and $g_1 = g_2$;
- (e) $g_3 = 1, g_1 \neq 1, g_2 \neq 1$ and $g_1 \neq g_2$.

(II) $\{1\} \cap \{g_1, g_2, g_3\} = \emptyset$.

- (a) $1, g_1, g_2, g_3$ are pairwise distinct elements;
- (b) $g_1 = g_2 \neq g_3$.

In the following lemmas we discuss the grading on UT_3 determined by each relation above and we give a precise description of the respective image of a multilinear graded polynomial on such a graded algebra.

Lemma 3.29. Let UT_3 be endowed with the grading (I)(b). Then $f(UT_3)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. We denote $g_2 = g$, then we have $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{12}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{13}, e_{23}\}$. We notice that $\mathcal{A}_g^2 = \{0\}$ and hence we only need to analyse multilinear polynomials in at most one variable of homogeneous degree g.

The case when f is a multilinear polynomial in neutral variables is settled by Lemma 3.16 and Proposition 1.19(2).

Now we consider f as a multilinear polynomial in one non-neutral variable and m-1 neutral ones. Since \mathcal{A} satisfies the graded identity $z[y_1, y_2] = 0$, then modulo this identity we write f as

$$\sum_{\leqslant i_1 < \cdots < i_k \leqslant m-1} h_{i_1, \dots, i_k} z_m y_{i_1} \cdots y_{i_k}.$$

If all polynomials h_{i_1,\ldots,i_k} have commutator degree different from 0, then $f(UT_3) \subset \text{span}\{e_{13}\}$ and then we apply Proposition 1.19(3). Otherwise we may assume without loss of generality that $h_{1,\ldots,k}$ has commutator degree 0. Then we perform the following evaluations: $y_1 = \cdots = y_k = e_{33}, y_j = e_{11} + e_{22}$ for every $j \notin \{1,\ldots,k\}$, and $z_m = \alpha^{-1}(a_1e_{13} + a_2e_{23})$, where α is the sum of the coefficients of $h_{1,\ldots,k}$. Notice that under such an evaluation we have $a_1e_{13} + a_2e_{23} \in f(UT_3)$ which proves that $f(UT_3) = \mathcal{A}_g$. \Box

Lemma 3.30. Let UT_3 be endowed with the grading (I)(c). Then $f(UT_3)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. Notice that $\mathcal{A}_1 = \text{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{23}\}, \mathcal{A}_{g_1} = \text{span}\{e_{12}, e_{13}\}$ and also that \mathcal{A} satisfies the identities $[y_1, y_2]z = 0$ and $z_1z_2 = 0$. Thus, the proof is similar to the one for (I)(b).

Lemma 3.31. Let UT_3 be endowed with the grading (I)(e). Then $f(UT_3)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. Here we must have $\mathcal{A}_1 = \text{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{13}\}, \mathcal{A}_{g_1} = \text{span}\{e_{12}\}, \mathcal{A}_{g_2} = \text{span}\{e_{23}\}.$ Notice that $\mathcal{A}_{g_1}^2 = \mathcal{A}_{g_2}^2 = \{0\}, \mathcal{A}_{g_2}\mathcal{A}_{g_1} = \{0\}, \text{ and } \mathcal{A}_{g_1}\mathcal{A}_{g_2} \subset \text{span}\{e_{13}\}.$

The case when f is a multilinear polynomial in neutral variables can be treated as in the grading (I)(b). Hence we may consider f is a multilinear polynomial in: one variable of degree g_1 (respectively g_2) and m-1 neutral variables, or in one variable of degree g_1 , one of degree g_2 and m-2 neutral ones. In each of these situations we have that $f(UT_3)$ is contained in a one-dimensional space and we apply Proposition 1.19(3).

Lemma 3.32. Let UT_3 be endowed with the grading (II)(a). Then $f(UT_3)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. We have $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}\}$, $\mathcal{A}_{g_1} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}\}$, $\mathcal{A}_{g_2} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{23}\}$, and $\mathcal{A}_{g_3} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{13}\}$. The only nontrivial relation among the non-neutral homogeneous components is given by $\mathcal{A}_{g_1}\mathcal{A}_{g_2} = \mathcal{A}_{g_3}$.

The case of f in neutral variables is the same as for the grading (I)(b).

Since the non-neutral components are one-dimensional, then the image of a multilinear polynomial in one non-neutral variable and m-1 neutral ones is always zero or the respective homogeneous component.

In case f has one variable of homogeneous degree g_1 , one of degree g_2 and m-2 neutral ones then the image is contained in \mathcal{A}_{g_2} , and we are done.

Lemma 3.33. Let UT_3 be endowed with the grading (II)(b). Then $f(UT_3)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. Note that $\mathcal{A}_1 = \text{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}\}, \mathcal{A}_{g_1} = \text{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{g_3} = \text{span}\{e_{13}\}$. We only need to consider the case when f is a multilinear polynomial in m-1 neutral variables and one of homogeneous degree g_1 , since the remaining cases can be treated as above. We write $f = \sum_{j=1}^{m} f_j$ where f_j is the sum of all monomials from f which contain the variable z_m in the j-th position. Hence, modulo $[y_1, y_2] = 0$ we have

$$f_j = \sum_{1 \le i_1 < \dots < i_{j-1} \le m-1} \alpha_{i_1,\dots,i_{j-1}} y_{i_1} \cdots y_{i_{j-1}} z_m y_{k_1} \cdots y_{k_{m-j}}$$

where $k_1, \ldots, k_{m-j} \in \{1, \ldots, m-1\}$ are such that $k_1 < \cdots < k_{m-j}$. We evaluate $y_i = w_1^{(i)} e_{11} + e_{22} + w_3^{(i)} e_{33}$ and $z_m = w_1^{(m)} e_{12} + w_2^{(m)} e_{23}$. Thus $f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z_m)$ is

given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & p_1(w_1^{(1)}, \dots, w_1^{(m-1)})w_1^{(m)} & 0 \\ & 0 & p_2(w_3^{(1)}, \dots, w_3^{(m-1)})w_2^{(m)} \\ & & 0 & \end{pmatrix}$$

where $p_1(w_1^{(1)}, \ldots, w_1^{(m-1)}) = \sum_{j=1}^m \sum_{1 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_{j-1} \le m-1} \alpha_{i_1, \ldots, i_{j-1}} w_1^{(i_1)} \cdots w_1^{(i_{j-1})}$ and p_2 is given analogously.

We claim that p_1 takes non-zero values on F. Indeed, assume that p_1 is a polynomial identity for F and denote $e_j = \sum_{1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_{j-1} \leq m-1} \alpha_{i_1, \dots, i_{j-1}} w_1^{(i_1)} \cdots w_1^{(i_{j-1})}$. Hence

$$p_1 = \sum_{j=1}^m e_j.$$

Notice that e_1 is a commutative polynomial and taking $w_1^{(1)} = \cdots = w_1^{(m-1)} = 0$ we have $e_1 = 0$. Taking $w_1^{(l)} = 1$ and zero for the remaining values w_1 's we have $\alpha_l = 0$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, m-1\}$ and hence $e_2 = 0$. Now assume $e_l = 0$ for all l < k, and we shall prove that $e_k = 0$. For each chosen i_1, \ldots, i_{k-1} we take $w_1^{(r)} = 0$ for all $r \notin \{i_1, \ldots, i_{k-1}\}$, then $e_l = 0$ for all l > k and $e_k = \alpha_{i_1,\ldots,i_{k-1}} w_1^{(i_1)} \cdots w_1^{(i_{k-1})}$. Then we take $w_1^{(i_1)} = \cdots = w_1^{(i_{k-1})} = 1$ and we conclude that $\alpha_{i_1,\ldots,i_{k-1}} = 0$. Hence $p_1 = 0$, which is a contradiction. An analogous claim holds for p_2 . Therefore it is enough to use the variables $w_1^{(m)}$ and $w_2^{(m)}$ to realize any matrix in \mathcal{A}_{g_1} in the image of f on UT_3 .

Lemma 3.34. Let UT_3 be endowed with the grading (I)(d). Then $f(UT_3)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. We denote $g = g_1$ and notice that $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{13}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\}$. Then $\mathcal{A}_g^2 \subset \operatorname{span}\{e_{13}\}$ and \mathcal{A} satisfies the identities $z[y_1, y_2] = 0$ and $[y_1, y_2]z = 0$. The case when f has one variable of homogeneous degree g and m-1 neutral variables can be treated as in the previous lemma. The remaining cases are considered as above.

Hence we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.35. Let F be an arbitrary field, let $UT_3 = \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} A_g$ be some nontrivial grading on \mathcal{A} , and let $f \in F\langle X_G \rangle$ be a multilinear graded polynomial. Then $f(\mathcal{A})$ is a homogeneous subspace of \mathcal{A} . If $|F| \ge 3$ and \mathcal{A} is equipped with the trivial grading, then the image is also a subspace.

Proof. The proof is clear from the previous lemmas and Proposition 1.22.

3.6.2 The Jordan setting

Throughout this subsection we assume that F is a field of characteristic different from 2 and we denote by UJ_n the Jordan algebra of the upper triangular matrices with product $a \circ b = (ab + ba)/2$. Unlike the associative setting, gradings on UJ_n are not only elementary ones. Actually, a second kind of gradings also occurs on UJ_n , the so-called mirror type gradings, and we define these below. First of all let us introduce the following notation. Let i, m be non negative integers and set

 $E_{i:m}^+ = e_{i,i+m} + e_{n-i-m+1,n-i+1}$ and $E_{i:m}^- = e_{i,i+m} - e_{n-i-m+1,n-i+1}$.

Definition 3.36. A G-grading on UJ_n is called of mirror type if the matrices $E_{i:m}^+$ and $E_{i:m}^-$ are homogeneous, and $\deg(E_{i:m}^+) \neq \deg(E_{i:m}^-)$.

We recall the following theorem from [46].

Theorem 3.37. The G-gradings on the Jordan algebra UJ_n are, up to a graded isomorphism, elementary or of mirror type. Moreover the support of a G-grading on UJ_2 is always commutative.

In particular we have the following classification of the gradings on UJ_2 .

Proposition 3.38. Up to a graded isomorphism, the gradings on UJ_2 are given by $UJ_2 = \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{A}_g$ where

(I) elementary ones

- (a) trivial grading;
- (b) $\mathcal{A}_1 = Fe_{11} + Fe_{22}, \ \mathcal{A}_g = Fe_{12},$

(II) mirror type ones

(a) $\mathcal{A}_1 = F(e_{11} + e_{22}), \ \mathcal{A}_g = F(e_{11} - e_{22}) + Fe_{12};$ (b) $\mathcal{A}_1 = F(e_{11} + e_{22}) + Fe_{12}, \ \mathcal{A}_g = F(e_{11} - e_{22});$ (c) $\mathcal{A}_1 = F(e_{11} + e_{22}), \ \mathcal{A}_g = F(e_{11} - e_{22}), \ \mathcal{A}_h = Fe_{12},$

where $g \in G$ is an element of order 2.

Next we describe precisely the image of a multilinear graded Jordan polynomial f on some gradings considered above.

Lemma 3.39. Let UJ_2 be endowed with the grading (I)(b) and let $f \in \mathcal{J}(X_G)$ be a multilinear polynomial. Then $f(UJ_2)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. We start with a multilinear polynomial f in m neutral variables. We evaluate each variable y_i to an arbitrary diagonal matrix D_i . Therefore each monomial \mathbf{m} in f is evaluated to $\beta D_1 \cdots D_m$, where $\beta \in F$ is the coefficient of \mathbf{m} . Hence

$$f(D_1,\ldots,D_m)=\alpha D_1\cdots D_m$$

where $\alpha \in F$ is the sum of all coefficients of f. In case $\alpha = 0$, then f = 0 is a graded polynomial identity for UJ_2 , otherwise we can take $D_2 = \cdots = D_m = I_2$ and use D_1 in order to obtain every diagonal matrix in the image of f on UJ_2 .

Since UJ_2 satisfies the graded identity $z_1z_2 = 0$ such that $\deg(z_1) = \deg(z_2) = g$, then we only need to analyse the case where f is a multilinear polynomial in m-1 neutral variables and one of homogeneous degree g. Obviously we must have $f(UJ_2) \subset \mathcal{A}_g$ and this homogeneous component is one-dimensional, then we are done.

For the grading (II)(a) we recall the following lemma from [34] applied to multilinear polynomials. If no brackets are given in a product, we assume these left-normed, that is abc = (ab)c.

Lemma 3.40. Let UJ_2 be endowed with the grading (II)(a) and let $f \in \mathcal{J}(X_G)_g$ be a multilinear polynomial. Then, modulo the graded identities of UJ_2 , we can write f as a linear combination of monomials of the type

$$y_1 \cdots y_l z_{i_0}(z_{i_1} z_{i_2}) \cdots (z_{i_{2m-1}} z_{i_{2m}}), 1 < \cdots < l, i_1 < i_2 < i_3 < \cdots < i_m < i_{m+1}, i_0 > 0.$$

Lemma 3.41. Let UJ_2 be endowed with the grading (II)(a). Then $f(UJ_2)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. Since dim $(\mathcal{A}_1) = 1$ it follows that if the image of a multilinear polynomial on UJ_2 is contained in \mathcal{A}_1 then it must be either $\{0\}$ or \mathcal{A}_1 .

Now we consider a multilinear polynomial f in homogeneous variables of degree 1 and g such that deg(f) = g. Let $\mathbf{m} = y_1 \cdots y_l z_{i_0}(z_{i_1} z_{i_2}) \cdots (z_{i_{2m-1}} z_{i_{2m}})$ be a monomial as in Lemma 3.40. We notice that the main diagonal of a matrix in $\mathbf{m}(UJ_2)$ is such that the entry (k, k) is given by $(-1)^{k+1}a$, where a is the product of the entries at position (1, 1) of all matrices y and z. Hence every matrix in $f(UJ_2)$ is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \cdot a & * \\ & -\alpha \cdot a \end{pmatrix}$$

where α is the sum of all coefficients of f.

In case $\alpha = 0$, then $f(UJ_2) \subset \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}\}$ and then the image is completely determined.

We consider now $\alpha \neq 0$. Our goal is to prove that $f(UJ_2) = \mathcal{A}_g$. Without loss of generality, we assume that the non-zero scalar occurs in the monomial $y_1 \cdots y_l z_0(z_1 z_2) \cdots (z_{2m-1} z_{2m})$. Then we take the following evaluation: $y_1 = \cdots = y_l = I_2$, $z_0 = w_1(e_{11} - e_{22}) + w_2 e_{12}$ and $z_i = e_{11} - e_{22}$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, 2m$, where w_1, w_2 are commutative variables. Therefore

$$f(y_1,\ldots,y_l,z_0,\ldots,z_{2m}) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha w_1 & w_2 \\ & -\alpha w_1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Since $\alpha \neq 0$, it follows that $f(UJ_2) = \mathcal{A}_g$.

Now we consider the grading (II)(b) and we recall another lemma from [34] that we state in the following.

Lemma 3.42. Let $f \in \mathcal{J}(X)_1$ be a multilinear polynomial. Then, modulo the graded identities of UJ_2 , f can be written as a linear combination of monomials of the form

- 1. $(y_{i_1}\cdots y_{i_r})(z_{j_1}\cdots z_{j_l});$
- 2. $(((y_i z_{j_1}) z_{j_2}) y_{i_1} \cdots y_{i_r}) z_{j_3} \cdots z_{j_l},$

where $l \ge 0$ is even, $r \ge 0$, $i_1 < \cdots < i_r$, and $z_{j_1} < z_{j_2} < z_{j_3} < \cdots < z_{j_l}$.

Lemma 3.43. Let UJ_2 be endowed with the grading (II)(b). Then $f(UJ_2)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. We start with a multilinear polynomial f in m neutral variables. Notice that UJ_2 satisfies the graded identity $(y_1, y_2, y_3) = 0$. Hence, modulo the graded identities of UJ_2 we can write f as

$$f = \alpha y_1 \cdots y_m,$$

where α is the sum of the coefficients in f. If $\alpha = 0$, then f is a graded identity of UJ_2 and we are done. In case $\alpha \neq 0$ it is enough to take $y_2 = \cdots = y_m = I_2$ and use y_1 to realize an arbitrary element from \mathcal{A}_1 in the image of f. This implies in $f(UJ_2) = \mathcal{A}_1$.

Now we consider a multilinear polynomial f which has at least one variable of homogeneous degree g. In case $\deg(f) = g$, then $f(UJ_2)$ is completely determined, since $\dim(\mathcal{A}_g) = 1$. So we assume $\deg(f) = 1$. In case f is a multilinear polynomial in variables of homogeneous degree g, then $f(UJ_2)$ is contained in the vector space of the scalar matrices, and therefore the image is completely determined. Hence we assume further that f has at least one variable of neutral degree and let f be a multilinear polynomial in lneutral variables y_1, \ldots, y_l , and m - l variables z_{l+1}, \ldots, z_m of homogeneous degree g. Then by Lemma 3.42, we write f as

$$f = \alpha_1 (y_1 \cdots y_l) (z_{l+1} \cdots z_m) + \sum_{i=1}^l \alpha_{i+1} (((y_i z_{l+1}) z_{l+2}) y_1 \cdots \hat{y_i} \cdots y_l) z_{l+3} \cdots z_m$$

Here \hat{y}_i means that the variable y_i does not appear in the product $y_1 \cdots \hat{y}_i \cdots y_l$.

We replace $y_i = w_1^{(i)}(e_{11} + e_{22}) + w_2^{(i)}e_{12}$ and $z_j = w_1^{(j)}(e_{11} - e_{22})$, where the *w*'s are commuting variables. Notice that the Jordan product of two matrices y_1 and y_2 is given by $y_1 \cdot y_2$ where the dot \cdot stands for the usual product of matrices. On the other hand, the usual product of *n* matrices y_1, \ldots, y_n is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_n^{(n)} & w \\ & & w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_n^{(n)} \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$w = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_1 < \dots < i_{n-1} \le n \\ i_n \in \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus \{i_1, \dots, i_{n-1}\}}} w_1^{(i_1)} \cdots w_1^{(i_{n-1})} w_2^{(i_n)},$$

as one can see by induction on n. Hence the image of the monomial

$$\alpha_1(y_1\cdots y_l)(z_{l+1}\cdots z_m)$$

on UJ_2 is equal to

$$\alpha_1 \begin{pmatrix} w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} & \sum_{\substack{1 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_{l-1} \le l \\ i_l \in \{1, \dots, l\} \setminus \{i_1, \dots, i_{l-1}\}}} w_1^{(i_1)} \cdots w_1^{(i_{l-1})} w_2^{(i_l)} w_1^{(l+1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ &$$

while the image of

$$\alpha_{i+1}(((y_i z_{l+1}) z_{l+2}) y_1 \cdots \widehat{y}_i \cdots y_l) z_{l+3} \cdots z_m$$

on UJ_2 is equal to

$$\alpha_{i+1} \begin{pmatrix} w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} & \\ & w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Therefore the main diagonal of $f(y_1, \ldots, y_l, z_{l+1}, \ldots, z_m)$ is given by

$$\alpha w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} (e_{11} + e_{22})$$

where α is the sum of all coefficients in f. The entry at position (1, 2) is given by

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i_1 < \dots < i_{l-1} \leq l \\ i_l \in \{1,\dots,l\} \setminus \{i_1,\dots,i_{l-1}\}}} w_1^{(i_1)} \cdots w_1^{(i_{l-1})} w_2^{(i_l)} w_1^{(l+1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} e_{12}.$$

If $\alpha = 0$, then $f(UJ_2) \subset \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}\}$ and we are done. We thus assume $\alpha \neq 0$ and we notice that we may also assume $\alpha_1 \neq 0$, otherwise $f(UJ_2) \subset \operatorname{span}\{e_{11} + e_{22}\}$ which is an one-dimensional subspace.

We therefore take

•
$$w_1^{(i)} = 1$$
 for $i = 2, \dots, m;$

• $w_2^{(i)} = 0$ for $i = 2, \dots, l$.

These evaluations imply that

$$f(y_1, e_{11} + e_{22}, \dots, e_{11} + e_{22}, e_{11} - e_{22}, \dots, e_{11} - e_{22}) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha w_1^{(1)} & \alpha_1 w_2^{(1)} \\ & \alpha w_1^{(1)} \end{pmatrix}$$

Since both α and α_1 are non-zero scalars, then we can realize any matrix from \mathcal{A}_1 in the image of f on UJ_2 , that is, $f(UJ_2) = \mathcal{A}_1$.

Theorem 3.44. Let $UJ_2 = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{A}_g$ be a G-grading and let $f \in \mathcal{J}(X_G)$ be a multilinear graded Jordan polynomial. Then $f(UJ_2)$ is a homogeneous subspace.

Proof. We first consider a nontrivial grading on UJ_2 . By Remark 1.23 we may reduce the defined grading on UJ_2 to one of those described above. We note that the case of the grading (II)(c) follows from the fact that $f(UJ_2)$ is entirely contained in some homogeneous component and all of them are one-dimensional. We use Lemmas 3.39, 3.41 and 3.43 for the remaining nontrivial gradings. Now we consider the trivial grading on UJ_2 . Let $f \in J(X)$ be a multilinear polynomial. We may assume that $f \notin Id(UJ_2)$. By [57], the algebra $J(X)/Id(UJ_2)$ is a special Jordan algebra, and hence we may assume f as an element in the free special Jordan algebra. Therefore, the image $f(UJ_2)$ is equal to the image of some associative polynomial on UT_2 . Hence $f(UJ_2) \in \{J, UJ_2\}$ where $J = Jac(UT_2)$.

Remark 3.45. Consider the Lie algebra $UT_n^{(-)}$ with product given by the Lie bracket. Given a grading on $UT_n^{(-)}$, we notice that $J = [UT_n^{(-)}, UT_n^{(-)}]$ is always a homogeneous ideal. We also notice that if $f \in \mathcal{L}(X_G)$ is a multilinear polynomial of degree ≥ 2 , then $f(UT_n^{(-)})$ is contained in J. In particular, for n = 2 we must have that $f(UT_2^{(-)})$ is contained in span $\{e_{12}\}$ which is a homogeneous subspace. Since the image of multilinear polynomials of degree 1 is trivial, we have that $f(UT_2^{(-)})$ is always a homogeneous subspace, regardless of the grading defined on $UT_2^{(-)}$.

3.6.3 The natural elementary \mathbb{Z}_3 -grading in the Jordan algebra UJ_3

In this section we study images of multilinear polynomials on the Jordan algebra $\mathcal{A} = UJ_3$ endowed with the elementary \mathbb{Z}_3 -grading given by the sequence $(\overline{0}, \overline{1}, \overline{2})$, that is, $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}\}, \mathcal{A}_{\overline{1}} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\}, \text{ and } \mathcal{A}_{\overline{2}} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{13}\}$. We assume the base field is of characteristic different from 2.

We recall the following identity which holds in any Jordan algebra.

Lemma 3.46. Let \mathcal{J} be a Jordan algebra. Then

abcd + adcb + bdca = (ab)(cd) + (ac)(bd) + (ad)(bc)

for all $a, b, c, d \in \mathcal{J}$.

Proof. See for example [37, Page 34].

As an easy consequence of Lemma 3.46 we have

$$abcd + adcb + bdca = abdc + acdb + bcda \tag{3.6}$$

for every $a, b, c, d \in \mathcal{J}$.

The next lemma points out some graded identities for the algebra UJ_3 .

Lemma 3.47. The identities

$$(y_1, y_2, y_3) = 0, (y_1, z, y_2) = 0$$
 and $z_1 z_2 = 0$

hold for UJ_3 , where z, z_1, z_2 are odd variables and either $\deg(z_1) + \deg(z_2) = \overline{0}$ or $\deg(z_1) = \deg(z_2) = \overline{2}$.

Proof. A straightforward computation, hence it is omitted. \Box

The next lemma has the same proof as [34, Lemma 5.3]. However we will consider its proof here for the sake of completeness.

Lemma 3.48. The polynomial

$$g = y_1(y_2(y_3z)) - \frac{1}{2} \left(y_1(z(y_2y_3)) + y_2(z(y_1y_3)) + y_3(z(y_1y_2)) - z(y_1(y_2y_3)) \right)$$

is a consequence of (y_1, z, y_2) , where $\deg(z) \in \{\overline{1}, \overline{2}\}$.

Proof. Taking $a = y_2, b = y_3, c = z$ and $d = y_1$ in the identity (3.6) we have

$$-((y_2y_3)z)y_1 - ((y_1y_3)z)y_2 - ((y_1y_2)z)y_3 + ((y_2y_3)y_1)z = -((y_2z)y_1)y_3 - ((y_3z)y_1)y_2.$$

Hence, we can write h = 2g as

$$h = 2(y_1(y_2(y_3z)) - ((y_2z)y_1)y_3 - ((y_3z)y_1)y_2$$

= $(y_3, z, y_2)y_1 + (y_2, zy_3, y_1) + (y_3, zy_2, y_1)$

which implies that g is a consequence of (y_1, z, y_2) .

Given two even variables y_i and y_j we set $y_i < y_j$ if i < j. Hence we define an order on words in even variables $Y_1 < Y_2$ considering the left lexicographic order in case Y_1 and Y_2 have the same length, and $Y_1 < Y_2$ in case Y_2 is longer than Y_1 . For the next lemma we use ideas from [34, Lemma 5.6]. We denote by T the T_G -ideal generated by the identities from Lemma 3.47.

Lemma 3.49. Let $f = f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z_m) \in J(X_{\mathbb{Z}_3})$ be a multilinear polynomial, where $\deg(z_m) \in \{\overline{1}, \overline{2}\}$. Then modulo T, f is a linear combination of monomials of the form $Y_1(zY_2)$, where each Y_i is an increasingly ordered product of even variables and $Y_1 < Y_2$.

Proof. It is enough to consider $f = f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z_m)$ as a monomial. We apply induction on m. If m = 1 or m = 2, then the conclusion is obvious. So we assume $m \ge 3$ and we write f = gh where $g, h \in J(X_G)$. Without loss of generality we may assume that the odd variable z_m occurs in g. Hence $h = Y_1$ and by the induction hypothesis we must have g as a linear combination of monomials of the form $Y_2(zY_3)$. On the other hand the Lemma 3.48 gives us that

$$(Y_2(zY_3))Y_1 = \frac{1}{2} \bigg(Y_1(z(Y_2Y_3)) + Y_2(z(Y_1Y_3)) + Y_3(z(Y_1Y_2)) - z(Y_1(Y_2Y_3)) \bigg).$$

Now it is enough to use the identities $(y_1, y_2, y_3) = 0$, $(y_1, z, y_2) = 0$ and the commutativity of the Jordan product to get that each monomial inside the bracket on the right side of the equation above is actually in the desired form.

Theorem 3.50. Let F be an infinite field of characteristic different from 2 and let $f \in J(X_{\mathbb{Z}_3})$ be a multilinear graded polynomial. Then the image of f on the graded Jordan algebra UJ_3 endowed with the natural elementary \mathbb{Z}_3 -grading is either $\{0\}$ or some homogeneous component.

Proof. Since f is a homogeneous element in the graded algebra $J(X_{\mathbb{Z}_3})$ and $z_1z_2 = 0$ holds on UJ_3 , for either deg $z_1 + \deg z_2 = \overline{0}$ or deg $(z_1) = \deg(z_2) = \overline{2}$, we will consider the following three cases in our proof.

Case 1: deg $f = \overline{0}$. Here we must have $f = f(y_1, \ldots, y_m)$ and the proof is the same as the first paragraph of the proof of Lemma 3.39.

Case 2: deg $f = \overline{1}$. Let $f = f(y_1, \ldots, y_{m-1}, z_m)$ be such that deg $z_m = \overline{1}$. By Lemma 3.49, modulo T, we may write f as a linear combination of monomials of the form $Y_1(z_m Y_2)$, where $Y_1 < Y_2$. On the other hand, given

$$y_{i} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} w_{k}^{(i)} e_{kk} \text{ and } z_{m} = w_{1}^{(m)} e_{12} + w_{2}^{(m)} e_{23}, \qquad (3.7)$$
note that $y_{i} z_{m} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & (w_{1}^{(i)} + w_{2}^{(i)}) w_{1}^{(m)} & 0 \\ & 0 & (w_{2}^{(i)} + w_{3}^{(i)}) w_{2}^{(m)} \\ & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and then
$$f(y_{1}, \dots, y_{m-1}, z_{m}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p_{1} w_{1}^{(m)} & 0 \\ & 0 & p_{2} w_{2}^{(m)} \\ & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

where p_1 and p_2 are polynomials in the variables $w^{(i)}$, i = 1, ..., m - 1. We claim that if $f \neq 0$ modulo T, then $p_1 \neq 0$ and $p_2 \neq 0$. Indeed, consider the monomial $\mathbf{m} = \alpha Y_1(z_m Y_2)$, where $Y_1 = y_{j_1} \cdots y_{j_r}$, $Y_2 = y_{l_1} \cdots y_{l_s}$ and $Y_1 < Y_2$. Note that the (1, 2) entry of the image of \mathbf{m} under the evaluation (3.7) is given by

$$\frac{1}{4}\alpha(w_1^{(j_1)}\cdots w_1^{(j_r)}+w_2^{(j_1)}\cdots w_2^{(j_r)})w_1^{(m)}(w_1^{(l_1)}\cdots w_1^{(l_s)}+w_2^{(l_1)}\cdots w_2^{(l_s)}).$$

Hence p_1 contains the following monomials

$$\frac{1}{4}\alpha w_1^{(j_1)}\cdots w_1^{(j_r)}w_2^{(l_1)}\cdots w_2^{(l_s)} \text{ and } \frac{1}{4}\alpha w_2^{(j_1)}\cdots w_2^{(j_r)}w_1^{(l_1)}\cdots w_1^{(l_s)}.$$

Since $Y_1 < Y_2$, the two monomials above can only be obtained from the monomial **m**. Hence, if $f \neq 0$ modulo T, then f contains some monomial **m** as above for some non-zero α , which will imply in non-zero monomials in p_1 that are not scalar multiple of any other one that comes from the remaining monomials of f. The same ideas also prove that $p_2 \neq 0$.

Now we use the fact that F is infinite to get evaluations of the even variables for diagonal matrices such that p_1 and p_2 assume non-zero values on F, simultaneously. We finally use the variables $w_1^{(m)}$ and $w_2^{(m)}$ to get arbitrary odd matrices in $f(UJ_3)$, that is, $f(UJ_3) = (UJ_3)_{\overline{1}}$.

Case 3: deg $f = \overline{2}$. This last case follows from the fact that the homogeneous component of degree $\overline{2}$ is one dimensional.

3.6.4 The (graded) involution setting

In this section F is a field of characteristic different from 2. Recall that an involution * on an algebra \mathcal{A} defines two subspaces \mathcal{S} and \mathcal{K} of \mathcal{A} such that $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{S} \oplus \mathcal{K}$, and where \mathcal{S} consists of the symmetric elements, that is, $a \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $a^* = a$, while \mathcal{K} consists of the skew-symmetric ones, that is, $a \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $a^* = -a$.

Two algebras with involution $(\mathcal{A}, *_1)$ and $(\mathcal{B}, *_2)$ are isomorphic as algebras with involution if there exists an isomorphism of algebras $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ such that $\varphi(a^{*_1}) = \varphi(a)^{*_2}$, for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$. We say that two involutions $*_1$ and $*_2$ on \mathcal{A} are equivalent if $(\mathcal{A}, *_1)$ and $(\mathcal{A}, *_2)$ are isomorphic as algebras with involution.

An involution * on a *G*-graded algebra \mathcal{A} is called a *G*-graded involution if the homogeneous components of \mathcal{A} are invariant under *, that is, if

$$\Gamma: \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{A}_g$$

is the G-grading on \mathcal{A} , then $\mathcal{A}_g^* \subset \mathcal{A}_g$, for all $g \in G$. We notice that the subspaces \mathcal{S} and \mathcal{K} are homogeneous in the grading.

Setting $X_G = \{x_{i,g} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$ and $X_G^* = \{x_{i,g}^* | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$, we denote by $F \langle X_G, X_G^* \rangle$ the free G-graded associative algebra with involution. By writting

 $y_{i,g} = (x_{i,g} + x_{i,g}^*)/2$ and $z_{i,g} = (x_{i,g} - x_{i,g}^*)/2$ and denoting $Y_G = \{y_{i,g} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$ and $Z_G = \{z_{i,g} | g \in G, i = 1, 2, ...\}$, we may consider elements from $F\langle X_G, X_G^* \rangle$ as polynomials in homogeneous symmetric/skew-symmetric variables. We also will use $F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$ to denote the free *G*-graded associative algebra with involution.

The space of multilinear graded polynomials with involution is given by

$$P_m^{(G,*)} = \operatorname{span}\{\xi_{\sigma(1),g_1} \cdots \xi_{\sigma(m),g_m} | \xi_i \in \{y_i, z_i\}, i = 1, \dots, m, g_1, \dots, g_m \in G\}.$$

We notice here that polynomial functions given by the polynomials in P_m are not multilinear functions. For instance, the polynomial $f = y_{1,g}z_{2,h} + z_{1,g}z_{2,h}$ is a multilinear graded *polynomial however the function given by it on some graded algebra with involution is not bilinear. In order to obtain multilinear functions we will need to consider the following multilinear graded *-polynomials from P_m .

For a fixed *m*-tuple $(g_1, \ldots, g_m) \in G^m$, let us consider the subspace $P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$ of $P_m^{(G,*)}$ given by

$$P_{m,l}^{(G,*)} = \operatorname{span}\{\xi_{\sigma(1)}\cdots\xi_{\sigma(m)} | \xi_i = y_{i,g_i}, i = 1,\dots,l, \xi_i = z_{i,g_i}, i = l+1,\dots,m\}$$

In case the G-grading is trivial, that is, G defined as the trivial group, then we simply denote $P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$ just by $P_{m,l}^*$.

Definition 3.51. Let $f = f(y_{1,g_1}, \ldots, y_{l,g_l}, z_{l+1,g_{l+1}}, \ldots, z_{m,g_m}) \in P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$ and let \mathcal{A} be an algebra with involution. We define the image of f on \mathcal{A} (denoted by $f(\mathcal{A})$) as the image of the function

$$\tilde{f}: \mathcal{S}_{g_1} \times \cdots \mathcal{S}_{g_l} \times \mathcal{K}_{g_{l+1}} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{K}_{g_m} \rightarrow \mathcal{A}
(a_1, \dots, a_l, b_{l+1}, \dots, b_m) \mapsto f(a_1, \dots, a_l, b_{l+1}, \dots, b_m).$$

where $a_i \in \mathcal{S}_{g_i}$ and $b_j \in \mathcal{K}_{g_j}$.

We now turn our attention to recall the following description of (graded) involutions on the upper triangular matrix algebra UT_n .

Definition 3.52. The reflexive involution r on UT_n is defined as $A^r = QA^tQ$, where $A \in UT_n$, A^t denotes the usual transposition of matrices and Q is the permutation matrix

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In case n = 2k is even, we define a second involution on UT_n named the sympletic involution s given by $A^s = DA^r D^{-1}$ where $A \in UT_n$ and

$$D = \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0\\ 0 & -I_k \end{pmatrix}.$$

The next result from [19] shows that involutions on upper triangular matrices are essentially the reflexive and the sympletic one (the later occurring only in matrices of even order).

Theorem 3.53 ([19]). Every involution on UT_n is equivalent to the reflexive or the sympletic one.

Graded involutions on UT_n are also well known. We recall them in the following.

Theorem 3.54 ([29]). Let F be an algebraically closed field of characteristic different from 2, and let G be a group. Let Γ_1 be a G-grading on UT_n such that $supp(\Gamma_1)$ generates G. Let φ_1 be a graded involution on Γ_1 . Then (Γ_1, φ_1) is isomorphic to (Γ_2, φ_2) where Γ_2 is the elementary grading on UT_n induced by a sequence $(g_1, \ldots, g_n) \in G^n$ such that $g_1g_n = g_2g_{n-1} = \cdots = g_ng_1$ and φ_2 is either r or s.

In the following sections we describe the images of polynomials from $P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$ on UT_2 and UT_3 and we show the difficulties of extending such results to higher dimensions.

3.6.4.1 2×2 matrices

First of all we recall that both reflexive and sympletic involutions acts on UT_2 as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix}^r = \begin{pmatrix} c & b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix}^s = \begin{pmatrix} c & -b \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}.$$

In light of Theorem 3.54, one can easily see that a graded involution on UT_2 is isomorphic to either the reflexive or sympletic one, where UT_2 is endowed with either the

- $\Gamma_{2,1}$ trivial grading;
- $\Gamma_{2,2}$ $UT_2 = \mathcal{A}_1 \oplus \mathcal{A}_g$, where $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}\}$.

The next three subsections are devoted to classify the images of polynomials from $P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$ on UT_2 . In particular we show that the image is always a vector space.

3.6.4.1.1 Grading $\Gamma_{2,1}$: the reflexive case

We notice that $UT_2 = S \oplus K$, where $S = span\{e_{11} + e_{22}, e_{12}\}$ and $\mathcal{K} = span\{e_{11} - e_{22}\}$. In the following we recall a result from [19] (see also [35]).

Proposition 3.55. Let $f \in F\langle Y \cup Z \rangle$. Then, modulo the identities with involution of (UT_2, r) , we have that f is a linear combination of polynomials of the form

$$y_1^{p_1} \cdots y_n^{p_n} z_1^{q_1} \cdots z_m^{q_m} [z_m, y_k] \text{ and } y_1^{p_1} \cdots y_n^{p_n} z_1^{q_1} \cdots z_m^{q_m}$$

where $n \ge 1, m \ge 1, p_1, \ldots, p_n, q_1, \ldots, q_m \ge 0, k \ge 1$.

We consider a set of commuting variables $W = \{w_j^{(i)} | i, j = 1, 2, ...\}$ and the commutative polynomial algebra F[W]. Let us also set the following evaluations of the symmetric and skew-symmetric variables by matrices with entries in F[W]:

$$y_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} w_{1}^{(i)} & w_{2}^{(i)} \\ & w_{1}^{(i)} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } z_{j} = \begin{pmatrix} w_{1}^{(j)} & 0 \\ & -w_{1}^{(j)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.8)

Remark 3.56. In a product $x_1 \cdots \hat{x_i} \cdots x_m$, the hat $\widehat{}$ means that the variable x_i is missing. **Lemma 3.57.** In light of (3.8), the entry (1,2) of $y_1 \cdots y_l$ is given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{l} w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(l)} w_2^{(i)}$$

Proof. It is enough to apply induction on l.

In the following result we identify the space of scalar matrices with F and we also denote $J = \text{span}\{e_{12}\}$.

Theorem 3.58. Let $f \in P_{m,l}^*$. Then the image of f on (UT_2, r) is $\{0\}, J, F, \mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, \text{ or } \mathcal{K} + J$.

Proof. Let $f = f(y_1, \ldots, y_l, z_{l+1}, \ldots, z_m)$. By Proposition 3.55, we may write f modulo $Id(UT_2, r)$ as

$$f = \alpha y_1 \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_m + \sum_{i=1}^l \alpha_i y_1 \cdots \widehat{y_i} \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_{m-1} [z_m, y_i]$$

and additionally assume f non-zero modulo $Id(UT_2, r)$. Notice that if $\alpha = 0$, then $f(UT_2) = J$. Indeed, this follows from the fact that the image of $[z_m, y_i]$ is contained in J along with the later being an one-dimensional ideal of UT_2 .

We may assume from now on that $\alpha \neq 0$ and let us denote $\eta = m - l$. Note that under the evaluation (3.8) and by Lemma 3.57 we have that the entry (1,2) of $y_1 \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_m$ is given by

$$(y_1 \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_m)_{12} = (-1)^{\eta} w_1^{(l+1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} \sum_{i=1}^l w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(l)} w_2^{(i)}.$$

Moreover, for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$, we have $[z_m, y_i] = 2w_1^{(m)}w_2^{(i)}e_{12}$ and also

$$(y_1 \cdots \hat{y_i} \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_{m-1})_{11} = w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(l)} w_1^{(l+1)} \cdots w_1^{(m-1)}.$$

Thus

$$y_1 \cdots \hat{y_1} \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_{m-1} [z_m, y_i] = 2w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(i)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_2^{(i)} e_{12}$$

Therefore we conclude that $f(y_1, \ldots, y_l, z_{l+1}, \ldots, z_m)$ is given by the following sum:

$$\alpha w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)}(e_{11} + (-1)^{\eta} e_{22}) + \sum_{i=1}^l ((-1)^{\eta} \alpha + 2\alpha_i) w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_2^{(i)} e_{12}.$$

If $(-1)^{\eta}\alpha + 2\alpha_i = 0$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$, then one can see that $f(UT_2) = F$ or $f(UT_2) = \mathcal{K}$, according to whether η is even or odd, respectively.

We assume now that $(-1)^{\eta}\alpha + 2\alpha_k \neq 0$ for some $k \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$. We thus have that $f(UT_2) \subset S$, in case η is even, or $f(UT_2) \subset \mathcal{K} + J$ otherwise. We further perform the following evaluation on the commutative variables $w_i^{(i)}$:

- $w_1^{(i)} = 1$ for $i = l + 1, \dots, m$;
- $w_2^{(i)} = 0$ for all $i \neq k$;
- $w_1^{(i)} = 1$ for all $i \in \{1, \dots, l\} \setminus \{k\}$.

Therefore,

$$f(y_1, \dots, y_l, z_{l+1}, \dots, z_m) = \alpha w_1^{(k)}(e_{11} + (-1)^\eta e_{22}) + ((-1)^\eta \alpha + 2\alpha_k) w_2^{(k)} e_{12}$$

implies in $f(UT_2) = \mathcal{S}$ or $f(UT_2) = \mathcal{K} + J$.

which implies in $f(UT_2) = S$ or $f(UT_2) = \mathcal{K} + J$.

3.6.4.1.2 Grading $\Gamma_{2,1}$: the symplectic case

Once again, we start recalling the following proposition from [19] (see also [35]).

Proposition 3.59. Let $f \in F\langle Y \cup Z \rangle$. Then, modulo the identities with involution of (UT_2, s) , we have that f is a linear combination of polynomials of the form

$$y_1^{p_1} \cdots y_n^{p_n} [z_j, z_i] z_i^{q_i} z_{i+1}^{q_{i+1}} \cdots z_m^{q_m} and y_1^{p_1} \cdots y_n^{p_n} z_1^{q_1} \cdots z_m^{q_m}$$

where j > i.

We consider evaluations of the variables z_i 's by matrices with entries in F[W]:

$$z_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} w_{1}^{(i)} & w_{2}^{(i)} \\ & -w_{1}^{(i)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.9)

for $i \in \{1, ..., m\}$.

Lemma 3.60. In light of (3.9), the matrix $z_1 \cdots z_m$ is given by

$$w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)}(e_{11} + (-1)^m e_{22}) + \sum_{i=1}^m (-1)^{i+m} w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_2^{(i)} e_{12}$$

Proof. Induction on m.

The proof of the next theorem follows the same ideas from the reflexive case.

Theorem 3.61. Let $f \in P_{m,l}^*$. Then the image of f on (UT_2, s) is $\{0\}, J, S, K, K \cap D, S + J, J, S, K, K \cap D, S + J, S$ where \mathcal{D} denotes the space of diagonal matrices.

Proof. By Proposition 3.59 and since S = F, we may consider

$$f(z_1,\ldots,z_m) = \alpha_0 z_1 \cdots z_m + \sum_{i=2}^m \alpha_i [z_i,z_1] z_2 \cdots \widehat{z_i} \cdots z_m.$$

We notice that

$$[z_i, z_1] = 2(w_1^{(i)}w_2^{(1)} - w_2^{(i)}w_1^{(1)})e_{12}$$

and

$$(z_2 \cdots \hat{z_i} \cdots z_m)_{22} = (-1)^m w_1^{(2)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m)}.$$

Hence,

$$[z_i, z_1]z_2 \cdots \hat{z_i} \cdots z_m = (-1)^m 2(w_1^{(2)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_2^{(1)} - w_1^{(1)} \cdots \hat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_2^{(i)})e_{12}$$

and therefore the evaluation of f on the matrices z_1, \ldots, z_m is given by the sum of the following two matrices

$$\alpha_0 w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} (e_{11} + (-1)^m e_{22})$$

and

$$\left((-1)^{m}(-\alpha_{0}+\sum_{i=2}^{m}2\alpha_{i})w_{1}^{(2)}\cdots w_{1}^{(m)}w_{2}^{(1)}+\sum_{i=2}^{m}(-1)^{m}((-1)^{i}\alpha_{0}+2\alpha_{i})w_{1}^{(1)}\cdots \widehat{w_{1}^{(i)}}\cdots w_{1}^{(m)}w_{2}^{(i)}\right)e_{12}$$

We may assume $\alpha_0 \neq 0$, otherwise the image is already determined since $f(UT_2) \subset J$.

If $-\alpha_0 + \sum_{i=2}^m 2\alpha_i = 0$ and $(-1)^i \alpha_0 + 2\alpha_i = 0$ for all $i \in \{2, \ldots, m\}$, then it is easy to see that $f(UT_2) = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11} + (-1)^n e_{22}\} \in \{\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{K} \cap \mathcal{D}\}$. Otherwise let us first assume that $-\alpha_0 + \sum_{i=2}^m 2\alpha_i \neq 0$. Then we perform the following evaluation of the commutative variables $w_i^{(i)}$:

- $w_2^{(i)} = 0$ for all $i \in \{2, \dots, m\};$
- $w_1^{(i)} = 1$ for all $i \in \{2, \dots, m\}$.

We therefore have

$$f(z_1,\ldots,z_m) = \alpha_0 w_1^{(1)}(e_{11} + (-1)^m e_{22}) + (-1)^m (-\alpha_0 + \sum_{i=1}^m 2\alpha_i) w_2^{(1)} e_{12}$$

which implies in $f(UT_2) = \text{span}\{e_{11} + (-1)^m e_{22}, e_{12}\} \in \{\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S} + J\}.$

Assume now that $(-1)^i \alpha_0 + 2\alpha_i \neq 0$ for some $i \in \{2, \ldots, m\}$. We thus set the evaluation

- $w_2^{(j)} = 0$ for all $j \in \{1, ..., m\} \setminus \{i\};$
- $w_1^{(j)} = 1$ for all $j \in \{1, \dots, m\} \setminus \{i\}.$

We obtain then

$$f(z_1,\ldots,z_m) = \alpha_0 w_1^{(i)}(e_{11} + (-1)^m e_{22}) + (-1)^m ((-1)^i + 2\alpha_i) w_2^{(i)} e_{12},$$

which clearly leads us to $f(UT_2) = \text{span}\{e_{11} + (-1)^m e_{22}, e_{12}\} \in \{\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S} + J\}.$

3.6.4.1.3 Grading $\Gamma_{2,2}$

Let us first write

$$UT_2 = \mathcal{A}_1 \oplus \mathcal{A}_g$$

where $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}\}$. We further write

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{S}_1 \oplus \mathcal{K}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{A}_g = \mathcal{S}_g \oplus \mathcal{K}_g$$

$$(3.10)$$

with respect to the involution $* \in \{r, s\}$.

Applying Corollary 1.21 gives us that the image of a multilinear graded polynomial with involution f on UT_2 is a vector space (the subspaces V_i are defined as the ones appearing in the decompositions in (3.10), accordingly to the homogeneous degree and symmetry of the variables occuring in f). Indeed, since $Supp(\Gamma_{2,2})$ is abelian, then $f(UT_2)$ is contained in some homogeneous component, and now one just need to notice that both \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_g have dimension ≤ 2 .

It is also straightforward to obtain a precise classification of the images of multilinear graded *-polynomials on UT_2 with the grading $\Gamma_{2,2}$.

Proposition 3.62. Let $f \in F\langle Y_G \cup Z_G \rangle$ be multilinear and consider the *G*-graded involution $* \in \{r, s\}$ on UT_2 with respect to the grading $\Gamma_{2,2}$. Then $f(UT_2)$ is either $\{0\}$ or some (skew-)symmetric part from some homogeneous component.

Proof. Let us consider * = r, since the sympletic case is quite similar. First we note that

$$S_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11} + e_{22}\}, \mathcal{K}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11} - e_{22}\}, \mathcal{S}_q = \mathcal{A}_q \text{ and } \mathcal{K}_q = \{0\}$$

Since $Supp(\Gamma_{2,2}) = \{1, g\}$, we may consider that only variables of homogeneous degree 1 and g occur in f. Now note that S_g is a nilpotent ideal of UT_2 of index 2, and it is one-dimensional as a vector space. Hence if f has at least one variable of homogeneous degree g, then $f(UT_2)$ is either $\{0\}$ or S_g .

So we may assume now that f has only neutral variables. Since UT_2 satisfies the graded *-identities $[z_{1,1}, z_{2,1}] = 0$ and $[y_{1,1}, x] = 0$, where $x \in Y_G \cup Z_G$, then modulo these identities we may write f as

$$f = \alpha y_{1,1} \cdots y_{l,1} z_{l+1,1} \cdots z_{m,1},$$

for some $\alpha \in F$. This will therefore imply in $f(UT_2)$ equals to $\{0\}, \mathcal{S}_1$ or \mathcal{K}_1 .

We therefore conclude the following theorem.

Theorem 3.63. Let F be an algebraically closed field of characteristic different from 2. Let $f \in P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$. Assume that UT_2 is endowed with some G-graded involution * on a grading Γ such that $supp(\Gamma)$ generates G. Then the image of f on UT_2 is a homogeneous vector space.

In the next section we show that a result like Theorem 3.63 can not be obtained if we consider matrices of order greater than 2.

3.6.4.2 The image is not always a vector space

Next we present an example which shows that an analogue of Theorem 3.63 can not be expected for upper triangular matrices of order $n \ge 3$. In other words, we prove that images of multilinear *-polynomials on UT_n are not always vector spaces. The polynomial from our example will be in skew-symmetric variables. For that reason, we recall that the skew-symmetric part of UT_n with the reflexive involution is given by

$$\mathcal{K} = \operatorname{span}\{e_{ij} - e_{n+1-j,n+1-i} | i \leq j, i, j = 1, \dots, n\}.$$

Proposition 3.64. Let $n \ge 3$ and let UT_n be endowed with the reflexive involution. Then the image of the multilinear polynomial $f(z_1, z_2) = z_1 z_2$ on UT_n is not a vector space.

Proof. Let n be an odd integer (the even case can be treated analogously, up to minor adjustments), and let us assume that $f(UT_n)$ is a vector space.

Denoting
$$n_0 = \frac{n+1}{2}$$
 we have that
 $e_{11} + e_{nn} = f(e_{11} - e_{nn}, e_{11} - e_{nn})$
 $e_{1n} = f(e_{1,n_0} - e_{n_0,n}, -e_{1,n_0} + e_{n_0,n}).$

Hence we must have $e_{11} + e_{nn} + e_{1n} \in f(UT_n)$, that is, there exist $A, B \in \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$e_{11} + e_{nn} + e_{1n} = AB. ag{3.11}$$

Let us write

$$A = \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le n} a_{ij} e_{ij} \text{ and } B = \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le n} b_{ij} e_{ij}.$$

and since $A, B \in \mathcal{K}$, we additionally have that $a_{ij} = -a_{n+1-j,n+1-i}$ and $b_{ij} = -b_{n+1-j,n+1-i}$, for all i, j.

We claim that $(AB)_{1n} = 0$, which clearly leads us to a contradiction. To prove the claim, let us compute the following entries of the product AB:
1. "Half first row": for $j = 2, ..., n_0$, the entry (1, j) is given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{j} a_{1i} b_{ij}$$

2. "Half last column": for $i = n_0, \ldots, n-1$, the entry (i, n) is given by

$$\sum_{j=i}^{n} a_{ij} b_{jn}$$

We rewrite the entry (i, n) above as

$$\sum_{j=i}^{n} a_{ij} b_{jn} = \sum_{j=i}^{n} a_{n+1-j,n+1-i} b_{1,n+1-j} = \sum_{k=1}^{l} a_{kl} b_{1k},$$

for $l = 2, ..., n_0$.

We now prove that $a_{1j} = b_{1j} = 0$ for $j = 2, ..., n_0$. To this end we proceed by induction on n_0 . For the base of the induction, we note that the entries (1, 2) and (n-1, n) along with Equation (3.11) give us

$$a_{11}b_{12} + a_{12}b_{22} = 0$$
 and $a_{22}b_{12} + a_{12}b_{11} = 0$.

Since $a_{11}b_{11} \neq 0$ and $a_{22}b_{22} = 0$, we therefore get $a_{12} = b_{12} = 0$. We assume now $a_{1j} = b_{1j} = 0$ for $j < n_0$. Considering the entries $(1, n_0)$ and (n_0, n) along with Equation (3.11) we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n_0} a_{1i} b_{i,n_0} = 0 \text{ and } \sum_{k=1}^{n_0} a_{k,n_0} b_{1k} = 0.$$

By our induction hypothesis, the two equations above reduce to

$$a_{11}b_{1,n_0} + a_{1,n_0}b_{n_0,n_0} = 0$$
 and $a_{1,n_0}b_{11} + a_{n_0,n_0}b_{1,n_0} = 0$.

Now it is enough to use that $a_{11}b_{11} \neq 0$ and $a_{n_0,n_0}b_{n_0,n_0} = 0$ to get $a_{1,n_0} = b_{1,n_0} = 0$.

Finally, to obtain our claim we just need to notice that

$$(AB)_{1n} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{1i}b_{in} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{1i}b_{1,n+1-i}$$

and that $a_{1n} = b_{1n} = a_{1i} = b_{1i} = 0$ for $i = 2, \ldots, n_0$.

3.6.4.3 The 3×3 case and one more example

In the last section we proved in particular that images of multilinear *-polynomials on UT_3 are not always vector spaces. In that situation we had UT_3 endowed with the trivial grading. In this section we will show that the picture changes when we

allow UT_3 be endowed with some nontrivial grading. Moreover, we also show that the nontrivial grading setting fails if we consider upper triangular matrices of order greater than 3.

Let us recall that, up to equivalence, there is only one involution on UT_3 , the reflexive one, given by:

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc}a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13}\\ & a_{22} & a_{23}\\ & & & a_{33}\end{array}\right)^r = \left(\begin{array}{ccc}a_{33} & a_{23} & a_{13}\\ & a_{22} & a_{12}\\ & & & a_{11}\end{array}\right)^r$$

Therefore, the only graded involutions on UT_3 are the ones given by the reflexive involution r and gradings:

- $\Gamma_{1,3}$ trivial grading;
- $\Gamma_{2,3}$ $UT_3 = \mathcal{A}_1 \oplus \mathcal{A}_g$, where $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{13}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\};$
- $\Gamma_{3,3}$ $UT_3 = \mathcal{A}_1 \oplus \mathcal{A}_g \oplus \mathcal{A}_h$, where $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}\}$, $\mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_h = \operatorname{span}\{e_{13}\}$.

In the next subsections we describe the images of polynomials from $P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$ on UT_3 . In particular, we show that the image is always a vector space in case UT_3 is endowed with a nontrivial grading. We also give an example of a multilinear graded *-polynomial whose image on UT_n $(n \ge 4)$ is not a vector space where UT_4 is endowed with the natural \mathbb{Z}_n -grading.

3.6.4.3.1 The grading $\Gamma_{2,3}$

We recall that $A_1 = \text{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}, e_{13}\}$ and $A_g = \text{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\}$. Hence,

$$S_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11} + e_{33}, e_{22}, e_{13}\}, S_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12} + e_{23}\},$$
$$\mathcal{K}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11} - e_{33}\} \text{ and } \mathcal{K}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12} + e_{23}\}.$$

Since the homogeneous components are invariant under the involution, we may regard the neutral component \mathcal{A}_1 as an algebra with involution as well. In the next lemma we notice some similarities between the reflexive case on UT_2 and \mathcal{A}_1 .

Lemma 3.65. The neutral component of UT_3 with reflexive involution and grading $\Gamma_{2,3}$ satisfies the following identities:

(i) $[y_1, y_2]$; (ii) $[z_1, z_2]$; (iii) $[y_1, z_1][y_2, z_2]$; (iv) $z_1y_1z_2 - z_2y_1z_1$.

Proof. It is immediate, so omitted.

One can see that the identities from the lemma above are exactly the ones satisfied by UT_2 with the reflexive involution (see [19, Theorem 3.1]). So it is expected that we can use the same approach from Proposition 3.58. Let us thus consider the following evaluation of the variables y's and z's by matrices over F[W]:

$$y_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} w_{1}^{(i)} & 0 & w_{3}^{(i)} \\ w_{2}^{(i)} & 0 \\ & & w_{1}^{(i)} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } z_{j} = \begin{pmatrix} w_{1}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 \\ & 0 & 0 \\ & & -w_{1}^{(j)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.12)

Lemma 3.66. Let y_i , i = 1, ..., m, as in equation (3.12). Then the entry (1,3) of $y_1 \cdots y_m$ is given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_3^{(i)}.$$

Proof. Induction on m.

The proof of the next lemma follows the same ideas from Proposition 3.58.

Lemma 3.67. Let $f \in F\langle Y \cup Z \rangle$ be multilinear. Then $f(\mathcal{A}_1)$ is $\{0\}, J, \mathcal{S}_1 \cap \mathcal{D}, (\mathcal{S}_1 \cap \mathcal{D}) + J, \mathcal{S}_1, \mathcal{K}_1$ or $\mathcal{K}_1 + J$, where J denotes the subspace spanned by $\{e_{13}\}$, and \mathcal{D} stands for the linear span of $\{e_{11}, e_{33}\}$.

Proof. By Proposition 3.55 we may write f as

$$f = \alpha y_1 \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_m + \sum_{i=1}^l \alpha_i y_1 \cdots \widehat{y_i} \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_{m-1} [z_m, y_i].$$

We will assume $\alpha \neq 0$, since otherwise we clearly have $f(UT_3) \in \{\{0\}, J\}$.

Let $\eta = m - l$. Then notice that the main diagonal of f is given by

$$w_1^{(1)}\cdots w_1^{(m)}(e_{11}+(-1)^{\eta}e_{33})+\lambda w_2^{(1)}\cdots w_2^{(m)}e_{22},$$

where $\lambda = 0$ if there is no skew-symmetric variable in f, and $\lambda = 1$ otherwise. The case where f has only symmetric variables is obvious, indeed one can easily obtain $f(UT_3) = S_1$. Hence we may assume that f has skew-symmetric variables and also $\lambda = 0$. Hence

$$f(UT_3) \subset (S_1 \cap \mathcal{D}) + J \text{ or } f(UT_3) \subset \mathcal{K}_1 + J,$$

accordingly η is even or η is odd, respectively. Now let us turn our attention to the nilpotent part f. We start to noticing that $[z_m, y_i] = 2w_3^{(i)}w_1^{(m)}e_{13}$, and therefore

$$y_1 \cdots \hat{y_i} \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_{m-1} [z_m, y_i] = 2w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m-1)} w_3^{(i)} w_1^{(m)} e_{13}.$$

Hence, in light of Lemma 3.66 we must have $f(y_1, \ldots, y_l, z_{l+1}, \ldots, z_m)$ equals to

$$\alpha w_1^{(1)} \cdots w_1^{(m)} (e_{11} + (-1)^{\eta} e_{33}) + \sum_{i=1}^l ((-1)^{\eta} \alpha + 2\alpha_i) w_1^{(1)} \cdots \widehat{w_1^{(i)}} \cdots w_1^{(m)} w_3^{(i)} e_{13}.$$

Proceeding in a silimar fashion as in Proposition 3.58, one can see that

$$f(UT_3) \in \{\mathcal{K}_1, \mathcal{K}_1 + J, \mathcal{S}_1 \cap \mathcal{D}, (\mathcal{S}_1 \cap \mathcal{D}) + J\}$$

which finishes the proof.

Proposition 3.68. Let $f \in P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$. Then $f(UT_3)$ is $\{0\}, J, S_1 \cap \mathcal{D}, (S_1 \cap \mathcal{D}) + J, S_1, \mathcal{K}_1, \mathcal{K}_1 + J$, some one-dimensional subspace of \mathcal{A}_1 or \mathcal{A}_1 . Moreover, every one-dimensional subspace of \mathcal{A}_1 can be realized as the image of some multilinear graded polynomial with involution on UT_3 , as well as the homogeneous component \mathcal{A}_1 .

Proof. The proof of the first part is clear from Lemma 3.67 and Corollary 1.21. Now, fix $\alpha, \beta \in F$ and consider the one-dimensional subspace

$$V = \operatorname{span}\{\alpha e_{12} + \beta e_{23}\} \subset \mathcal{A}_1.$$

It is straightforward to check that the image of $\alpha z_{1,0} z_{1,1} + \beta z_{1,1} z_{1,0}$ on UT_3 is exactly V, and that the image of $y_{1,0} y_{1,1}$ on UT_3 is exactly \mathcal{A}_1 . \Box

3.6.4.3.2 The grading $\Gamma_{3,3}$

We recall that $\mathcal{A}_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{11}, e_{22}, e_{33}\}, \mathcal{A}_g = \operatorname{span}\{e_{12}, e_{23}\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_h = \operatorname{span}\{e_{13}\}$. We therefore write

$$UT_3 = \mathcal{S}_1 \oplus \mathcal{K}_1 \oplus \mathcal{S}_q \oplus \mathcal{K}_q \oplus \mathcal{S}_h \oplus \mathcal{K}_h$$

where $S_1 = \text{span}\{e_{11} + e_{33}, e_{22}\}, \mathcal{K}_1 = \text{span}\{e_{11} - e_{33}\}, \mathcal{S}_g = \text{span}\{e_{12} + e_{23}\}, \mathcal{K}_g = \text{span}\{e_{12} - e_{23}\}, \mathcal{S}_h = \text{span}\{e_{13}\} \text{ and } \mathcal{K}_h = \{0\}.$ Hence we have the following result.

Proposition 3.69. Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and let $f \in P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$. Then $f(UT_3)$ is $\{0\}, S_1, \mathcal{K}_1, (\mathcal{K}_1)^2$, some one-dimensional subspace of \mathcal{A}_g , \mathcal{A}_g or \mathcal{S}_h . Moreover, any subspace of \mathcal{A}_g can be realized as the image of some multilinear polynomial on UT_3 .

Proof. Assume first that f has (skew-)symmetric neutral variables only. Since UT_3 satisfies $[x_1, x_2]$ where x_1, x_2 are any (skew-)symmetric neutral variables, then the image of f on UT_3 is either zero or the image of a word in the form $y_1 \cdots y_l z_{l+1} \cdots z_m$ on UT_3 . Clearly the former gives us $f(UT_3) \in \{S_1, \mathcal{K}_1, (\mathcal{K}_1)^2\}$.

Let us assume now that f has non-neutral variables. Since x_1x_2 is an identity for UT_3 when x_1 has homogeneous degree g and x_2 has homogeneous degree h, then $f(UT_3)$ is always contained in some non-neutral homogeneous component. In this case, we

apply Corollary 1.21 to conclude that $f(UT_3)$ is a vector subspace of \mathcal{A}_g or \mathcal{A}_h . Moreover, we notice that $\mathcal{A}_g = f(UT_3)$ for $f = y_{1,0}y_{1,1}$, and for arbitrarily fixed $\alpha, \beta \in F$ and

$$V = \operatorname{span}\{\alpha e_{12} + \beta e_{23}\}$$

we have $V = f(UT_3)$ for $f = \alpha z_{1,0}y_{1,1} - \beta y_{1,1}z_{1,0}$.

We therefore conclude the following theorem.

Theorem 3.70. Let F be an algebraically closed field of characteristic different from 2. Let $f \in P_{m,l}^{(G,*)}$. Assume that UT_3 is endowed with some G-graded involution * on a nontrivial grading Γ such that $supp(\Gamma)$ generates G. Then, the image of f on UT_3 is a homogeneous vector space.

We finish this section by showing that, in general, Theorem 3.70 can not be expected to hold for UT_n , $n \ge 4$, not even for the canonical \mathbb{Z}_n -grading.

Proposition 3.71. Let $n \ge 4$ and let UT_n be endowed with the canonical \mathbb{Z}_n -grading and reflexive involution. Then the image of the multilinear polynomial $f(y_{1,0}, y_{2,1}) = y_{1,0}y_{2,1}$ on UT_n is not a vector space.

Proof. Let us suppose n even (the odd case is analogous). We recall that the symmetric parts of homogeneous degree $\overline{0}$ and $\overline{1}$ are given by

$$S_0 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{ii} + e_{n+1-i,n+1-i}; i = 1, \dots, n/2\}, \text{and}$$
$$S_1 = \operatorname{span}\{e_{n/2,(n+2)/2}, e_{i,i+1} + e_{n-i,n+1-i}; i = 1, \dots, -1 + n/2\}$$

Assuming that $f(UT_n)$ is a vector space, and noticing that

$$f(e_{11} + e_{nn}, e_{12} + e_{n-1,n}) = e_{12}$$
$$f(e_{22} + e_{n-1,n-1}, e_{23} + e_{n-2,n-1}) = e_{23}$$

we therefore have $e_{12} + e_{23} \in f(UT_n)$ (we take $e_{23} = f(e_{22} + e_{33}, e_{23})$ in case n = 4). Hence there exist $A \in S_0$ and $B \in S_1$ such that $e_{12} + e_{23} = AB$.

Writing
$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii}e_{ii}$$
 and $B = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} b_{i,i+1}e_{i,i+1}$, we therefore have
 $(AB)_{12} = a_{11}b_{12}$
 $(AB)_{23} = a_{22}b_{23}$
 $(AB)_{n-1,n} = a_{n-1,n-1}b_{n-1,n} = a_{22}b_{12}$

Since the entry (n - 1, n) from AB is zero, we conclude that either $(AB)_{12} = 0$ or $(AB)_{23} = 0$, a contradiction.

4 *f*-zpd algebras

In this chapter we introduce the class of zpd algebras as well as the main examples (non-examples) and results concerning this class of algebras. Our main reference for the basics of zpd algebras is the book [13] (see also the paper [14]). The results from Section 4.2 to Section 4.3 are submitted for publication in a specialized journal [8]. This is a joint work with Žan Bajuk, Matej Brešar and Antonio Ioppolo.

4.1 (f-)zpd algebras

We start this section by defining the class of zpd algebras.

Definition 4.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a nonassociative algebra over a field F. We say that \mathcal{A} is a zero product determined algebra (zpd algebra for short) if for every bilinear functional $\varphi : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \to F$ satisfying

$$xy = 0 \Rightarrow \varphi(x, y) = 0 \quad (x, y \in \mathcal{A})$$

then there exists a linear functional $\tau : \mathcal{A} \to F$ such that

$$\varphi(x,y) = \tau(xy) \quad for \ all \quad x,y \in \mathcal{A}.$$

It might be a tough task to find nontrivial examples of zpd algebras by just having in mind the definition given above. For this reason we state the next theorem.

Theorem 4.2 ([13]). Let \mathcal{A} be an associative algebra. If \mathcal{A} is generated by idempotents, then \mathcal{A} is zpd.

Remark 4.3. The converse of Theorem 4.2 is valid when \mathcal{A} is finite-dimensional.

Example 4.4. The field F is a zpd algebra over itself.

Example 4.5. The full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ is zpd.

Example 4.6. Given \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} F-algebras generated by idempotents and \mathcal{M} an $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ -bimodule, then the triangular algebra

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{M} \\ 0 & \mathcal{B} \end{pmatrix}$$

is zpd. In particular, the algebra of upper triangular matrices $UT_n(F)$ is zpd.

Of course not every algebra is zpd. Let us see some examples.

Proposition 4.7. [13] Let \mathcal{A} be a unital nonassociative algebra of dimension greater than 1. If \mathcal{A} has no zero-divisors, then \mathcal{A} is not zpd.

Example 4.8. A division algebra of dimension greater than 1 is not zpd. In particular, the field F is the only division zpd algebra over F.

A natural question now is how to construct examples of zpd algebras from the ones that we already know. Fortunately, the class of zpd algebras has a nice behaviour under some classic constructions. For instance, homomorphic image of unital zpd nonassociative algebra is also zpd. The same stability happens for direct sums and tensor products of zpd nonassociative algebras (see [13]).

Definition 4.9. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra. We say that \mathcal{A} is a zero Lie product determined algebra (zLpd algebra for short) if $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$ is zpd.

Clearly commutative algebras are zLpd.

Theorem 4.10. If \mathcal{A} is a *zLpd* unital algebra, then so is $M_n(\mathcal{A})$ for every $n \ge 1$.

In particular, the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ is zLpd.

Definition 4.11. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra. We say that \mathcal{A} is zero Jordan product determined algebra (zJpd algebra for short) if $\mathcal{A}^{(+)}$ is zpd.

Theorem 4.12. Let \mathcal{A} be an unital algebra over a field of characteristic different from 2. If \mathcal{A} is generated by idempotents, then \mathcal{A} is zJpd.

In particular, the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ $(char(F) \neq 2)$ is zJpd.

Let us now summarize the results presented so far concerning the algebra $M_n(F)$. We have seem that $M_n(F)$ is zpd, zLpd and also zJpd. This means the following: for i = 1, 2, 3, let $\varphi_i \colon M_n(F) \times M_n(F) \to F$ be a bilinear functional such that

$$xy = 0 \Rightarrow \varphi_1(x, y) = 0$$
$$xy - yx = 0 \Rightarrow \varphi_2(x, y) = 0$$
$$xy + yx = 0 \Rightarrow \varphi_3(x, y) = 0$$

Then there exist linear functionals $\tau_i \colon M_n(F) \to F$ such that

$$\varphi_1(x,y) = \tau_1(xy)$$
$$\varphi_2(x,y) = \tau_2(xy - yx)$$
$$\varphi_3(x,y) = \tau_3(xy + yx)$$

for all $x, y \in M_n(F)$.

In other words, bilinear functionals on the full matrix algebra preserving zeros of the polynomials xy, xy - yx and xy + yx can be described in terms of a linear functional on the algebra and the polynomial. This motivates the following definition.

Definition 4.13. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra and let $f \in P_m$ be a multilinear polynomial of degree m. We say that \mathcal{A} is an f-zero product determined algebra (f-zpd algebra for short) if for every multilinear functional $\varphi \colon \mathcal{A}^m \to F$ satisfying

 $f(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = 0 \Rightarrow \varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = 0 \quad (a_1,\ldots,a_m \in \mathcal{A})$

then there exists a linear functional $\tau \colon \mathcal{A} \to F$ such that

$$\varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=\tau(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m))$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$.

In light of Theorems 4.2, 4.10, 4.12, we can now pose the following question.

Question 4.14. Let $f \in P_m$. Is the full matrix algebra $M_n(F)$ an f-zpd algebra?

This chapter is concerned with dealing with Question 4.14 and related problems. We now finish this first section with some basic properties of f-zpd algebras.

Remark 4.15. During the rest of this chapter f will always denote a multilinear polynomial of degree m.

Proposition 4.16. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra.

- (i) \mathcal{A} is f-zpd for any polynomial identity f of \mathcal{A} ;
- (ii) Let $\alpha \in F$ be non-zero. Then \mathcal{A} is f-zpd if and only if \mathcal{A} is αf -zpd.

Proof. The proof is straightforward.

Proposition 4.17. Let $\alpha = f(1, ..., 1) \neq 0$. Then \mathcal{A} is f-zpd if and only if any multilinear functional $\varphi \colon \mathcal{A}^m \to F$ preserving zeros of f satisfies

$$\varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = \alpha^{-1}\varphi(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m),1,\ldots,1)$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$.

Proof. Assume that \mathcal{A} is *f*-zpd. Then there exists a linear functional $\tau : \mathcal{A} \to F$ such that $\varphi(a_1, \ldots, a_m) = \tau(f(a_1, \ldots, a_m))$, for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$. Hence

$$\varphi(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m),1,\ldots,1) = \tau(f(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m),1,\ldots,1))$$
$$= \alpha \tau(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m))$$
$$= \alpha \varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m),$$

and the desired conclusion follows. Reciprocally, it is enough to define the linear functional $\tau: \mathcal{A} \to F$ given by

$$\tau(a) = \alpha^{-1} \varphi(a, 1, \dots, 1) \quad \text{for all} \quad a \in \mathcal{A}.$$

Lemma 4.18. An *F*-algebra \mathcal{A} is *f*-zpd if and only if every multilinear functional $\varphi \colon \mathcal{A}^m \to F$ that preserves zeros of *f* satisfies the following condition: for all $N \ge 1$ and all $a_1^{(t)}, \ldots, a_m^{(t)} \in \mathcal{A}, t = 1, \ldots, N$,

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} f\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right) = 0 \implies \sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right) = 0$$
(4.1)

Proof. The "only if" part is clear. To prove the "if" part, denote by \mathcal{A}_0 the linear span of $f(\mathcal{A})$, and observe that (4.1) implies that $\tau_0 \colon \mathcal{A}_0 \to F$,

$$\tau_0\left(\sum_{t=1}^N f\left(a_1^{(t)},\ldots,a_m^{(t)}\right)\right) = \sum_{t=1}^N \varphi\left(a_1^{(t)},\ldots,a_m^{(t)}\right)$$

is a well defined linear functional on \mathcal{A}_0 . Letting $\tau \colon \mathcal{A} \to F$ to be any linear extension of τ_0 , we thus have $\varphi(a_1, \ldots, a_m) = \tau(f(a_1, \ldots, a_m))$ for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$.

Lemma 4.19. Let \mathcal{A} be an f-zpd algebra and let \mathcal{V} be a vector space over F. If a multilinear map $\Phi: \mathcal{A}^m \to \mathcal{V}$ preserves zeros of f, then there exists a linear map $T: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{V}$ such that

$$\Phi(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = T\left(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m)\right)$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$.

Proof. If $\mathcal{V} = F$ then this is true by the definition of an f-zpd algebra. The general case can be easily reduced to this one. Indeed, take a linear functional ω on \mathcal{V} and observe that the composition $\omega \circ \Phi$ is a multilinear functional preserving zeros of f. We may therefore use Lemma 4.18 to conclude that for all $a_1^{(t)}, \ldots, a_m^{(t)} \in A$,

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} f\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right) = 0 \implies$$
$$\omega\left(\sum_{t=1}^{N} \Phi\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right)\right) = \sum_{t=1}^{N} (\omega \circ \Phi)\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right) = 0$$

Since ω is an arbitrary linear functional on \mathcal{V} , it follows that Φ satisfies

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} f\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right) = 0 \implies \sum_{t=1}^{N} \Phi\left(a_{1}^{(t)}, \dots, a_{m}^{(t)}\right) = 0.$$

We can now repeat the argument from the proof of Lemma 4.18, that is, we define the linear map $T_0: \mathcal{A}_0 \to \mathcal{V}$ by

$$T_0\left(\sum_{t=1}^N f\left(a_1^{(t)}, \dots, a_m^{(t)}\right)\right) = \sum_{t=1}^N \Phi\left(a_1^{(t)}, \dots, a_m^{(t)}\right)$$

(where \mathcal{A}_0 is the linear span of the image of f on \mathcal{A}) and extend it to a linear map $T: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{V}$.

4.2 Examples and non-examples of f-zpd algebras

In this section we will be focused in dealing with Question 4.14. While the first subsection is devoted to show that Question 4.14 has a negative answer in general, the following subsections give examples of multilinear polynomials f so that $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd.

4.2.1 The full matrix algebra is not always f-zpd

Until the rest of this section, assume that the field F has more than 3 elements. Pick $\alpha, \beta \in F \setminus \{0, -1\}$ with $\alpha \neq \beta$. Fix $n \geq 2$ and a multilinear central polynomial $c = c(x_1, \ldots, x_l)$ of $M_n(F)$, and define multilinear polynomials h_1, h_2, f, g of degree m = l + 1 by

$$h_1 = c(x_1, \dots, x_{m-2}, x_{m-1})x_m,$$

$$h_2 = c(x_1, \dots, x_{m-2}, x_m)x_{m-1},$$

$$f = h_1 + \alpha h_2,$$

$$q = h_1 + \beta h_2.$$

Example 4.20. If n = 2, then we can take

$$c = [x_1, x_2][x_3, x_4] + [x_3, x_4][x_1, x_2]$$

which is a central polynomial of minimal degree. Then h_1, h_2, f, g are of degree m = 5. For example,

$$f = [x_1, x_2][x_3, x_4]x_5 + [x_3, x_4][x_1, x_2]x_5 + \alpha[x_1, x_2][x_3, x_5]x_4 + \alpha[x_3, x_5][x_1, x_2]x_4$$

The next proposition is related to the multilinear Nullstellensatz from the last section of this chapter.

Proposition 4.21. Let $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in M_n(F)$. The following conditions are equivalent:

(*i*)
$$f(A_1, \ldots, A_m) = 0.$$

(*ii*)
$$g(A_1, \ldots, A_m) = 0.$$

(*iii*)
$$h_1(A_1, \ldots, A_m) = h_2(A_1, \ldots, A_m) = 0.$$

In particular, f and g have the same zero sets. However, g is not the sum of a scalar multiple of f and a polynomial identity.

Proof. Suppose that $f(A_1, \ldots, A_m) = 0$ but $h_1(A_1, \ldots, A_m) \neq 0$. The latter implies $c(A_1, \ldots, A_{m-1}) \neq 0$ which together with $f(A_1, \ldots, A_m) = 0$ shows that $A_m = \lambda A_{m-1}$ for some $\lambda \in F$. Hence,

$$(1 + \alpha)h_1(A_1, \dots, A_m) = \lambda(1 + \alpha)c(A_1, \dots, A_{m-1})A_{m-1}$$

= $c(A_1, \dots, A_{m-2}, A_{m-1})A_m + \alpha c(A_1, \dots, A_{m-2}, A_m)A_{m-1}$
= $f(A_1, \dots, A_m) = 0.$

As $\alpha \neq -1$, this contradicts our assumption. We have thereby shown that (i) implies (iii). Since (iii) trivially implies (i), these two conditions are equivalent. Similarly we see that (ii) and (iii) are equivalent.

Let us now prove that g is not a sum of a scalar multiple of f and polynomial identity of $M_n(F)$. Indeed, assume that $g = \lambda f + h$, where $h \in Id(M_n(F))$. This means that $g - \lambda f \in Id(M_n(F))$, that is,

$$(1-\lambda)c(x_1,\ldots,x_{m-1})x_m + (\beta - \lambda\alpha)c(x_1,\ldots,x_m)x_{m-1} \in Id(M_n(F)).$$

If $\lambda = 1$, then we conclude that $c(x_1, \ldots, x_m)x_{m-1} \in Id(M_n(F))$ which is clearly an absurd. We assume then $\lambda \neq 1$. Taking $A_1, \ldots, A_{m-1} \in M_n(F)$ such that $\gamma = c(A_1, \ldots, A_{m-1}) \neq 0$ and $A_m \in M_n(F)$ linearly independent with A_{m-1} , we see that

$$(1-\lambda)\gamma A_m + (\beta - \lambda\alpha)\delta A_{m-1} = 0,$$

where $\delta \in F$. This is an absurd, and we conclude the proof of the proposition. \Box

The second proposition provides an evidence for the nontriviality of the results of the following subsections.

Proposition 4.22. $M_n(F)$ is not f-zpd.

Proof. Pick $B_1, \ldots, B_{m-1} \in M_n(F)$ such that $c(B_1, \ldots, B_{m-1}) \neq 0$. Hence,

$$\rho(A) = c(B_1, \ldots, B_{m-2}, A)$$

is a non-zero linear functional on $M_n(F)$ (here we identified scalars with scalar multiples of the identity). Let ω be any linear functional on $M_n(F)$ that is linearly independent with ρ . Define $\varphi \colon M_n(F)^m \to F$ by

$$\varphi(A_1,\ldots,A_m)=c(A_1,\ldots,A_{m-1})\omega(A_m).$$

Observe that the implication (i) \implies (iii) from Proposition 4.21 shows that for all $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in M_n(F)$,

$$f(A_1,\ldots,A_m)=0 \implies \varphi(A_1,\ldots,A_m)=0.$$

Suppose $M_n(F)$ were f-zpd. Then there would exist a linear functional τ on $M_n(F)$ such that

$$\varphi(A_1,\ldots,A_m)=\tau\left(f(A_1,\ldots,A_m)\right)$$

for all $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in M_n(F)$. That is,

$$c(A_1, \dots, A_{m-2}, A_{m-1})\omega(A_m)$$

= $c(A_1, \dots, A_{m-2}, A_{m-1})\tau(A_m) + \alpha c(A_1, \dots, A_{m-2}, A_m)\tau(A_{m-1}).$

Taking B_i for A_i , i = 1, ..., m - 2, and writing A for A_{m-1} and B for A_m , we thus have

$$\rho(A)\omega(B) = \rho(A)\tau(B) + \alpha\tau(A)\rho(B)$$

for all $A, B \in M_n(F)$. Picking any $A \notin \ker \rho$ we see that $\tau = \omega + \lambda \rho$ for some $\lambda \in F$. Consequently,

$$((1+\alpha)\lambda\rho(A) + \alpha\omega(A))\rho(B) = 0,$$

which contradicts the linear independence of ρ and ω .

4.2.2 The generalized commutator

This subsection is devoted to the generalized commutator

$$f(x_1, x_2, x_3) = x_1 x_2 x_3 - x_3 x_2 x_1.$$

This is one of the polynomials that deserve special attention (see, e.g., [45]), so the question of whether the algebra $M_n(F)$ is *f*-zpd occurs naturally. We will show that the answer is affirmative.

Throughout this subsection, we assume that $\varphi \colon M_n(F)^3 \to F$ is a 3-linear functional such that for all $A, B, C \in M_n(F)$,

$$ABC - CBA = 0 \implies \varphi(A, B, C) = 0.$$
 (4.2)

Our goal is to prove that φ satisfies the condition presented in Lemma 4.18. Thus, assume that $N \ge 1$ and that the matrices

$$A^{(t)} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a^{t}_{ij} e_{ij}, \qquad B^{(t)} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} b^{t}_{ij} e_{ij}, \qquad C^{(t)} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c^{t}_{ij} e_{ij},$$

 $t = 1, \ldots, N$, where e_{ij} are standard matrix units, satisfy

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} A^{(t)} B^{(t)} C^{(t)} - C^{(t)} B^{(t)} A^{(t)} = 0.$$
(4.3)

We have to show that

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right) = 0.$$
(4.4)

We proceed with a series of lemmas.

Lemma 4.23. We have

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{n} a_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} + \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l\neq i}}^{n} a_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} \right) = 0.$$

Proof. Note that for each pair $(i, j) \in \{1, \ldots, n\}^2$,

$$\left(A^{(t)}B^{(t)}C^{(t)} - C^{(t)}B^{(t)}A^{(t)}\right)_{ij} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} a^{t}_{ik}b^{t}_{kl}c^{t}_{lj} - c^{t}_{ik}b^{t}_{kl}a^{t}_{lj}$$

and hence, by (4.3),

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} a_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} = 0.$$

Clearly $a_{ij}^t b_{ji}^t c_{ij}^t - c_{ij}^t b_{ji}^t a_{ij}^t = 0$ for all t. Hence this sum reduces to the one from the statement of the lemma.

It is obvious that f(A, B, A) = 0 and so

$$\varphi(A, B, A) = 0,$$

yielding

$$\varphi(A, B, C) = -\varphi(C, B, A)$$

for all $A, B, C \in M_n(F)$. In what follows, we will use these two identities without comment.

Lemma 4.24. We have

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right)$$

= $\sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq j}}^{n} a_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) + \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l \neq i}}^{n} a_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) - \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l \neq i}}^{n} c_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) - \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l \neq i}}^{n} c_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) \right).$

Proof. Clearly,

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right) = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a^{t}_{ij} e_{ij}, \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} b^{t}_{kl} e_{kl}, \sum_{p,q=1}^{n} c^{t}_{pq} e_{pq} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{i,j,k,l,p,q=1}^{n} a^{t}_{ij} b^{t}_{kl} c^{t}_{pq} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{kl}, e_{pq}).$$
(4.5)

It is easy to check that if i, j, k, l, p, q satisfy one of the following conditions

$$j \neq k \text{ and } q \neq k,$$

$$j \neq k \text{ and } i \neq l,$$

$$l \neq p \text{ and } q \neq k,$$

$$l \neq p \text{ and } i \neq l,$$

then $f(e_{ij}, e_{kl}, e_{pq}) = 0$ and so $\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{kl}, e_{pq}) = 0$. Hence we may assume that the following relations hold

$$j = k \text{ or } q = k,$$

$$j = k \text{ or } i = l,$$

$$l = p \text{ or } q = k,$$

$$l = p \text{ or } i = l.$$

We can rewrite (4.5) as

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right) = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{i,j,l,q=1\\i,j,l,q=1}}^{n} a^{t}_{ij} b^{t}_{jl} c^{t}_{lq} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lq}) + \sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{i,j,p=1\\k\neq j}}^{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{n} a^{t}_{ij} b^{t}_{ki} c^{t}_{pk} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{ki}, e_{pk}) + \sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\p\neq i}}^{n} \sum_{\substack{p=1\\p\neq i}}^{n} a^{t}_{ij} b^{t}_{ji} c^{t}_{pj} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{ji}, e_{pj}).$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right) = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i,j=1}}^{n} \left(\sum_{\substack{k,l=1\\k\neq j}}^{n} a^{t}_{ik} b^{t}_{kl} c^{t}_{lj} \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) - \sum_{l=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{n} c^{t}_{ik} b^{t}_{kl} a^{t}_{lj} \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) - \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l\neq i}}^{n} c^{t}_{ij} b^{t}_{jl} a^{t}_{lj} \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) \right).$$

Finally, using $\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{ji}, e_{ij}) = 0$ we obtain the statement of the lemma.

Lemma 4.25. If $u \neq l, i; l \neq i, and j \neq k, then$

$$\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{uj}).$$

Proof. Note that

$$f(e_{ik} + e_{uj}, e_{kl} + e_{ku}, e_{lj} + e_{ik}) = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$0 = \varphi(e_{ik} + e_{uj}, e_{kl} + e_{ku}, e_{lj} + e_{ik})$$

$$= \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{lj})$$

$$+ \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{uj}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{uj}, e_{kl}, e_{ik})$$

$$+ \varphi(e_{uj}, e_{ku}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{uj}, e_{ku}, e_{ik})$$

$$= \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{uj}, e_{ku}, e_{ik}).$$

Lemma 4.26. If $l \neq i$ and $k \neq j$, then

$$\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}).$$

Proof. Note that

$$f(e_{ij} + e_{lj}, e_{jl} + e_{kl}, e_{lj} + e_{ik}) = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$0 = \varphi(e_{ij} + e_{lj}, e_{jl} + e_{kl}, e_{lj} + e_{ik})$$

= $\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{kl}, e_{lj})$
+ $\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{kl}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{lj}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{lj}, e_{jl}, e_{ik})$
+ $\varphi(e_{lj}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{lj}, e_{kl}, e_{ik})$
= $\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) + \varphi(e_{lj}, e_{kl}, e_{ik}).$

Lemma 4.27. If $k \neq i$ and $k \neq j$, then

$$\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ki}, e_{ij}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{kj}).$$

Proof. Note that

$$f(e_{ik} + e_{kj}, e_{ki} + e_{kk}, e_{ij} + e_{ik}) = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$0 = \varphi(e_{ik} + e_{kj}, e_{ki} + e_{kk}, e_{ij} + e_{ik})$$

= $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ki}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ki}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{ij})$
+ $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{kj}, e_{ki}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{kj}, e_{ki}, e_{ik})$
+ $\varphi(e_{kj}, e_{kk}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{kj}, e_{kk}, e_{ik})$
= $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ki}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{kj}, e_{kk}, e_{ik}).$

Lemma 4.28. If $k \neq i$, then

$$\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ik}, e_{ki}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{ki}).$$

Proof. Note that

$$f(e_{ii} + e_{ki}, e_{ik} + e_{kk}, e_{ki} + e_{ik}) = 0$$

and therefore

$$0 = \varphi(e_{ii} + e_{ki}, e_{ik} + e_{kk}, e_{ki} + e_{ik})$$

= $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ik}, e_{ki}) + \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ik}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{kk}, e_{ki})$
+ $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{kk}, e_{ik}) + \varphi(e_{ki}, e_{ik}, e_{ki}) + \varphi(e_{ki}, e_{ik}, e_{ik})$
+ $\varphi(e_{ki}, e_{kk}, e_{ki}) + \varphi(e_{ki}, e_{kk}, e_{ik})$
= $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ik}, e_{ki}) + \varphi(e_{ki}, e_{kk}, e_{ik}).$

Lemma 4.29. We have

$$\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ij}, e_{jj}) = \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ii}, e_{ij}) = \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jj}, e_{jj}).$$

Proof. Note that

$$f(e_{ii} + e_{jj}, e_{ii} + e_{ij}, e_{ij} + e_{ii}) = 0$$

Therefore,

$$0 = \varphi(e_{ii} + e_{jj}, e_{ii} + e_{ij}, e_{ij} + e_{ii})$$

= $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ii}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ii}, e_{ii}) + \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ij}, e_{ij})$
+ $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ij}, e_{ii}) + \varphi(e_{jj}, e_{ii}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{jj}, e_{ii}, e_{ii})$
+ $\varphi(e_{jj}, e_{ij}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{jj}, e_{ij}, e_{ii})$
= $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ii}, e_{ij}) + \varphi(e_{jj}, e_{ij}, e_{ii}).$

The second equality can be obtained analogously.

The next result contains all information that we need from the previous five lemmas.

Lemma 4.30. Given $i, j \in \{1, ..., n\}$, the set

$$\Phi_{ij} = \{\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) | k, l = 1 \dots, n\} \setminus \{\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{ji}, e_{ij})\}$$

is a singleton set.

Proof. Assume first that $i \neq j$. We claim that

$$\Phi_{ij} = \{\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jj}, e_{jj})\}.$$

Consider $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj})$ where $k \neq j$ and $l \neq i$. Since $j \neq i$, by Lemma 4.25 we have $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{lj}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kj}, e_{jj})$. We now apply Lemma 4.26 to get $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kj}, e_{jj}) = \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jj}, e_{jj})$.

We now consider the case where $i \neq l$ and j = k. In this case take $u \neq j$ and by Lemma 4.26 we have $\varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jl}, e_{lj}) = \varphi(e_{iu}, e_{ul}, e_{lj})$. However $\varphi(e_{iu}, e_{ul}, e_{lj}) = \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jj}, e_{jj})$ since $u \neq j, l \neq i$ and the previous case.

We now consider the case where $j \neq k$ and i = l. If k = i, then by Lemma 4.29 we have $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{ij}, e_{ij}) = \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jj}, e_{jj})$. In case $k \neq i$, then $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ki}, e_{ij}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{kj})$. We now apply Lemma 4.25 to obtain $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{kj}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kj}, e_{jj})$ and finally Lemma 4.26 to get $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kj}, e_{jj}) = \varphi(e_{ij}, e_{jj}, e_{jj})$ as desired.

We may now consider the case where i = j. Fix $u \neq i$. We claim that

$$\Phi_{ij} = \{\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{iu}, e_{ui})\}.$$

Initially consider $k \neq i$ and $l \neq i$. Then by Lemma 4.25 $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kl}, e_{li}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{ui})$ and by Lemma 4.26 we obtain $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{ui}) = \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{iu}, e_{ui})$.

If $k \neq i$ and l = i, then Lemma 4.27 $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ki}, e_{ii}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{ki})$. By Lemma 4.25 $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{kk}, e_{ki}) = \varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{ui})$ and finally Lemma 4.26 implies $\varphi(e_{ik}, e_{ku}, e_{ui}) = \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{iu}, e_{ui})$.

We now consider k = i and $l \neq i$. By Lemma 4.28 we have $\varphi(e_{ii}, e_{il}, e_{li}) = \varphi(e_{il}, e_{li}, e_{li})$. By Lemma 4.25 $\varphi(e_{il}, e_{ll}, e_{li}) = \varphi(e_{il}, e_{lu}, e_{ui})$ and then Lemma 4.26 implies $\varphi(e_{il}, e_{lu}, e_{ui}) = \varphi(e_{ii}, e_{iu}, e_{ui})$.

Theorem 4.31. Let $f = x_1x_2x_3 - x_3x_2x_1$. Then the algebra $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd.

Proof. As already mentioned, in light of Lemma 4.18 it is enough to prove (4.4). Considering the right-hand side of the identity given in Lemma 4.24, and denoting $\Phi_{ij} = \{\varphi_{ij}\}$ by Lemma 4.30, we therefore have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right) &= \sum_{t=1}^{N} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq j}}^{n} a_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} + \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l \neq i}}^{n} a_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} \right) \varphi_{ij} \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq j}}^{n} a_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ik}^{t} b_{kl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} + \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l \neq i}}^{n} a_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} c_{lj}^{t} - c_{ij}^{t} b_{jl}^{t} a_{lj}^{t} \right) \varphi_{ij}. \end{split}$$

Invoking Lemma 4.23 we now obtain the desired conclusion that

$$\sum_{t=1}^{N} \varphi \left(A^{(t)}, B^{(t)}, C^{(t)} \right) = 0.$$

4.2.3 Polynomials given by cyclic permutations

In this subsection we deal with a multilinear polynomial f whose monomials correspond to a cyclic permutation and satisfies the condition that the sum of its coefficients is non-zero. The only assumption that we will require on our algebra is that it is generated by idempotents. In our proof we will use ideas from the proof that an algebra generated by idempotents is zJpd (see [6] or [13, Theorem 3.15]).

Let us now state the theorem.

Theorem 4.32. Let char(F) $\neq 2$, let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m \in F$ be such that $\sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \neq 0$, and let

$$f(x_1,\ldots,x_m) = \alpha_1 x_1 \cdots x_m + \alpha_2 x_2 \cdots x_m x_1 + \cdots + \alpha_m x_m x_1 \cdots x_{m-1}.$$

If an F-algebra \mathcal{A} is generated by idempotents, then \mathcal{A} is f-zpd.

Proof. In light of Proposition 4.16(*ii*), we may assume without loss of generality that $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i = 1$. Let φ be an *m*-linear functional preserving zeros of *f*. By Proposition 4.17, it suffices to prove that φ satisfies

$$\varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = \varphi(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m),1,\ldots,1) \tag{4.6}$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$.

Set $\alpha_{m+1} = \alpha_1$. We claim that $\alpha_i + \alpha_{i+1} \neq 0$ for some *i*. Indeed, if *m* is even then this is immediate from

$$1 = (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) + \dots + (\alpha_{m-1} + \alpha_m),$$

and if m is odd this follows from the observation that

$$\alpha_1 = -\alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_m = -\alpha_1$$

implies $2\alpha_1 = 0$ and hence $\alpha_1 = 0$, so we can again use the assumption that the sum of all α_i is 1. After relabeling, if necessary, we may assume that i = m, i.e.,

$$\alpha_1 + \alpha_m \neq 0.$$

Let \mathcal{S} denote the set of all $s \in \mathcal{A}$ such that

$$\varphi(a_1, \ldots, a_{m-1}, s) = \varphi(f(a_1, \ldots, a_{m-1}, s), 1, \ldots, 1)$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_{m-1} \in \mathcal{A}$. To prove (4.6), we have to show that $\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{A}$. We will establish this by induction on m.

In the base case where m = 2 we have

$$f(x_1, x_2) = \alpha_1 x_1 x_2 + \alpha_2 x_2 x_1$$

with $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 1$. The proof that we will give is just a minor modification of the proof that \mathcal{A} is zJpd (i.e., of the case where $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$).

Since S is a vector subspace of A, it is enough to show that S contains every product of the form $e_1e_2\cdots e_n$ where e_i are idempotents in A. We proceed by induction on n. Let $e \in A$ be an idempotent, and let us first prove that $e \in S$. Considering an arbitrary $a \in A$ and writing h = 1 - e, we have

$$a = eae + hae + eah + hah$$

and hence

$$\varphi(a,e) = \varphi(eae,e) + \varphi(hae,e) + \varphi(eah,e) + \varphi(hah,e).$$

Recalling that $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 1$, one can easily check that

$$f(hae, e - \alpha_1) = f(eah, e - \alpha_2) = f(eae, h) = f(hah, e) = 0,$$

which gives us the following relations

$$\varphi(hae, e) = \alpha_1 \varphi(hae, 1),$$

$$\varphi(eah, e) = \alpha_2 \varphi(eah, 1),$$

$$\varphi(eae, e) = \varphi(eae, 1),$$

$$\varphi(hah, e) = 0.$$

Consequently,

$$\varphi(a, e) = \varphi(eae, e) + \varphi(eah, e) + \varphi(hae, e) + \varphi(hah, e)$$
$$= \varphi(eae, 1) + \alpha_1 \varphi(hae, 1) + \alpha_2 \varphi(eah, 1)$$
$$= \varphi(eae + \alpha_1 hae + \alpha_2 eah, 1)$$
$$= \varphi(f(a, e), 1).$$

We have thus shown that $e \in \mathcal{S}$.

Next, assuming that S contains products of n idempotents, let us prove that S also contains $e_1 \cdots e_n e_{n+1}$, where each $e_i \in A$ is an idempotent. Write

$$h_1 = 1 - e_1, h_{n+1} = 1 - e_{n+1}, t = e_2 \cdots e_n$$

(t = 1 if n = 1), so we want to prove that $e_1 t e_{n+1} \in \mathcal{S}$. For any $a \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$a = e_{n+1}ae_1 + h_{n+1}ae_1 + e_{n+1}ah_1 + h_{n+1}ah_1$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \varphi(a, e_1 t e_{n+1}) &= \varphi(e_{n+1} a e_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) + \varphi(h_{n+1} a e_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(e_{n+1} a h_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) + \varphi(h_{n+1} a h_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &= \varphi(e_{n+1} a e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t + h_1 t h_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(h_{n+1} a e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(e_{n+1} a h_1, e_1 t - e_1 t h_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(h_{n+1} a h_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}). \end{split}$$

Since

 $f(e_{n+1}ae_1, h_1th_{n+1}) = 0,$ $f(h_{n+1}ae_1, h_1te_{n+1}) = 0,$ $f(e_{n+1}ah_1, e_1th_{n+1}) = 0,$ $f(h_{n+1}ah_1, e_1te_{n+1}) = 0$

and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi(e_{n+1}ae_1, h_1th_{n+1}) &= 0, \\ \varphi(h_{n+1}ae_1, h_1te_{n+1}) &= 0, \\ \varphi(e_{n+1}ah_1, e_1th_{n+1}) &= 0, \\ \varphi(h_{n+1}ah_1, e_1te_{n+1}) &= 0, \end{aligned}$$

we can conclude that

$$\varphi(a, e_1 t e_{n+1}) = \varphi(e_{n+1} a e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t) + \varphi(h_{n+1} a e_1, t e_{n+1}) + \varphi(e_{n+1} a h_1, e_1 t)$$

Since te_{n+1} , h_1t , te_{n+1} , e_1t lie in S by the induction hypothesis, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi(e_{n+1}ae_1, te_{n+1}) &= \varphi(\alpha_1 e_{n+1}ae_1 te_{n+1} + \alpha_2 te_{n+1}ae_1, 1) \\ \varphi(e_{n+1}ae_1, h_1 t) &= \varphi(\alpha_2 h_1 te_{n+1}ae_1, 1), \\ \varphi(h_{n+1}ae_1, te_{n+1}) &= \varphi(\alpha_1 h_{n+1}ae_1 te_{n+1}, 1), \\ \varphi(e_{n+1}ah_1, e_1 t) &= \varphi(\alpha_2 e_1 te_{n+1}ah_1, 1). \end{aligned}$$

One easily checks that this implies that

$$\varphi(a, e_1 t e_{n+1}) = \varphi(f(a, e_1 t e_{n+1}), 1).$$

Hence $e_1 t e_{n+1} \in S$, which concludes the proof for the base case where m = 2.

Assume now m > 2 and that the result holds for m - 1, and so in particular for the polynomial $f(x_1, \ldots, x_{m-1}, 1)$ (which is also of the required form). As the (m-1)-linear functional $\varphi(a_1, \ldots, a_{m-1}, 1)$ preserves its zeros, we have

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, 1) = \varphi(f(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, 1), 1, \dots, 1)$$
(4.7)

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_{m-1} \in \mathcal{A}$.

As in the m = 2 case, it is enough to show that S contains every element of the form $e_1e_2\cdots e_n$ where e_i are idempotents in A. The proof that we will give is conceptually similar to the one just given, but the necessary changes are not obvious. We proceed by induction on n.

To handle the base case, take an idempotent $e = e_1 \in \mathcal{A}$. We must prove that $e \in \mathcal{S}$. Denote 1 - e by h and write $a_1 = ea_1 + ha_1$ and $a_{m-1} = a_{m-1}e + a_{m-1}h$. Thus,

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e) = \varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e) + \varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, e) + \varphi(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e) + \varphi(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, e).$$
(4.8)

It is easy to see that

$$f(ea_{1}, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e-1) = 0,$$

$$f(ea_{1}, \dots, a_{m-1}h, (\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{m})e - \alpha_{m}) = 0,$$

$$f(ha_{1}, \dots, a_{m-1}e, (\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{m})e - \alpha_{1}) = 0,$$

$$f(ha_{1}, \dots, a_{m-1}h, e) = 0.$$

(4.9)

Of course, φ then satisfies the same identities, which can be written as

$$\varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e) = \varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, 1),$$

$$(\alpha_1 + \alpha_m)\varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, e) = \alpha_m\varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, 1),$$

$$(\alpha_1 + \alpha_m)\varphi(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e) = \alpha_1\varphi(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, 1),$$

$$\varphi(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, e) = 0.$$

Consequently, (4.8) becomes

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e) = \varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, 1)$$
$$+ \alpha_m (\alpha_1 + \alpha_m)^{-1} \varphi(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, 1)$$
$$+ \alpha_1 (\alpha_1 + \alpha_m)^{-1} \varphi(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, 1).$$

Applying (4.7) it follows that

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e) = \varphi(f(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, 1), 1, \dots, 1) + \alpha_m (\alpha_1 + \alpha_m)^{-1} \varphi(f(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, 1), 1, \dots, 1) + \alpha_1 (\alpha_1 + \alpha_m)^{-1} \varphi(f(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, 1), 1, \dots, 1).$$

Using (4.9) we obtain

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e) = \varphi(f(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e), 1, \dots, 1) + \varphi(f(ea_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h, e), 1, \dots, 1) + \varphi(f(ha_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e, e), 1, \dots, 1).$$

Since $f(ha_1, \ldots, a_{m-1}h, e) = 0$ (see (4.9)), it follows that

$$\varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_{m-1},e) = \varphi(f(a_1,\ldots,a_{m-1},e),1,\ldots,1).$$

This means that $e \in \mathcal{S}$, as desired.

We may now assume that any product of n idempotents is contained in S. Take idempotents e_1, \ldots, e_{n+1} and let us prove that S contains $e_1 \cdots e_n e_{n+1}$. Write

$$h_1 = 1 - e_1, \quad h_{n+1} = 1 - e_{n+1}, \quad t = e_2 \cdots e_n$$

(t = 1 if n = 1). We have to show that $e_1 t e_{n+1} \in \mathcal{S}$. Take $a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_{m-1} \in \mathcal{A}$ and write

$$a_1 = e_{n+1}a_1 + h_{n+1}a_1$$
 and $a_{m-1} = a_{m-1}e_1 + a_{m-1}h_1$.

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e_1 t e_{n+1}) &= \varphi(e_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} e_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(e_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} h_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(h_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} e_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(e_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t + h_1 t h_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(e_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} h_1, e_1 t - e_1 t h_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(h_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &+ \varphi(h_{n+1} a_1, \dots, a_{m-1} h_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \end{aligned}$$

One easily checks that

$$f(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, h_1th_{n+1}) = 0,$$

$$f(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h_1, e_1th_{n+1}) = 0,$$

$$f(h_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, h_1te_{n+1}) = 0,$$

$$f(h_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h_1, e_1te_{n+1}) = 0.$$

(4.10)

As φ then satisfies the same identities, it follows that

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e_1 t e_{n+1}) = \varphi(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t) + \varphi(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h_1, e_1 t) + \varphi(h_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, t e_{n+1}).$$

Since $te_{n+1}, h_1t, e_1t, te_{n+1} \in S$ by the induction assumption, it follows that

$$\varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e_1 t e_{n+1}) = \varphi(f(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t), 1, \dots, 1) + \varphi(f(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h_1, e_1 t), 1, \dots, 1) + \varphi(f(h_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, t e_{n+1}), 1, \dots, 1).$$

Applying (4.10) we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} \varphi(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e_1 t e_{n+1}) \\ &= \varphi(f(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t + h_1 t h_{n+1}), 1, \dots, 1) \\ &+ \varphi(f(e_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h_1, e_1 t - e_1 t h_{n+1}), 1, \dots, 1) \\ &+ \varphi(f(h_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}e_1, t e_{n+1} - h_1 t e_{n+1}), 1, \dots, 1) \\ &+ \varphi(f(h_{n+1}a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}h_1, e_1 t e_{n+1}), 1, \dots, 1) \\ &= \varphi(f(a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, e_1 t e_{n+1}), 1, \dots, 1). \end{split}$$

This means that $e_1 t e_{n+1} \in S$ and the proof is complete.

4.2.4 Constructing new examples from old ones

To state our first result in this section, we need the following generalization of the definition of a f-zpd algebra.

Definition 4.33. Let $f = f(x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in F\langle x_1, x_2, \ldots \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial, let \mathcal{A} be an F-algebra, and let $\mathcal{V}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{V}_m$ be vector subspaces of \mathcal{A} . We say that the set $\mathcal{V}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{V}_m$ is f-zpd if for every m-linear functional $\varphi \colon \mathcal{V}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{V}_m \to F$ with the property that for all $a_i \in \mathcal{V}_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$f(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=0 \implies \varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=0,$$

there exists a linear functional τ on \mathcal{A} such that

$$\varphi(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=\tau\left(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m)\right)$$

for all $a_i \in \mathcal{V}_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

Clearly $\mathcal{A}^m = \mathcal{A} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{A}$ being *f*-zpd is the same thing as \mathcal{A} being *f*-zpd.

We draw the readers' attention here that the L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture indicates that the assumption (a) from the following theorem is not artificial. The theorem actually concerns an arbitrary algebra \mathcal{A} , but of course we are primarily interested in the case where $\mathcal{A} = M_n(F)$.

Theorem 4.34. Let \mathcal{A} be an F-algebra and let $k \ge 1$. For each i = 1, ..., k, let $f_i(x_{i_1}, ..., x_{i_{m_i}}) \in F\langle x_1, x_2, ... \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial in m_i variables and let $\mathcal{V}_1^{(i)}, \ldots, \mathcal{V}_{m_i}^{(i)}$ be vector subspaces of \mathcal{A} . Set

$$\mathcal{U}_i = \mathcal{V}_1^{(i)} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{V}_{m_i}^{(i)}.$$

Further, let $f_0 \in F\langle x_1, x_2, \ldots \rangle$ be a multilinear polynomial in k variables, and let

$$f = f_0 \left(f_1, \dots, f_k \right).$$

Suppose that the following three conditions are satisfied:

- (a) For each i = 1, ..., k, $f_i(\mathcal{U}_i)$ is a vector subspace of \mathcal{A} .
- (b) For each i = 1, ..., k, the set \mathcal{U}_i is f_i -zpd.
- (c) The set $f_1(\mathcal{U}_1) \times \cdots \times f_k(\mathcal{U}_k)$ is f_0 -zpd.

Then the set $\mathcal{U}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{U}_k$ is f-zpd.

Proof. For each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, we set

$$\mathcal{W}_i = \mathcal{U}_i \times \mathcal{U}_{i+1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{U}_k.$$

Our goal is to prove that \mathcal{W}_1 is *f*-zpd. Thus, take a multilinear functional $\varphi \colon \mathcal{W}_1 \to F$ that preserves zeros of *f*, that is, for all $a_j^{(i)} \in \mathcal{V}_j^{(i)}$,

$$f\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right) = 0 \implies \varphi\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right) = 0.$$

Define the multilinear functional $\varphi_{a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}} \colon \mathcal{U}_1 \to F$ by

$$\varphi_{a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_1}^{(1)}\right) = \varphi\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_1}^{(1)},a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right).$$

Clearly $\varphi_{a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}$ preserves zeros of f_1 on \mathcal{U}_1 . Since \mathcal{U}_1 is f_1 -zpd, there is a linear functional $\tau_{a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}} : \mathcal{A} \to F$ such that

$$\varphi_{a_1^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(a_1^{(1)},\dots,a_{m_1}^{(1)}\right) = \tau_{a_1^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(f_1\left(a_1^{(1)},\dots,a_{m_1}^{(1)}\right)\right)$$

Now define $\Phi_1: f_1(\mathcal{U}_1) \times \mathcal{W}_2 \to F$ by

$$\Phi_1\left(a_1, a_1^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_2}^{(2)}, \dots, a_1^{(k)}, \dots, a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right) = \tau_{a_1^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_k}^{(k)}}(a_1)$$

The linearity of Φ_1 in the first argument is obvious. Let us prove the linearity of Φ_1 in the second argument. It is enough to show that

$$\tau_{a_1^{(2)}+b_1^{(2)},a_2^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}} = \tau_{a_1^{(2)},a_2^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}} + \tau_{b_1^{(2)},a_2^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}$$
(4.11)

and

$$\tau_{\lambda a_1^{(2)}, a_2^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_k}^{(k)}} = \lambda \tau_{a_1^{(2)}, a_2^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_k}^{(k)}}$$
(4.12)

where $\lambda \in F$. Take $a_1 \in f(\mathcal{U}_1)$ and write $a_1 = f_1\left(a_1^{(1)}, \ldots, a_{m_1}^{(1)}\right)$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \tau_{a_{1}^{(2)}+b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\left(a_{1}\right) &= \tau_{a_{1}^{(2)}+b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\left(f_{1}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right)\right) \\ &= \varphi_{a_{1}^{(2)}+b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right) \\ &= \varphi\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)},a_{1}^{(2)}+b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right) \\ &= \varphi\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)},a_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right) \\ &+ \varphi\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)},b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right) \\ &= \varphi_{a_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right) \\ &= \tau_{a_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right) \\ &+ \tau_{b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\left(f_{1}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right)\right) \\ &= \left(\tau_{a_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}+\tau_{b_{1}^{(2)},a_{2}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}}\right)(a_{1}), \end{split}$$

which proves (4.11). The proof of (4.12) is similar. Analogously we see that Φ_1 is linear in other arguments, so Φ_1 is a multilinear functional. Moreover,

$$\varphi\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)},a_{1}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{2}}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{1}^{(k)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right)$$
$$=\Phi_{1}\left(f_{1}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right),a_{1}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_{2}}^{(2)},\ldots,a_{1}^{(k)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right)$$

for all $a_j^{(i)} \in \mathcal{V}_j^{(i)}$. From this we see that the multilinear functional

$$\varphi_{a_1,a_1^{(3)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}:\mathcal{U}_2\to F_2$$

given by

$$\varphi_{a_1,a_1^{(3)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_2}^{(2)}\right) = \Phi_1\left(a_1,a_1^{(2)},\ldots,a_{m_2}^{(2)},a_1^{(3)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right),$$

preserves zeros of f_2 on \mathcal{U}_2 . As \mathcal{U}_2 is f_2 -zpd, there exists a linear functional

$$\tau_{a_1,a_1^{(3)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}:\mathcal{A}\to F$$

such that

$$\varphi_{a_1,a_1^{(3)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(a_1^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_2}^{(2)}\right) = \tau_{a_1,a_1^{(3)},\dots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(f_2\left(a_1^{(2)},\dots,a_{m_2}^{(2)}\right)\right).$$

Next we define

$$\Phi_2\colon f_1(\mathcal{U}_1)\times f_2(\mathcal{U}_2)\times \mathcal{W}_3\to F$$

by

$$\Phi_2\left(a_1, a_2, a_1^{(3)}, \dots, a_{m_3}^{(3)}, \dots, a_1^{(k)}, \dots, a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right) = \tau_{a_1, a_1^{(3)}, \dots, a_{m_k}^{(k)}}\left(a_2\right)$$

We show that Φ_2 is multilinear in a similar fashion as we showed that Φ_1 is multilinear. Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi \left(a_{1}^{(1)}, \dots, a_{m_{k}}^{(k)} \right) \\ = & \Phi_{1} \left(f_{1} \left(a_{1}^{(1)}, \dots, a_{m_{1}}^{(1)} \right), a_{1}^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_{2}}^{(2)}, \dots, a_{1}^{(k)}, \dots, a_{m_{k}}^{(k)} \right) \\ = & \varphi_{f_{1}(a_{1}^{(1)}, \dots, a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}), a_{1}^{(3)}, \dots, a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}} \left(a_{1}^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_{2}}^{(2)} \right) \\ = & \tau_{f_{1}(a_{1}^{(1)}, \dots, a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}), a_{1}^{(3)}, \dots, a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}} \left(f_{2} \left(a_{1}^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_{2}}^{(2)} \right) \right) \\ = & \Phi_{2} \left(f_{1} \left(a_{1}^{(1)}, \dots, a_{m_{1}}^{(1)} \right), f_{2} \left(a_{1}^{(2)}, \dots, a_{m_{2}}^{(2)} \right), a_{1}^{(3)}, \dots, a_{m_{k}}^{(k)} \right) . \end{split}$$

Repeating this process, we obtain the existence of a multilinear functional

$$\Phi \colon f_1(\mathcal{U}_1) \times f_2(\mathcal{U}_2) \times \cdots \times f_k(\mathcal{U}_k) \to F$$

satisfying

$$\varphi\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right)=\Phi\left(f_{1}\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)}\right),\ldots,f_{k}\left(a_{1}^{(k)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right)\right)$$

for $a_j^{(i)} \in \mathcal{V}_j^{(i)}$. Suppose $f_0(a_1, \ldots, a_k) = 0$ for some $a_i \in f(\mathcal{U}_i)$. Write $a_i = f_i\left(a_1^{(i)}, \ldots, a_{m_i}^{(i)}\right)$, we then have

$$f\left(a_{1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_{1}}^{(1)},\ldots,a_{1}^{(k)},\ldots,a_{m_{k}}^{(k)}\right)=0.$$

Hence

$$\varphi\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_1}^{(1)},\ldots,a_1^{(k)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right) = 0$$

that is,

$$\Phi(a_1,\ldots,a_k) = \Phi\left(f_1\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_1}^{(1)}\right),\ldots,f_k\left(a_1^{(k)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right)\right) = 0.$$

Therefore, Φ preserves zeros of f_0 . Since $f_1(\mathcal{U}_1) \times \cdots \times f_k(\mathcal{U}_k)$ is f_0 -zpd, there exists a linear functional $\tau : \mathcal{A} \to F$ such that, for all $a_i \in f_i(\mathcal{U}_i)$,

$$\Phi(a_1,\ldots,a_k)=\tau(f_0(a_1,\ldots,a_k)).$$

The proof is complete since, for all $a_i^{(i)} \in \mathcal{A}$,

$$\varphi\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right) = \tau\left(f\left(a_1^{(1)},\ldots,a_{m_k}^{(k)}\right)\right).$$

The following corollary is immediate.

Corollary 4.35. Let f_1, \ldots, f_k be multilinear polynomials in distinct variables and let f_0 be a multilinear polynomial in k variables. Let \mathcal{A} be an F-algebra satisfying the following two conditions:

- (a) A is f_i -zpd for i = 0, 1, ..., k.
- (b) $f_i(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

Then the algebra \mathcal{A} is f-zpd where $f = f_0(f_1, \ldots, f_k)$.

The applicability of Theorem 4.34 and Corollary 4.35 of course depends on the validity of the L'vov-Kaplansky conjecture and its variants.

We continue with a lemma needed for another corollary to Theorem 4.34. Recall that $sl_n(F)$ stands for the Lie algebra of traceless matrices in $M_n(F)$.

Lemma 4.36. Let $f_0 = [x_1, x_2]$ and let $\mathcal{V}_1, \mathcal{V}_2 \in \{sl_n(F), M_n(F)\}$. Then the set $\mathcal{V}_1 \times \mathcal{V}_2$ is f_0 -zpd, provided that char(F) is 0 or does not divide n.

Proof. We know that $M_n(F)$ is zLpd (see Theorem 4.10), which means that $M_n(F) \times M_n(F)$ is f_0 -zpd.

Let $\varphi \colon sl_n(F) \times M_n(F) \to F$ be a bilinear functional preserving zeros of f_0 . Our assumption on char(F) implies that $M_n(F) = sl_n(F) \oplus F \cdot 1$. Therefore, we extend φ to $M_n(F)^2$ by setting $\varphi(1, a) = 0$ for all $a \in M_n(F)$. Let now $a, b \in M_n(F)$ be such that [a, b] = 0. Writing $a = [a_1, a_2] + \lambda 1$ with $a_1, a_2 \in M_n(F)$ and $\lambda \in F$, we thus have $[[a_1, a_2], b] = 0$. Since $[a_1, a_2] \in sl_n(F)$, it follows that

$$\varphi(a,b) = \varphi([a_1,a_2],b) = 0.$$

As $M_n(F)$ is zLpd, there exists a linear functional $\tau: M_n(F) \to F$ such that $\varphi(c,d) = \tau([c,d])$ for all $c, d \in M_n(F)$, and so in particular for all $c \in sl_n(F)$ and $d \in M_n(F)$. This proves that the set $sl_n(F) \times M_n(F)$ is f_0 -zpd.

The $M_n(F) \times sl_n(F)$ case can be handled similarly, and so can be the $sl_n(F) \times sl_n(F)$ case. Indeed, one extends a bilinear functional φ defined on $sl_n(F) \times sl_n(F)$ to $M_n(F)^2$ by setting $\varphi(1, a) = \varphi(a, 1) = 0$ for all $a \in M_n(F)$.

Corollary 4.37. If f is a multilinear Lie monomial, then the algebra $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd, provided that char(F) is 0 or does not divide n.

Proof. First let us show that $f(M_n(F))$ is a vector space. In fact, we claim that $f(M_n(F)) = sl_n(F)$, unless the degree m of f is 1, in which case $f(M_n(F))$ is obviously equal to $M_n(F)$. We may therefore assume that m > 1 and that our claim is true for Lie monomials of degree less than m. Write $f = [f_1, f_2]$, where f_1 and f_2 are multilinear Lie monomials in distinct variables of degree at most m - 1. By [2], every matrix in $sl_n(F)$ is a commutator of two matrices from $M_n(F)$. However, since $M_n(F) = sl_n(F) \oplus F \cdot 1$ by the characteristic assumption, it is actually a commutator of two matrices from $sl_n(F)$. Since, by our assumption, $f_1(M_n(F))$ and $f_2(M_n(F))$ contain $sl_n(F)$, it follows that $f(M_n(F)) = sl_n(F)$.

Let us now prove that $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd. There is nothing to prove if m = 1, so we may assume that m > 1 and that by writing $f = [f_1, f_2]$ as above we have that $M_n(F)$ is f_i -zpd, i = 1, 2. Since $f_i(M_n(F)) \in \{sl_n(F), M_n(F)\}$, taking into account Lemma 4.36 we can apply Theorem 4.34 to conclude that $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd. \Box

It is clear that the method of proof can be used for some other polynomials. For example, using the fact that the algebra $M_n(F)$ is zJpd (Theorem 4.12) and that the polynomial $f_0 = x_1x_2 + x_2x_1$ obviously satisfies $f_0(M_n(F)) = M_n(F)$ provided that $\operatorname{char}(F) \neq 2$, we see that Corollary 4.35 yields the following result (by a Jordan monomial we mean a monomial in the free special Jordan algebra).

Corollary 4.38. Let $char(F) \neq 2$. If f is a multilinear Jordan monomial, then the algebra $M_n(F)$ is f-zpd.

4.3 A multilinear Nullstellensatz

In this last section we consider the situation where f and g are multilinear polynomials of the same degree m such that every zero of f in \mathcal{A}^m , where \mathcal{A} is an algebra, is also a zero of g, that is, for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$,

$$f(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=0\implies g(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=0.$$

From Lemma 4.19 it is evident that the situation above it is a special case of the condition from the definition of an f-zpd algebra. It is therefore natural to ask whether the problem of describing the relation between f and g can be solved in any f-zpd algebra. In the next proposition, we give a positive answer under the assumption that $f(1, \ldots, 1) \neq 0$.

Proposition 4.39. Let \mathcal{A} be an F-algebra and let $f, g \in F\langle x_1, x_2, ... \rangle$ be multilinear polynomials of degree m such that every zero of f in \mathcal{A}^m is a zero of g. If \mathcal{A} is f-zpd and $f(1, ..., 1) \neq 0$, then there exist an scalar $\lambda \in F$ and a polynomial identity h of \mathcal{A} such that $g = \lambda f + h$.

Proof. It is clear from our assumptions that

$$(a_1,\ldots,a_m)\mapsto g(a_1,\ldots,a_m)$$

is an *m*-linear map that preserves zeros of f. Lemma 4.19 therefore shows that there exists a linear map $T: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ satisfying

$$g(a_1,\ldots,a_m)=T(f(a_1,\ldots,a_m)).$$

Thus, for every $a \in \mathcal{A}$ we have

$$g(1,\ldots,1)a = g(a,1,\ldots,1) = T(f(a,1,\ldots,1)) = f(1,\ldots,1)T(a).$$

Setting $\lambda = g(1, ..., 1)f(1, ..., 1)^{-1}$ we thus have $T(a) = \lambda a$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$, and hence

$$g(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = \lambda f(a_1,\ldots,a_m)$$

for all $a_1, \ldots, a_m \in \mathcal{A}$. This means that $h = g - \lambda f$ is a polynomial identity of \mathcal{A} .

Corollary 4.40. Let char(F) $\neq 2$, let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m \in F$ be such that $\sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i \neq 0$, and let

$$f(x_1,\ldots,x_m) = \alpha_1 x_1 \cdots x_m + \alpha_2 x_2 \cdots x_m x_1 + \cdots + \alpha_m x_m x_1 \cdots x_{m-1}$$

If an *F*-algebra \mathcal{A} is generated by idempotents and *g* is a multilinear polynomial of degree *m* such that every zero of *f* in \mathcal{A}^m is a zero of *g*, then there exist an scalar $\lambda \in F$ and a polynomial identity *h* of \mathcal{A} such that $g = \lambda f + h$.

Proof. This is immediate from Theorem 4.32 and Proposition 4.39.

From now on we consider the case where $\mathcal{A} = M_n(F)$. We recall from Proposition 4.21 that the conclusion of Proposition 4.39 then does not always hold. Our goal is to show that it does hold provided that m < 2n - 3. In fact, since, as is well known, $M_n(F)$ has no polynomial identities of degree less than 2n, we will actually prove that f and gare linearly dependent. To this end, we start by introducing the necessary notation.

In what follows, let $\alpha_{\sigma}, \beta_{\sigma} \in F$ be such that

$$f = \sum_{\sigma \in S_m} \alpha_{\sigma} x_{\sigma(1)} \cdots x_{\sigma(m)},$$
$$g = \sum_{\sigma \in S_m} \beta_{\sigma} x_{\sigma(1)} \cdots x_{\sigma(m)}.$$

We set

$$\operatorname{Supp}(f) = \{ \sigma \in S_m \mid \alpha_\sigma \neq 0 \}$$

and similarly we define $\operatorname{Supp}(g)$. Further, for each $\sigma \in S_m$ we write

$$(x_1,\ldots,x_m)_{\sigma}=x_{\sigma(1)}\cdots x_{\sigma(m)}.$$

Thus, for example,

$$f = \sum_{\sigma \in S_m} \alpha_{\sigma}(x_1, \dots, x_m)_{\sigma}.$$

We will consider evaluations $(a_1, \ldots, a_m)_{\sigma}$ with $a_i \in M_n(F)$.

The next two definitions are standard in group theory.

Definition 4.41. We define a metric d on S_m by letting $d(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)$ to be the least nonnegative integer k for which there exists a sequence of transpositions $\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_k \in S_m$ such that $\tau_k \cdots \tau_1 \sigma_1 = \sigma_2$.

The next definition concerns any subset T of S_m , but we will be actually interested in the case where T = Supp(f).

Definition 4.42. Let T be a subset of S_m . We define an equivalence relation on T as follows: $\sigma_1 \sim \sigma_2$ if and only if there exists a (possibly empty) sequence of transpositions $\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_k$ such that

- (a) $\tau_i \cdots \tau_1 \sigma_1 \in T, \ i = 1, \dots, k-1,$
- (b) $\tau_k \cdots \tau_1 \sigma_1 = \sigma_2$.

The following theorem is the main result of this section.

Theorem 4.43. Let $f, g \in F\langle x_1, x_2, ... \rangle$ be multilinear polynomials of degree m such that every zero of f in $M_n(F)^m$ is a zero of g. If m < 2n - 3, then there exists an scalar $\lambda \in F$ such that $f = \lambda g$.

Proof. Set $m_0 = \frac{m}{2} + 1$ if m is even and $m_0 = \frac{m+1}{2}$ if m is odd. Note that $m_0 + 1 \le n$ since m + 3 < 2n. Define a sequence $\boldsymbol{e} = (e_1, \ldots, e_m)$ by setting

$$e_1 = e_{11}, \quad e_2 = e_{12}, \quad e_3 = e_{22}, \quad \dots, \quad e_m = \begin{cases} e_{m_0 - 1, m_0} & m \text{ even} \\ e_{m_0, m_0} & m \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$

For any $\sigma, \pi \in S_m$, we have

$$(e_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,e_{\sigma(m)})_{\pi} = e_{\pi(\sigma(1))}\cdots e_{\pi(\sigma(m))} = \begin{cases} e_{1,m_0} & \text{if } \sigma = \pi^{-1} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, for every $\sigma \in S_m$ we have

$$\alpha_{\sigma} = 0 \implies f\left(e_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \dots, e_{\sigma^{-1}(m)}\right) = \alpha_{\sigma}e_{1,m_0} = 0$$
$$\implies g\left(e_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \dots, e_{\sigma^{-1}(m)}\right) = \beta_{\sigma}e_{1,m_0} = 0$$
$$\implies \beta_{\sigma} = 0.$$

We have thereby proved that

$$\operatorname{Supp}(g) \subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(f). \tag{4.13}$$

Take $\sigma \in \text{Supp}(f)$ and write $\lambda = \alpha_{\sigma}^{-1}\beta_{\sigma}$, so that $\beta_{\sigma} = \lambda \alpha_{\sigma}$. We claim that

$$\beta_{\tau\sigma} = \lambda \alpha_{\tau\sigma} \tag{4.14}$$

for every transposition τ . Indeed, without loss of generality we may assume that $\sigma = (1)$ and we write $\tau = (pq)$ with p < q. We consider four cases.

Case 1: p and q are both even. In this case e_p and e_q are square-zero matrices. Hence, considering the matrices

$$a_i = e_i, \ i \in \{1, \dots, m\} \setminus \{p, q\},$$
$$a_p = e_p + e_q,$$
$$a_q = \alpha_{(1)}e_p - \alpha_\tau e_q,$$

we have

$$f(a_1,\ldots,a_m) = (\alpha_\tau \alpha_{(1)} - \alpha_{(1)} \alpha_\tau) e_{1,m_0} = 0.$$

This implies that

$$0 = g(a_1, \dots, a_m) = (\beta_\tau \alpha_{(1)} - \beta_{(1)} \alpha_\tau) e_{1,m_0} = (\beta_\tau - \lambda \alpha_\tau) \alpha_{(1)} e_{1,m_0},$$

which yields (4.14).

Case 2: p and q are both odd. In this case both e_p and e_q are idempotents. We reduce this case to the previous one by considering a shift on the sequence e, that is,

$$\tilde{e}_1 = e_{12}, \quad \tilde{e}_2 = e_{22}, \quad \tilde{e}_3 = e_{23}, \quad \dots, \quad \tilde{e}_m = \begin{cases} e_{m_0,m_0}, & m \text{ even} \\ e_{m_0,m_0+1}, & m \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$

Now it is enough to perform the evaluation at

$$a_{i} = \tilde{e}_{i}, \ i \in \{1, \dots, m\} \setminus \{p, q\},$$
$$a_{p} = \tilde{e}_{p} + \tilde{e}_{q},$$
$$a_{q} = \alpha_{(1)}\tilde{e}_{p} - \alpha_{\tau}\tilde{e}_{q}$$

and proceed as at the end of Case 1.

Case 3: p is odd and q is even. In this case e_p is an idempotent but e_q is not. The idea now is to consider a shift on the sequence from e_p on. This shift will turn the element in the q-th position into an idempotent. So an additional change will be needed in this element as well. Precisely we take

$$\tilde{e}_{1} = e_{11}, \quad \dots, \quad \tilde{e}_{p-1} = e_{\frac{p-1}{2}, \frac{p-1}{2}+1}, \quad \tilde{e}_{p} = e_{\frac{p+1}{2}, \frac{p+1}{2}+1}, \\
\tilde{e}_{p+1} = e_{\frac{p+1}{2}+1, \frac{p+1}{2}+1}, \quad \dots, \tilde{e}_{q-1} = e_{\frac{q}{2}, \frac{q}{2}+1}, \quad \tilde{e}_{q} = e_{\frac{q}{2}+1, \frac{q}{2}+2}, \\
\tilde{e}_{q+1} = e_{\frac{q}{2}+2, \frac{q}{2}+2}, \quad \dots, \quad \tilde{e}_{m} = \begin{cases} e_{m_{0}, m_{0}+1}, & m \text{ even} \\ e_{m_{0}+1, m_{0}+1}, & m \text{ odd} \end{cases}.$$

We consider the evaluation at

$$a_{i} = \tilde{e}_{i}, \ i \in \{1, \dots, m\} \setminus \{p, q\}$$
$$a_{p} = \tilde{e}_{p} + \tilde{e}_{q},$$
$$a_{q} = \alpha_{(1)}\tilde{e}_{p} - \alpha_{\tau}\tilde{e}_{q}$$

and once again we proceed as in the end of Case 1.

Case 4: p is even and q is odd. Here we have that e_p as a square-zero matrix and e_q is idempotent. We proceed similarly as in the previous case. The difference, however, is that no shift is needed at the beginning, just the change in the elements at the q-th position.

This completes the proof of our claim.

Let $[\sigma]$ denote the equivalence class of σ in $\operatorname{Supp}(f)/\sim$. Write $\lambda_{[\sigma]}$ for λ . Observe that (4.14) implies that

$$\beta_{\sigma'} = \lambda_{[\sigma]} \alpha_{\sigma'} \tag{4.15}$$

for all $\sigma' \in [\sigma]$.

In view of (4.13) and (4.15), we are left to prove that $\lambda_A = \lambda_B$ for all equivalence classes A, B in $\text{Supp}(f) / \sim$. Assume this is not true and consider a pair of permutations σ_1 and σ_2 such that

$$d(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \min_{\substack{\pi_1 \in A, \pi_2 \in B\\A, B \in \operatorname{Supp}(f)/\sim\\\lambda_A \neq \lambda_B}} d(\pi_1, \pi_2) =: \ell.$$
(4.16)

Let f_{ψ} denote the reindexing of f through the permutation ψ , i.e.,

$$f_{\psi} = \sum_{\sigma \in S_m} \alpha_{\sigma} x_{\psi \sigma(1)} \cdots x_{\psi \sigma(m)}$$

We claim that we may assume $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1}$ is the product of disjoint cycles

$$\sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1} = (s_1 \ s_1 - 1 \ \cdots \ 1) \cdots (s_h \ s_h - 1 \ \cdots \ s_{h-1} + 1)$$

Indeed, let us prove that the minimum ℓ in (4.16) is invariant under reindexing of the variables in both f and g, that is,

$$\ell = \min_{\substack{\pi_1 \in A, \pi_2 \in B \\ A, B \in \operatorname{Supp}(f_{\psi})/\sim \\ \lambda_A \neq \lambda_B}} d(\pi_1, \pi_2).$$
(4.17)

We first notice that $\operatorname{Supp}(f_{\psi}) = \psi \operatorname{Supp}(f)$. Denoting the equivalent classes in $\operatorname{Supp}(f_{\psi})/\sim \operatorname{by}[[\sigma]], \sigma \in \operatorname{Supp}(f_{\psi})$, one then can see that for each $\sigma \in \operatorname{Supp}(f_{\psi})$, there exists $\sigma' \in \operatorname{Supp}(f)$ such that

$$[[\sigma]] = \psi[\sigma'].$$

We also notice that for $\sigma = \psi \sigma'$ where $\sigma' \in \text{Supp}(f)$, we must have $\lambda_{[[\sigma]]} = \lambda_{[\sigma']}$. In fact,

$$\lambda_{[[\sigma]]} = \alpha_{\psi^{-1}\sigma}^{-1} \beta_{\psi^{-1}\sigma} = \alpha_{\sigma'}^{-1} \beta_{\sigma'} = \lambda_{[\sigma']}.$$

Hence we conclude that the sets in the equations (4.16) and (4.17) for which we take the minimum are actually the same, and we therefore conclude the equation (4.17).

Writing $\sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1}$ as a product of h disjoint cycles, and recalling that two permutations are conjugated if and only if they have the same cycle type, we therefore have the existence of $\psi \in S_m$ such that

$$\psi \sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1} \psi^{-1} = (s_1, s_1 - 1, \dots, 1) \cdots (s_h, s_h - 1, \dots, s_{h-1} + 1).$$

Hence, up to reindexing both f and g by ψ , we may assume

$$\sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1} = (s_1, s_1 - 1, \dots, 1) \cdots (s_h, s_h - 1, \dots, s_{h-1} + 1),$$

proving our claim.

Since disjoint cycles commute, we may also assume that the first p cycles are of even length and the remaining h - p are of odd length, where $0 \le p \le h$.

Setting $s_0 = 0$ and taking into account for instance [49], we have

$$\ell = s_h - h = \sum_{i=1}^h s_i - s_{i-1} - 1.$$

Finally, we also assume that $\sigma_1 = (1)$. Only minor adjustments in the proof are needed if σ_1 is an arbitrary permutation, which, however, makes the reading more difficult. Thus, from now one we will be dealing with the permutations (1) and

$$\sigma_2 = (s_1 \ s_1 - 1 \ \cdots \ 1) \cdots (s_h \ s_h - 1 \ \cdots \ s_{h-1} + 1).$$

We have $\lambda_{[(1)]} \neq \lambda_{[\sigma_2]}$.

In order to obtain a contradiction, our goal will be to construct a sequence $E \in M_n(F)^m$ such that

$$E_{(1)} = e_{1,m_0}, \quad E_{\sigma_2} = -\frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{1,m_0}, \quad E_{\sigma} = 0 \text{ for all } \sigma \in \text{Supp}(f) \setminus \{(1), \sigma_2\}.$$

This will imply

$$f(E) = \alpha_{(1)}e_{1,m_0} - \alpha_{\sigma_2}\frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}}e_{1,m_0} = 0,$$

hence

$$g(E) = \lambda_{[(1)]} \alpha_{(1)} e_{1,m_0} - \lambda_{[\sigma_2]} \alpha_{\sigma_2} \frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{1,m_0} = (\lambda_{[(1)]} - \lambda_{[\sigma_2]}) \alpha_{(1)} e_{1,m_0} = 0.$$

ans so $\lambda_{[(1)]} = \lambda_{[\sigma_2]}$, contrary to the assumption.

As the first step, we shall construct the sequence E in three particular cases. We will see at the end that the general case will follow from these three ones.

Case 1: p = h (all cycles are of even length).

By assumption, $s_i = 2q_i$, i = 1, ..., h. We introduce the sequence E in blocks as follows:

$$E = (E_1, \ldots, E_h, E_{h+1}),$$

- $E_1 = e_{11}, e_{12}, e_{22}, \dots, e_{q_1-1,q_1}, e_{q_1,q_1} + e_{q_1,q_1+1}, e_{q_1,q_1+1} + e_{11},$
- $E_2 = e_{q_1+1,q_1+1}, e_{q_1+1,q_1+2}, \dots, e_{q_2-1,q_2}, e_{q_2,q_2} + e_{q_2,q_2+1}, e_{q_2,q_2+1} + e_{q_1+1,q_1+1},$:

•
$$E_h = e_{q_{h-1}+1,q_{h-1}+1}, \dots, e_{q_h-1,q_h}, e_{q_h,q_h} + e_{q_h,q_h+1}$$

 $e_{q_h,q_h+1} - \frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{q_{h-1}+1,q_{h-1}+1},$

• $E_{h+1} = e_{q_h+1,q_h+1}, e_{q_h+1,q_h+2}, \dots, e_{m',m_0}.$

Here $m' = m_0$ if m is odd and $m' = m_0 - 1$ otherwise (recall that m_0 is defined at the beginning of the proof).

One can easily see that the non-zero products of matrices in E are only obtained by joining the non-zero evaluations of each block, in the increasing order of the blocks.

For i = 1, 2, ..., h, define the following sets of permutations:

$$R_i = \{(1), (s_i \cdots s_{i-1} + 3 \ s_{i-1} + 2), (s_i \cdots s_{i-1} + 2 \ s_{i-1} + 1)\}.$$

Then we get

$$E_{\sigma} = \begin{cases} e_{1,m_{0}} & \text{if } \sigma = (1) \\ -\frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_{2}}} e_{1,m_{0}} & \text{if } \sigma = \sigma_{2} \\ \mu_{\sigma} e_{1,m_{0}} & \text{if } \sigma = \pi_{1} \cdots \pi_{h}, \ \pi_{i} \in R_{i}, \ \sigma \notin \{(1), \sigma_{2}\} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

where $\mu_{\sigma} \in F$.

In order to complete the proof of this case we are left to show that actually the permutations η of the third item of E_{σ} giving a non-zero evaluation are not elements of Supp(f). To this end let us prove the following facts.

• $d(\eta, (1)) < \ell$.

This follows from a direct comparison between η and σ_2 . Indeed, let $\eta = \pi_1 \cdots \pi_h$, $\pi_i \in R_i$. Since $\eta \neq \sigma_2$, we have that at least one of the π_i 's is not equal to $(s_i \cdots s_{i-1} + 2 \ s_{i-1} + 1)$. Hence we have a fewer number of transpositions in the decomposition of η than in that of σ_2 . As a consequence we obtain $d(\eta, (1)) < \ell$, as desired.

• $d(\eta, \sigma_2) < \ell$.

As before let $\eta = \pi_1 \cdots \pi_h$, $\pi_i \in R_i$. Since $\eta \neq (1)$, we have that at least one of the π_i 's is not equal to (1). Now consider $\sigma_2 \eta^{-1}$. If η involves a cycle of the form $(s_i \ldots s_{i-1} + 2 \ s_{i-1} + 1)$, then the elements from the set $\{s_i, \ldots, s_{i-1} + 2, s_{i-1} + 1\}$ are fixed in $\sigma_2 \eta^{-1}$. The outcome of this is that, with respect to the *i*-th block, we have fewer transpositions in $\sigma_2 \eta^{-1}$ than in σ_2 and we are done in this case. The other possibility is that a cycle of the form $(s_i \cdots s_{i-1} + 3 \ s_{i-1} + 2)$ occurs in η . In this case, in the *i*-th block of $\sigma_2 \eta^{-1}$ only the transposition $(s_{i-1} + 1 \ s_i)$ appears. Since $1 < 3 \leq s_i - s_{i-1} - 1$, we reach the desired conclusion $d(\eta, \sigma_2) < \ell$. According to the above two facts we can complete the proof of this case. If $\lambda_{[\eta]} \neq \lambda_{[(1)]}$, we immediately get a contradiction to the minimality of ℓ since we have proved that $d(\eta, (1)) < \ell$. So assume that $\lambda_{[\eta]} = \lambda_{[(1)]}$. Since by hypothesis $\lambda_{[\sigma_2]} \neq \lambda_{[(1)]}$, we obtain that $\lambda_{[\eta]} \neq \lambda_{[\sigma_2]}$. Again we get a contradiction to the minimality of ℓ since we have proved that $d(\eta, \sigma_2) < \ell$.

Case 2: h = 1 and $s_1 = 2q + 1$ is odd.

Consider the sequence $E = (E_1, E_2)$ given in two blocks as follows:

•
$$E_1 = e_{11}, e_{12}, e_{22}, \dots, e_{q,q+1}, e_{q+1,q+1} - \frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{11},$$

• $E_2 = e_{q+1,q+2}, e_{q+2,q+3}, \dots, e_{m',m_0}.$

It is not difficult to see that

$$E_{\sigma} = \begin{cases} e_{1,m_0}, & \text{if } \sigma = (1) \\ -\frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{1,m_0}, & \text{if } \sigma \in \{\sigma_2, (s_1 \cdots 3 \ 2)\} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The proof of this case is complete since it is sufficient to observe that $(s_1 \cdots 3 2) \notin \text{Supp}(f)$.

Case 3: h = 2, p = 0 (2 odd cycles).

In this case we have that $s_1 = 2q_1 + 1$ and $s_2 = 2q_2$.

Consider the sequence $E = (E_1, E_2)$ given in two blocks as follows:

- $E_1 = e_{11}, e_{12}, e_{22}, \dots, e_{q_1,q_1+1}, e_{q_1+1,q_1+1} + e_{11}, e_{q_1+1,q_1+2}, e_{q_1+2,q_1+2}, \dots, e_{q_2-1,q_2}, e_{q_2,q_2} + e_{q_2,q_2+1}, e_{q_2,q_2+1} \frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{q_1+1,q_1+1},$
- $E_2 = e_{q_2+1,q_2+1}, e_{q_2+1,q_2+2}, \dots, e_{m',m_0}.$

Define the following two sets of permutations:

$$R_1 = \{(1), (s_1 \cdots 3 \ 2), (s_1 \cdots 2 \ 1)\},\$$

$$R_2 = \{(1), (s_2 \cdots s_1 + 2 \ s_1 + 1)\}.$$

One can directly see that

$$E_{\sigma} = \begin{cases} e_{1,m_{0}}, & \text{if } \sigma = (1) \\ -\frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_{2}}} e_{1,m_{0}}, & \text{if } \sigma = \sigma_{2} \\ \mu_{\sigma} e_{1,m_{0}}, & \text{if } \sigma = \pi_{1}\pi_{2}, \ \pi_{i} \in R_{i}, \ \sigma \notin \{(1), \sigma_{2}\} \text{ or } \sigma = (s_{2} \cdots s_{1}) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

where $\mu_{\sigma} \in F$.

Let η be a permutation of the third item of E_{σ} giving a non-zero evaluation. In order to complete the proof of this case we need to show that $\eta \notin \text{Supp}(f)$. Assume first that $\eta = \pi_1 \pi_2$, where π_i 's are permutations from R_i . In this case we are in the situation of Case 1 and, proceeding in a similar manner, we arrive at the desired conclusion. Now suppose that $\eta = (s_2 \cdots s_1 + 1 \ s_1)$. In this case we obtain that

$$\sigma_2 \eta^{-1} = (s_1 \ s_2 \ s_1 - 1 \ s_1 - 2 \ \cdots \ s_0 + 2 \ s_0 + 1),$$

which decomposes into $s_1 - s_0$ transpositions. Since $s_2 - s_1 - 1 \ge 2$ (otherwise we would have a cycle of length 1 in σ_2 and we could just ignore it), we get

$$s_1 - s_0 < s_1 - s_0 + s_2 - s_1 - 2 = (s_1 - s_0 - 1) + (s_2 - s_1 - 1) = \ell$$

This shows that $d(\sigma_2, \eta) < \ell$. Analogously we have that $d((1), \eta) < \ell$. In fact $(s_2 \cdots s_1 + 1 \ s_1)$ decomposes into $s_2 - s_1$ transpositions, which is less than $(s_1 - s_0 - 1) + (s_2 - s_1 - 1)$. Using the same approach at the end of Case 1, we get the desired conclusion also in this case.

In order to complete the proof of the theorem we are left to analyze the general situation. Recall that

$$\sigma_2 = (s_1 \, s_1 - 1 \, \cdots \, 1) \cdots (s_h \, s_h - 1 \, \cdots \, s_{h-1} + 1),$$

where the first p cycles are of even length $(s_i = 2q_i)$ and the remaining h - p are of odd length, $p \in \{0, 1, ..., h\}$. Note that h - p > 0, otherwise we are in Case 1.

Now distinguish two situations: h - p odd or h - p even.

Suppose first that h - p = 2k + 1 is odd. In this case we construct the sequence $E = (G_1, \ldots, G_p, G'_1, \ldots, G'_k, G'_{k+1})$ in blocks as follows:

• for the blocks G_i , i = 1, ..., p, we use the idea of Case 1. More precisely we put

$$G_{i} = e_{q_{i-1}+1,q_{i-1}+1}, e_{q_{i-1}+1,q_{i-1}+2}, e_{q_{i-1}+2,q_{i-1}+2}, \dots, e_{q_{i}-1,q_{i}},$$
$$e_{q_{i},q_{i}} + e_{q_{i},q_{i}+1}, e_{q_{i},q_{i}+1} + e_{q_{i-1}+1,q_{i-1}+1},$$

where we assume that $q_0 = 0$;

• for the blocks G'_j , j = 1, ..., k, we mimic the first block of matrices (called E_1) given in Case 3, more precisely

$$G'_{j} = e_{q_{j-1+p}+1,q_{j-1+p}+1}, e_{q_{j-1+p}+1,q_{j-1+p}+2}, \dots, e_{q_{j+p},q_{j+p}+1},$$

$$e_{q_{j+p}+1,q_{j+p}+1} + e_{q_{j-1+p}+1,q_{j-1+p}+1}, e_{q_{j+p}+1,q_{j+p}+2},$$

$$e_{q_{j+p}+2,q_{j+p}+2}, \dots, e_{q_{j+p+1}-1,q_{j+p+1}},$$

$$e_{q_{j+p+1},q_{j+p+1}} + e_{q_{j+p+1},q_{j+p+1}+1}, e_{q_{j+p+1},q_{j+p+1}+1} + e_{q_{j+p}+1,q_{j+p}+1};$$
• the block G'_{k+1} is constructed as in Case 2:

$$G'_{k+1} = e_{q_{p+k+1}+1,q_{p+k+1}+1}, e_{q_{p+k+1}+1,q_{p+k+1}+2}, \dots, e_{q_{p+k+2},q_{p+k+2}+1}, \\ e_{q_{p+k+2}+1,q_{p+k+2}+1} - \frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{q_{p+k+1}+1,q_{p+k+1}+1}, \\ e_{q_{p+k+2}+1,q_{p+k+2}+2}, e_{q_{p+k+2}+2,q_{p+k+2}+2}, \dots, e_{m',m_0}.$$

Now assume that h - p = 2k is even. In this case we do not have the last block G'_{k+1} . All the other ones are constructed as in the previous case, except for the last one G'_k , which becomes:

$$\begin{aligned} G'_{k} &= e_{q_{k-1+p}+1,q_{k-1+p}+1}, e_{q_{k-1+p}+1,q_{k-1+p}+2}, \dots, e_{q_{k+p},q_{k+p}+1}, \\ &e_{q_{k+p}+1,q_{k+p}+1} + e_{q_{k-1+p}+1,q_{k-1+p}+1}, e_{q_{k+p}+1,q_{k+p}+2}, \\ &e_{q_{k+p}+2,q_{k+p}+2}, \dots, e_{q_{k+p+1}-1,q_{k+p+1}}, \\ &e_{q_{k+p+1},q_{k+p+1}} + e_{q_{k+p+1},q_{k+p+1}+1}, e_{q_{k+p+1},q_{k+p+1}+1} - \frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_{2}}} e_{q_{k+p}+1,q_{k+p}+1}, \\ &e_{q_{k+p+1}+1,q_{k+p+1}+1}, e_{q_{k+p+1}+1,q_{k+p+1}+2}, \dots, e_{m',m_{0}}. \end{aligned}$$

In both cases, we get that the sequence E is such that

$$E_{(1)} = e_{1,m_0}, \quad E_{\sigma_2} = -\frac{\alpha_{(1)}}{\alpha_{\sigma_2}} e_{1,m_0}, \quad E_{\sigma} = 0 \text{ for all } \sigma \in \text{Supp}(f) \setminus \{(1), \sigma_2\}.$$

In fact, each permutation $\eta \notin \{(1), \sigma_2\}$, giving a non-zero evaluation of the matrices in the sequence E, does not belong to Supp(f). Indeed, in computing $d(\eta, (1))$ and $d(\eta, \sigma_2)$, we always have a sum

$$l_1 + \cdots + l_h$$

where, for each $i, l_i \leq s_i - s_{i-1} - 1$ or $l_{i+1} + l_i \leq (s_{i+1} - s_i - 1) + (s_i - s_{i-1} - 1)$, and for at least one i we have that the inequality is strict.

Bibliography

- ALAMINOS, J., BREŠAR, M., EXTREMERA, J., AND VILLENA, A. Characterizing homomorphisms and derivations on C*-algebras. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh Section A 137 (2007), 1–7.
- [2] ALBERT, A., AND MUCKENHOUPT, B. On matrices of trace zero. Michigan Mathematical Journal 4 (1957), 1–3.
- [3] AMITSUR, S. Nil PI-rings. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 2, 4 (1951), 538–540.
- [4] AMITSUR, S. A generalization of Hilbert's Nullstellensatz. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 8 (1957), 649–656.
- [5] AMITSUR, S., AND ROWEN, L. Elements of reduced trace 0. Israel Journal of Mathematics 87 (1994), 161–179.
- [6] AN, G., LI, J., AND HE, J. Zero Jordan Product Determined Algebras. *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 475 (2015), 90–93.
- [7] BAHTURIN, Y., GIAMBRUNO, A., AND RILEY, D. Group-graded algebras with polynomial identities. *Israel Journal of Mathematics* 104 (1998), 1445–155.
- [8] BAJUK, Ž., BREŠAR, M., FAGUNDES, P., AND IOPPOLO, A. f-zpd algebras and multilinear Nullstellensatz. arXiv:2310.15038 (2023), 29 pages.
- [9] BEIDAR, K., AND MIKHALEV, A. Generalized Polynomial Identities and rings which are sums of two subrings. *Algebra and Logic* 34, 1 (1995), 1–5.
- [10] BELOV, A., BOKUT, L., ROWEN, L., AND YU, J. The Jacobian Conjecture, together with Specht and Burnside-Type Problems. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics, Switzerland, 2014.
- [11] BERGEN, J., AND COHEN, M. Actions of commutative Hopf algebras. Bulletin of London Mathematical Society 18 (1986), 159–164.
- [12] BREŠAR, M. Introduction to noncommutative algebra. Springer, Switzerland, 2014.
- [13] BREŠAR, M. Zero Product Determined Algebras. Birkhäuser/Springer, Switzerland, 2021.
- [14] BREŠAR, M. Finite dimensional zero product determined algebras are generated by idempotents. *Expositiones Mathematicae* 34 (2016), 130–143.

- [15] BREŠAR, M., AND ŠEMRL, P. On bilinear maps on matrices with applications to commutativity preservers. *Journal of Algebra 301* (2006), 803–837.
- [16] BUZINSKI, D., AND WINSTANLEY, R. On multilinear polynomials in four variables evaluated on matrices. *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 439 (2013), 2712–2719.
- [17] CENTRONE, L., AND DE MELLO, T. Images of graded polynomials on matrix algebras. *Journal of Algebra 614* (2023), 650–669.
- [18] DEHN, M. Über die Grundlagen der projektiven Geometrie und allgemeine Zahlsysteme (German). Mathematische Annalen 85 (1922), 184–194.
- [19] DI VINCENZO, O. M., KOSHLUKOV, P., AND LA SCALA, R. Involutions for upper triangular matrices. Advances in Applied Mathematics 37, 4 (2006), 541–568.
- [20] DI VINCENZO, O. M., KOSHLUKOV, P., AND VALENTI, A. Gradings on the algebra of upper triangular matrices and their graded identities. *Journal of Algebra 275*, 2 (2004), 550–566.
- [21] DRENSKY, V. Free algebras and PI-algebras: graduate course in algebra. Springer, Singapore, 2000.
- [22] DYKEMA, K., AND KLEP, I. Instances of the Kalpansky-Lvov multilinear conjecture for polynomials of degree three. *Linear Algebra and its Applications 508* (2016), 272–288.
- [23] FAGUNDES, P. The images of multilinear polynomials on strictly upper triangular matrices. *Linear Algebra and its Applications 563* (2019), 287–301.
- [24] FAGUNDES, P. Values of multilinear graded *-polynomials on upper triangular matrices of small dimension. Accepted in Journal of Algebra (2024), 15 pages.
- [25] FAGUNDES, P., AND DE MELLO. Images of multilinear polynomials of degree up to four on upper triangular matrices. Operators and Matrices 13, 1 (2019), 283–292.
- [26] FAGUNDES, P., DE MELLO, T., AND DOS SANTOS, P. On the Mesyan conjecture. Turkish Journal of Mathematics 46 (2022), 1794–1808.
- [27] FAGUNDES, P., AND KOSHLUKOV, P. Images of multilinear graded polynomials on upper triangular matrix algebras. *Canadian Journal of Mathematics* 75, 5 (2023), 1540–1565.
- [28] FAGUNDES, P., AND KOSHLUKOV, P. On sums of gr-PI algebras. Linear Algebra and its Applications 677 (2023), 200–220.

- [29] FIDELIS, C., GONÇALVES, D., DINIZ, D., AND YASUMURA, F. Graded involutions on block-triangular matrix algebras. *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 585 (2020), 24–44.
- [30] FILIPPOV, V., KHARCHENKO, V., AND SHESTAKOV, I. Dniester Notebook: Unsolved problems in the theory of rings and modules. In: Non-associative algebra and its applications. Chapman & Hall/CRC, London, 2006.
- [31] GARGATE, I., AND DE MELLO, T. Images of multilinear polynomials on $n \times n$ upper triangular matrices over infinite fields. *Israel Journal of Mathematics 252* (2022), 337–354.
- [32] GARGATE, I., AND DE MELLO, T. A new approach to the Lvov-Kaplansky conjecture through gradings. *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 674 (2023), 453–465.
- [33] GIAMBRUNO, A., AND ZAICEV, M. Central polynomials and growth functions. Israel Journal of Mathematics 226 (2018), 15–28.
- [34] GONÇALVES, D., AND SALOMÃO, M. Graded polynomial identities for the Jordan algebra of 2 × 2 upper triangular matrices. Accepted in Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra (2023).
- [35] GONÇALVES, D., AND URURE, R. Identities with involution for 2×2 upper triangular matrices algebra over a finite field. *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 544, 1 (2018), 223–253.
- [36] HERSTEIN, I. Topics in Ring Theory. The University of Chicago Press, 1969.
- [37] JACOBSON, N. Structure and Representations of Jordan Algebras. American Mathematical Society, Colloquium publications, volume 39, Providence, RI, 1968.
- [38] KANEL-BELOV, A., MALEV, S., AND ROWEN, L. The images of non-commutative polynomials evaluated on 2 × 2 matrices. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 140, 2 (2012), 465–478.
- [39] KANEL-BELOV, A., MALEV, S., AND ROWEN, L. The images of multilinear polynomials evaluated on 3 × 3 matrices. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 144, 1 (2016), 7–19.
- [40] KANEL-BELOV, A., MALEV, S., AND ROWEN, L. The images of Lie polynomials evaluated on matrices. *Communications in Algebra* 45, 11 (2017), 4801–4908.
- [41] KĘPCZYK, M. A ring which is a sum of two PI subrings is always a PI ring. Israel Journal of Mathematics 221, 1 (2016), 481–487.

- [42] KĘPCZYK, M. Rings which are sums of PI subrings. Journal of Algebra and its Applications 19, 8 (2020), Article ID 2050157 (12 pages).
- [43] KĘPCZYK, M., AND PUCZYLOWSKI, E. Rings which are sums of two subrings satisfying polynomial identities. *Communications in Algebra 29*, 5 (2001), 2059–2065.
- [44] KEGEL, O. Zur Nilpotenz Gewisser Associativer Ringe. Mathematische Annalen 149 (1963), 258–260.
- [45] KHURANA, D., AND LAM, T. Generalized commutators in matrix rings. Linear and Multilinear Algebra 60 (2012), 797–827.
- [46] KOSHLUKOV, P., AND YASUMURA, F. Group gradings on the Jordan algebra of upper triangular matrices. *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 534 (2017), 1–12.
- [47] KULYAMIN, V. Images of graded polynomials in matrix rings over finite group algebras. Russian Mathematical Surveys 44, 2 (2000), 345–346.
- [48] LUO, Y., AND WANG, Y. On Fagundes-Mello conjecture. Journal of Algebra 592 (2022), 118–152.
- [49] MACKIW, G. Permutations as products of transpositions. The American Mathematical Monthly 102 (1995), 438–440.
- [50] MALEV, S. The images of non-commutative polynomials evaluated on 2 × 2 matrices over an arbitrary field. *Journal of Algebra and its Applications 13*, 6 (2014), Article ID 450004, 12 pages.
- [51] MALEV, S., YAVICH, R., AND SHAYER, R. Evaluations of multilinear polynomials on low rank Jordan algebras. *Communications in Algebra 50*, 7 (2022), 2840–2845.
- [52] MESYAN, Z. Polynomials of small degree evaluated on matrices. *Linear and Multilinear Algebra 61*, 11 (2013), 1487–1495.
- [53] REGEV, A. Existence of identities in $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}$. Israel Journal of Mathematics 11 (1972), 131–152.
- [54] REGEV, A. The representations of S_n and explicit identities for PI algebras. Journal of Algebra 51 (1978), 25–40.
- [55] ROWEN, L. Polynomial Identities in Ring Theory. Academic Press, 1980.
- [56] SHODA, K. Einige Sätze Über Matrizen. Japanese Journal of Mathematics 13 (1937), 361–365.
- [57] SLINKO, A. Special varieties of Jordan algebras. Mathematical Notes 26 (1980), 661–665.

- [58] SZÉP, J. Über eine neue Erweiterung von Ringen i. Acta Scientiarum Mathematicarum Szeged 19 (1958), 51–62.
- [59] SZÉP, J. Über eine neue Erweiterung von Ringen ii. Acta Scientiarum Mathematicarum Szeged 20 (1959), 202–214.
- [60] URURE, R., AND FRANCA, W. Lie identities and images of Lie polynomials for the skew-symmetric elements of UT_m. Linear and Multilinear Algebra 70, 19 (2020), 3643–3659.
- [61] URURE, R., AND FRANCA, W. Lvov-Kaplansky conjecture on UT_m^+ with the transpose involution. Operators and Matrices 15, 1 (2021), 175–193.
- [62] VALENTI, A., AND ZAICEV, M. Group gradings on upper triangular matrices. Archiv der Mathematik 89 (2007), 33–40.
- [63] VITAS, D. Multilinear polynomials are surjective on algebras with surjective inner derivations. Journal of Algebra 565 (2021), 255–281.
- [64] Š ŠPENKO. On the image of a noncommutative polynomial. Journal of Algebra 377 (2013), 298–311.
- [65] WAGNER, W. Über die Grundlagen der projektiven Geometrie und allgemeine Zahlensysteme (German). *Mathematische Annalen 113* (1936), 528–567.